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HEADQUARTERS AND PRINCIPAL PLACE OF
BUSINESS IN THE PRC

Floor 36 & 37, Block A, Puxiang Center
Hongtai East Street

Dawangjing Technology Business Park
Chaoyang District, Beijing

PRC

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG KONG

14/F, Golden Centre
188 Des Voeux Road Central
Hong Kong

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR

Maples Fund Services (Cayman) Limited
PO Box 1093

Boundary Hall

Cricket Square

Grand Cayman KY1-1102

Cayman Islands

HONG KONG SHARE REGISTRAR

Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited
Shops 1712-1716

17th Floor Hopewell Centre

183 Queen's Road East

Wanchai

Hong Kong

COMPLIANCE ADVISER

Guotai Junan Capital Limited
27/F, Low Block, Grand Millennium Plaza
181 Queen’s Road Central

Hong Kong
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CORPORATE INFORMATION
DEEHR

PRINCIPAL BANKS

Industrial and Commercial Bank of China Limited

(Zhu Shi Kou Branch)
No.15, East Street, Zhushikou
Chongwen District, Beijing

Bank of Communications Co., Ltd.
(Wang Jing Branch)

Wangjing International Commerce Center

No. 9, Wangjing Street, Chaoyang District, Beijing

China Minsheng Banking Corp., Ltd.
(Wang Jing Branch)
Botai International, Block B, Building 122

District 1, Nanhu East Part, Guangshun North Street

Chaoyang District, Beijing

COMPANY WEBSITE

www.popmart.com

LEGAL ADVISERS

As to Hong Kong laws

Davis Polk & Wardwell

18th Floor, The Hong Kong Club Building
3A Chater Road

Central

Hong Kong

As to PRC law
Jingtian & Gongcheng
45/F, K. Wah Centre
1010 Huaihai Road (M)
Xuhui District
Shanghai 200031

PRC

As to Cayman Islands laws
Maples and Calder (Hong Kong) LLP
26th Floor, Central Plaza

18 Harbour Road

Wanchai, Hong Kong
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AUDITOR

PricewaterhouseCoopers

Certified Public Accountants

Registered Public Interest Entity Auditor
22/F, Prince’s Building

Central, Hong Kong
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

B E

CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

FHAFEZERER

For the year ended 31 December

HZ12A31BLEE

2020 2019 2018 2017
20204 20194 2018%F 20174
RMB’ 000 RMB' 000 RMB' 000 RMB' 000
ARBT T AREEFTT AREFT AREFT
Revenue W 5 2,513,471 1,683,434 514,511 158,074
Gross profit EF 1,594,108 1,090,334 298,025 75,254
Operating profit £ m Al 718,783 598,794 133,614 4379
Profit before income tax B P15 15 Al s A 707,403 598,375 132,260 2,273
Profit for the year F R A 523,312 451,118 99,521 1,569
Profit attributable to equity RA A=A AT
owners of the Company 523,505 451,118 99,521 1,569
Profit after extraordinary items  F13E& )% 590,506 469,123 100,303 1,671
Gross profit margin EF=E 63.4% 64.8% 57.9% 47.6%
Net profit margin e 20.8% 26.8% 19.3% 1.0%
Net profit margin after EIEIRE SR
extraordinary items 23.5% 27.9% 19.5% 1.1%

Note:  No financial information for the year ended 31 December 2016 has been

published.
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

MBHE
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF fHEALGESMBARREK
FINANCIAL POSITION
For the year ended 31 December
HBZE12A31BLLEE
2020 2019 2018 2017
20204 20194F 20184F 20174F
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000 RMB' 000
AR¥ET T ARBETF T ARBT T ARETF T
Total current assets BRBEE 6,255,900 716,601 254,997 65,801
Total non-current assets BIERBEE 715,399 349,880 147,798 76,478
Total assets WEE 6,971,299 1,066,481 402,795 142,279
Total current liabilities wREEE 665,313 381,570 144,874 44,019
Total non-current liabilities BIERBEE 174,984 92,130 39,091 19,436
Total liabilities wasE 840,297 473,700 183,965 63,455
Equity attributable to equity RAEE=EFA AEGER
owners of the Company 6,129,374 592,781 218,830 78,824
Non-controlling interests in FEPERR R
equity 1,628
Total equity wmER 6,131,002 592,781 218,830 78,824
Total equity and liabilities BEZREE 6,971,299 1,066,481 402,795 142,279
Note:  No financial information for the year ended 31 December 2016 has been M WETIEHE2016F12A831BIEFENTBE
published. Bk e
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
ESRIYH

Dear Shareholders and Investors:

It is with great pleasure and honor that herein | am exchanging thoughts
with you as the Chairman of the Board of Directors of a listed company
for the first time. Thank you for your trust, support and assistance to us

throughout our journey.

The past year 2020 was a special year from a historical perspective. The
outbreak of the Corona Virus Disease 2019 (‘COVID-19") pandemic gave rise
to tremendous changes in people’s lifestyles, and put the entire retail industry
under unprecedented challenges. Our retail stores and supply chains were
also correspondingly put to test. Nevertheless, through the efforts of all Pop
Mart staff, we still thrived to deliver excellent performance growth in such a
severe situation. The total revenue for the year of 2020 amounted to RMB2.51
billion, representing a year-on-year increase of 49.3%, and the adjusted net
profit reached RMB590 million. The challenges and opportunities presented
by the pandemic prompted us to make sufficient progress in online
commercial operations, supply chain flexibility, and member digitalization

integration.

2020 was also a year in which Pop Mart International Group Limited (the
“Company”’ or "Pop Mart") marked its 10th anniversary, a significant
milestone to be celebrated. In the past decade of our business career, we
upheld the concept of “respect time and respect the process of operations”
and have been diligent and vigilant every day to provide the public with
companionship and quality experience, and made a positive and solid
contribution to the pop culture industry. At present, we have deployed a
globalized business blueprint with a multi-level and multi-field business
system. We have reached nearly 200 stores and over 1,000 Roboshops around
the world, attracting more than 7.4 million registered members to share the
perception of pop culture. We pay close attention to the quality and effect
of our services, and aspire to spread happiness worldwide. Meanwhile, we
continue to concentrate on improving product quality, optimizing supply
chain production capacity, and strengthening channel management, for
the sole purpose of presenting a more satisfactory profile in front of our

consumers.

POP MART
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As an integrated platform covering the entire industry chain of pop toys,
Pop Mart's characteristics and advantages have become more distinct
with the expansion of our business. We have accumulated and gathered
numerous globally recognized artists and IP figures, which are our most
treasured asset. From the process of developing and cultivating artists,
engaging IP operations, to the final stage of realizing IP commercialization,
we have established a complete incubation system and strived to serve
as an exemplary model for the “pop toying” of IPs. While extending the
scope of contracted IP and proprietary IP reserves, Pop Mart also maintains
close cooperative relationships with various internationally-renowned
IP enterprises, such as Disney, Universal Pictures, Sanrio, etc., and will
continue to initiate more exciting projects in the future. On the basis of IP
diversification, we will further explore more innovative categories of pop toys
on both the horizontal and vertical dimensions. Plenty of upcoming surprises

from Pop Mart await pop toy lovers.

The initial public offering has brought us more market attention, which also
signifies more social responsibilities to be taken on and pathways to be
explored. In the fields of culture and IP, we hope to continue to expand the
possibility of upstream and downstream commercial value, to upgrade and
integrate resources from the perspective of IP content. At the same time, we
will fully cherish the attention received to attract more outstanding talents,
to lay a solid foundation for our long-term development, and to build an
enterprise that guides the aesthetic trend in China, or even the world, with

strong vitality and long-lasting influence.

Our minds are set with great ambitions. In the future, Pop Mart will display a
promising prospect with greater scope of businesses, and engineer a better
world through unremitting efforts to offer more high-quality products and
superior service experience to consumers. In times of an vibrant Chinese pop
toy market and a rapidly growing global pop toy market, we hope to seize
the opportunities of such golden age, focusing on a far-reaching corporate
development plan, and realizing the business we are strongly passionate
about under a mature and comprehensive business model. Upon listing, we
will adhere to our business philosophy as always. Carrying the expectations
and trust of consumers, shareholders, employees and business partners, we

forge ahead with the goal of strong and sustainable growth.

Wang Ning

Chairman of the Board
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BERNWEDTN

BUSINESS REVIEW

As a pioneer and key promoter of pop toy culture in China, we sold over
50 million pop toy products in 2020. We strategically focus on the further
development of our pop toy business to consistently implement our long-
term established strategy and development direction. During the year, we
remained to regard artists development, IP operation, consumer access and

pop toy culture promotion as our major business focus.

Artists Development and IP Operation

IP operation as well as creation and design are essential to our products,
which is the key driver for the development of Pop Mart. We continuously
enrich our types of IP and launch products of diversified styles to meet the
demands of different customers. During the year, the proportion of revenue
from our top IPs was more balanced, and maintained a strong growth. As at
the end of 2020, the sales of “one day of MOLLY" series, which were launched
in August 2020, had exceeded RMB100 million. We continuously signed
contracts with designers to launch new IP product series. For example,
SKULLPANDA products were very popular among their fans immediately
after their launch. On the first day of the launch of our Ancient Castle series,
276,000 products were sold. PDC (Pop Design Center), our in-house design
team, also launched many popular IPs, such as the Sweet Bean series. In 2020,
revenue from original IPs of PDC had exceeded RMB100 million. We are not
only committed to the incubation of artist IPs but also cooperate with global
well-known top IPs to launch product series, such as the Harry Potter product
series and the Naruto product series. In 2020, we tried to launch an IP based
on a real person for the first time. We launched the Choumate product series,

which was well supported by the fans.

POP MART
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Consumer Access

Offline channels

In 2020, we opened 76 new physical stores in Mainland China. The
number of physical stores increased from 114 as at the end of 2019 to
187" as at the end of 2020. Our first overseas store was opened at an
international trade center located in Gangnam-gu, Seoul, South Korea
on 5 September 2020, and became popular among local pop toy lovers.
This also marked the successful introduction of our brand in overseas
market for the first time, thus gaining more fans for Pop Mart brands.
In 2020, we opened 526 roboshops in Mainland China. The number of
roboshops increased from 825 as at the end of 2019 to 1,351 as at the
end of 2020.

Online channels

During Tmall Singles Day?, we recorded total sales® of more than RMB142
million, which ranked first among toy stores at Tmall and became the
first brand flagship store in Tmall toy sector listed in the Club for Stores
Breaking RMB100 Million Record on Tmall Singles Day. Pop Draw is a
mini program independently invented and developed by us on WeChat
platform, aiming to create fun and interesting shopping experience. In
2020, revenue amounted to RMB466 million, representing an increase of
72.0% from 2019.

Member operation

By continuous channel expansion and IPs portfolio enhancement,
through omni-channel member operation, the scale of user digitalization
grew rapidly. As of 31 December 2020, the total number of registered
members increased from 2.20 million as at the end of 2019 to 7.40
million. Among which, there were 5.20 million new registered members.
The percentage of sales contributed by our members increase from
78.9% as at the end of 2019 to 88.8% as at the end of 2020, representing

an increase of 9.9%.

In 2020, due to the expiration of the lease and other commercial reasons, we
closed 3 stores

1 November, — 11 November 2020
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEH WD

Pop Toy Culture Promotion

Due to the COVID-19 pandemic, we only held the Shanghai Toy Show in
2020. The total area of the exhibition hall was nearly 20,000 square meters,
attracting 500 designers and more than 300 pop toy brands to participate in

the toy show. Once again, the number of visitors had exceeded 100,000.

By organizing industry forum, Pop Mart has been increasing its influence in
pop toy industry. On 7 November 2020, we hosted the first pop toy industry
forum in China. The White Paper on the Development Trend of Pop Toy
Industry KERRITEITEERBZ HKE E)) was published at the forum, and

was widely concerned by industry peers and other industries.

To better promote the pop toy culture to the fans, Pop Mart published the
first issue of our internal magazine "PLAYGROUND" for our privilege members
in November 2020. We promoted the Pop Mart brand culture and pop

culture trend through magazine in a formal and scarcity form.

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue

Revenue of the Company increased from RMB1,683.4 million in 2019 to

RMB2,513.5 million in 2020, representing a year-on-year increase of 49.3%.

POP MART
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Revenue by channels

Our revenue is generated from: 1. retail stores; 2. roboshops; 3. online
channels, including our Tmall flagship store, Pop Draw and other
mainstream e-commerce platforms in China; and 4. wholesale channels
and others, including distributors and bulk purchase corporate

customers, as well as pop toy conventions.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEERWRS T

RIBREE D WA

HPOBARE - 1.Z26/E 2 HBAHN
JE 3R ERE - BEREEEE 88
ERIFEMPEIRER R4 gtERE
REM  BELHEBIMERBHOARAR
B LRI ARS o

For the year ended 31 December 2020 For the year ended 31 December 2019
BZ20205 128318 5E HZ2019F12831BEE
Gross Gross
profit  Proportion profit  Proportion
Revenue margin  of revenue Revenue margin  of revenue
KA ERE WAk WA ERE RAEL
(RMB’000) (RMB'000)
(AR%Tn) (AREFT)
Retail stores TEE 1,002,054 62.0% 39.9% 739,690 65.6% 43.9%
Online channels BERE 951,875 66.4% 37.9% 539,201 68.9% 32.0%
Roboshops WBEAEE 328,679 72.3% 13.1% 248,554 70.7% 14.8%
Wholesales and others HEREM 230,863 44.7% 9.1% 155,989 36.7% 9.3%
- Mainland China — RERE 156,691 42.8% 6.1% 129,099 32.9% 7.7%
- Outside Mainland China — REIRESD 74,172 48.8% 3.0% 26,890 55.1% 1.6%
Total ait 2,513,471 63.4% 100.0% 1,683,434 64.8% 100.0%

Revenue from retail store sales increased by 35.5% from RMB739.7
million in 2019 to RMB1,002.1 million in 2020, primarily due to the
addition of 76 new retail stores in 2020. Revenue from online sales
increased by 76.5% from RMB539.2 million in 2019 to RMB951.9 million
in 2020, primarily due to the increase in sales of Tmall store and Pop
Draw, as well as the addition of new online channels including JD.com.
Revenue from roboshop sales increased by 32.2% from RMB248.6 million
in 2019 to RMB328.7 million in 2020, primarily due to the addition of
526 roboshops in 2020. Revenue from wholesales and others increased
by 48.0% from RMB156.0 million in 2019 to RMB230.9 million in 2020,
in particular, (1) revenue from wholesales and others in Mainland China
increased from RMB129.1 million in 2019 to RMB156.7 million in 2020,
primarily due to the increase in revenue generated from our distributor
Nanjing Golden Eagle Pop Mart Trading Co., Ltd., which accounted for
62.5% of total revenue generated from distributors in Mainland China; (2)
revenue from wholesales and others outside Mainland China increased
from RMB26.9 million in 2019 to RMB74.2 million in 2020, primarily due

to the expansion in overseas markets.
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REMUAYE20195F89156.0 8 BTiL K5
20205F 92309 B BT » R T48.0% + EHF
(B RBERBLEE R E MU A 20195 8
ARBE1201 BB TIEME2020F W AR
156788 FEHRNEHEHEREER
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEH WD

- Revenue by IPs — REPEZHHA
For the year ended For the year ended
31 December 2020 31 December 2019
EZ20205128310EE HE2019FNA3BFE
Proportion Proportion
Revenue of revenue Revenue of revenue
WA AR WA WG
(RMB’000) (RMB'000)
(ARET ) (AR®FT)

Propriety products BXEm 2,136,196 85.0% 1,384,209 82.1%
Propriety IPs B5IP 979,940 39.0% 627,027 37.2%
- Molly —Molly 356,918 14.2% 456,018 27.1%
- Dimoo —Dimoo 315,248 12.5% 100,085 5.9%
- BOBO & COCO —BOBO & COCO 67,415 2.7% 25,454 1.5%
— SKULLPANDA —SKULLPANDA 39,065 1.6% - -
— Other propriety IPs —-HivgHIP 201,294 8.0% 45470 2.7%
Exclusive licensed IPs BHRIP 711,904 28.3% 597,362 35.4%
~ PUCKY —PUCKY 300,009 11.9% 315318 18.7%
- The Monsters —The Monsters 204,828 8.1% 107,846 6.4%
- SATYR RORY —SATYR RORY 33,684 1.4% 63,086 3.7%
~ Other exclusive licensed IPs — HipBRIP 173,383 6.9% 111,112 6.6%
Non-exclusive licensed IPs EBRIP 444,352 17.7% 159,820 9.5%
External procurement and consignment MERAREH 368,400 14.6% 279,986 16.6%
Others Hit 8,875 0.4% 19,239 13%
Total &t 2,513,471 100.0% 1,683,434 100.0%

POP MART

Pop Mart propriety products are our major product type. Revenue from
propriety products, which contributed 85.0% of our total revenue in
2020, increased by 54.3% from RMB1,384.2 million in 2019 to RMB2,136.2
million in 2020. Revenue from propriety IPs increased by 56.3% from
RMB627.0 million in 2019 to RMB979.9 million in 2020, primarily due to
the increase in sales of Dimoo and the revenue contribution from sales
of new IP SKULLPANDA. Revenue from exclusive licensed IPs increased
by 19.2% from RMB597.4 million in 2019 to RMB711.9 million in 2020,
primarily due to the increase in revenue from The Monsters and the
increase in IPs. Revenue from non-exclusive licensed IPs increased by
178.1% from RMB159.8 million in 2019 to RMB444.4 million in 2020,
primarily due to the sales of new series of products and the increase in
IPs.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEERWRS T

RIEMWIZEHEI D ER  BBEAH
JEERWA

FTEERE T ERE 7

Operating revenue of stores and roboshops by geographic
regions

Retail stores by city tiers

For the year ended For the year ended
31 December 2020 31 December 2019
BE2020F12831BFE | #E2019F12A31HFE
Number Revenue Number Revenue
of retail from retail of retail from retail
City tier WHER stores stores stores stores
ZEEHE ZEERA | TEEHE TEERA
(RMB’000) (RMB'000)
(AR¥F ) (ARBFT)
First-tier cities* — AR T 81 499,210 54 444,619
New first-tier cities® AR 56 289,139 36 205,976
Second-tier and other cities® R R EA e 50 213,705 24 89,095
Total &t 187 1,002,054 114 739,690
Roboshops by city tiers WS BT T ERE 5
For the year ended For the year ended
31 December 2020 31 December 2019
BE2020F12A31BFE | BE2019F12A31HFE
Revenue Revenue
Number of from Number of from
City tier WHER roboshops  roboshops roboshops roboshops
HERA HEEEA HEEA HEEEA
BEHSE BEBA EEHE R EUA
(RMB’000) (RMB'000)
(AR¥F ) (ARBFT)
First-tier cities* —HREA T 447 119,667 304 120,496
New first-tier cities® AR 453 107,149 292 78,445
Second-tier and other cities® R R EA e 451 101,863 229 49,613
Total a5t 1,351 328,679 825 248,554
Refer to first-tier cities in Mainland China, including Beijing, Shanghai, Guangzhou ¢ EREARE—RET > BELR - L& BMA
and Shenzhen el
Refer to new first-tier cities in Mainland China, including Chengdu, Chonggqing, S EHRBIREN—GRET - BIEKRE - EEF M

Hangzhou, Wuhan, Xian, Zhengzhou, Qingdao, Changsha, Tianjin, Suzhou, Nanjing,

Dongguan, Shenyang, Hefei and Foshan

Refer to cities other than first-tier cities and new first-tier cities in Mainland China E

Mo EOE AR B
M BR - RE - OER  AEMELL
FE R B RERR 25 — ARV TR AN — AR T DAS M ROI TR

58 Y RE - -H
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEH WD

Breakdown of revenue from online sales AR A BA A
For the year ended For the year ended
31 December 2020 31 December 2019
HZ202068 12831 BEE BZ019F 1283185
Proportion Proportion
Revenue of revenue Revenue of revenue Increase
/0N WG WA L ON(154 g
(RMB’000) (RMB'000)
(AR¥T ) (AR®FT)
Revenue from Pop Draw SR HERBA 466,364 49.0% 271,214 50.3% 72.0%
Revenue from Tmall flagship store KA R A 406,110 42.7% 251,499 46.6% 61.5%
Revenue from JD.com flagship store RRHERERA 36,173 3.8% - 0.0% 100%
Revenue from other e-commence platforms HieE@FalA 43,228 4.5% 16,488 3.1% 162.2%
TOTAL &t 951,875 100.0% 539,201 100.0% 76.5%

Online revenue sources of Pop Mart include Tmall flagship store, Pop
Draw, JD.com flagship store and other online channels. Online revenue
increased by 76.5% from RMB539.2 million in 2019 to RMB951.9 million
in 2020. In particular, revenue from Pop Draw increased by 72.0% from
RMB271.2 million in 2019 to RMB466.4 million in 2020, while revenue
from Tmall flagship store increased by 61.5% from RMB251.5 million in
2019 to RMB406.1 million in 2020. The increase was primarily due to the
stronger brand influence and the increase in members. JD.com flagship

store was a channel newly added in 2020.
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Profitability

Costs of sales

Our costs of sales increased by 55.0% from RMB593.1 million in 2019 to
RMB919.4 million in 2020, primarily due to the business expansion, and
such increase was in line with the increase in revenue. The increase was
primarily due to (1) the increase in costs of goods from RMB488.0 million
in 2019 to RMB748.5 million in 2020, which was mainly due to the
increase in sales; and (2) design and license fees increased from RMB48.4
million in 2019 to RMB62.7 million in 2020, which was mainly due to
the increase in revenue generated from our propriety products and the

increasing proportion of such revenue.

Gross profit

Our gross profit increased by 46.2% from RMB1,090.3 million in 2019 to
RMB1,594.1 million in 2020, primarily due to the increase in revenue.
Our gross profit margin dropped from 64.8% in 2019 to 63.4% in 2020,
primarily due to the slight decline in gross profit margin of our Pop Mart

propriety products.

Gross profit from our Pop Mart propriety products increased by 48.8%
from RMB986.2 million in 2019 to RMB1,467.9 million in 2020, primarily
due to the increase in revenue from Pop Mart brand products. Gross
profit margin of Pop Mart brand products dropped from 71.2% in 2019
to 68.7% in 2020, primarily due to the increasing complexity of product
production as we enhance the quality of our products, as well as the

decline in gross profit margin as a result of the rise in raw material costs.

Gross profit from third-party products increased by 30.7% from RMB103.8
million in 2019 to RMB135.7 million in 2020, primarily due to the
increase in revenue from third-party products as a result of our business
expansion. Gross profit margin of third-party products remained
relatively stable, which dropped from 37.1% in 2019 to 36.8% in 2020.

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEH WD

Distribution and selling expenses

Our distribution and selling expenses increased by 73.2% from RMB363.8
million in 2019 to RMB630.1 million in 2020, primarily due to (1) the
increase in employee benefit expenses from RMB79.3 million in 2019 to
RMB112.8 million in 2020, mainly due to the increase in number of sales
personnel from 837 in 2019 to 1,527 in 2020 primarily for supporting the
expansion of our retail stores and roboshops network; (2) the increase
in depreciation of right-of-use assets from RMB56.2 million in 2019 to
RMB121.1 million in 2020, mainly due to the increase in number of retail
stores from 114 as of 31 December 2019 to 187 as of 31 December 2020
for supporting our business expansion and fulfillment of the increasing
demands on our products; and (3) the increase in transportation and
logistics expenses from RMB32.9 million in 2019 to RMB105.6 million in
2020, primarily due to the expansion in our online channel sales and
the selection of logistics companies that offer faster services for better

shopping experience of our customers.

General and administrative expenses

Our general and administrative expenses increased by 96.5% from
RMB142.5 million in 2019 to RMB280.0 million in 2020, primarily due to
(1) the increase in employee benefit expenses from RMB76.2 million in
2019 to RMB130.2 million in 2020, mainly due to the increase in number
of administrative and design development personnel from 415 in 2019
to 793 in 2020 for supporting our product development and business
expansion, as well as the rise in remuneration level for attracting talents;
and (2) listing expenses of RMB44.0 million incurred in the initial public
offering in 2020.

Net impairment losses on financial assets

Our net impairment losses on financial decreased from RMB3.1 million
in 2019 to -RMB0.4 million in 2020, primarily due to greater efforts put in

the management of aging of trade and other receivables.
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Other income

Our other income increased by 167.1% from RMB17.0 million in 2019 to
RMB45.4 million in 2020, primarily due to (1) the increase in government
grants of RMB22.0 million; and (2) the increase in IP license fee income
of RMB6.6 million from cooperation projects with Dove, L'Oréal and

other brands.

Other (losses)/gains, net

We recorded other gains, net of RMBO0.8 million in 2019, and other losses,
net of RMB11.1 million in 2020, primarily due to the donation of RMB10.0
million to the special COVID-19 foundation of Wuhan Charity Federation,
as well as the donation of RMB1.0 million to support poverty alleviation

works in Karakax County.

Operating profit

As a result of the above, our operating profit increased by 20.0% from
RMB598.8 million in 2019 to RMB718.8 million in 2020.

Share of profit/loss of investments accounted for using equity
method

The results of Nanjing Golden Eagle Pop Mart Co., Ltd. (‘Nanjing Golden
Eagle Pop Mart") remained relatively stable. Our share of profit of
investments accounted for using equity method decreased by 22.0%
from RMB5.0 million in 2019 to RMB3.9 million in 2020.

Finance expenses, net

Our finance expenses, net, increased by 66.7% from RMB5.4 million in
2019 to RMB9.0 million in 2020, primarily due to the corresponding

increase in lease liabilities as a result of the increase in retail stores.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEH WD

Income tax expense

Our income tax expense increased from RMB147.3 million in 2019 to
RMB184.1 million in 2020 as a result of the increase in profit before
income tax. Our effective tax rate rose from 24.6% in 2019 to 26.0% in
2020, primarily due to the losses recorded by certain subsidiaries in 2020,

resulting in rise in effective tax rate.

Profit for the year

As a result of the above, our profit for the year increased by 16.0% from
RMB451.1 million in 2019 to RMB523.3 million in 2020.

Non-GAAP financial indicators

The non-IFRS adjusted net profit has not been calculated in accordance
with the IFRS, thus it is deemed as non-IFRS financial indicator. The
non-IFRS adjusted net profit refers to the net profit after excluding
listing expenses, share-based payment, expenses in relation to the
redesignation of ordinary shares as preference shares and changes in
fair values of convertible redeemable preference shares, while the non-
IFRS adjusted net profit margin refers to the non-IFRS adjusted net
profit divided by revenue. We are of the view that such information is
useful for investors to compare the results of the Group, provided that
the results of the continuing operation or cash flows of the Group are
not being affected, and enable investors to take into consideration of
the indicators used by the management when assessing the results
of the Group. Investors shall not treat non-IFRS financial indicator as
an alternative or better version of the results of the Group prepared in
accordance with IFRS. In addition, not all companies will adopt the same
way in calculating such non-IFRS financial indicators. Hence, similar

measurements made by other companies may not be comparable.
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The following table set out the reconciliation of non-IFRS financial

indicators for the respective years:

MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
BEERWRS T

TRINE T B FEIFBEEREM RS ER W
MR RER -

For the year ended 31 December

BZ12A31ALEE

2020 2019
20205 20194
RMB’ 000 RMB"000
ARBT ARBTTT
Profit for the year F )5 ) 523,312 451,118
Adjustments: FHEIFE -
Listing expenses rhEA 44,024 16,538
Share-based payment VAR AD 72 BT A9 155 S R — 1,467
Expenses in relation to the redesignation of BEFEEEBRABERNEMMAX
ordinary shares as preference shares 16,910 -
Changes in fair value of convertible redeemable  AJEE3R] fE BB LRI A T EE B
preference shares 6,260 -
Non-IFRS adjusted net profit e B % B 75 i o A B A R BE A R 590,506 469,123
Non-IFRS adjusted net profit margin H B P B T e R R A R B A R = 23.5% 27.9%

The management is of the view that listing expenses, expenses in
relation to the redesignation of ordinary shares as preference shares
and changes in fair value of convertible redeemable preference shares
are one-off in nature that are related to procedures prior to listing and
the initial public offering, which will not be incurred after listing. In
addition, share-based payment expenses, expenses in relation to the
redesignation of ordinary shares as restricted shares and changes in fair
value of convertible redeemable preference shares are non-cash items,
which do not directly reflect our business operation. Hence, through
eliminating the effects of such items on calculation of non-IFRS adjusted
net profit, relevant operating performance can be better reflected, and
it would be more convenient to compare operating performance in

different years.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEH WD

Current assets, Financial Resources and Capital Expenditures

The Company and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) adopts a prudent
funding and treasury policy with regard to its overall business operations. A

variety of the below resources are maintained to meet its working capital:

—  Current assets and current liabilities

Our net current assets significantly increased from RMB335.0 million
as of 31 December 2019 to RMB5,590.6 million as of 31 December
2020. The increase was primarily due to (1) the increase in cash and
cash equivalents of RMB5,355.6 million, mainly due to the proceeds
raised from the initial public offering; (2) the increase in inventories of
RMB129.1 million, mainly due to the increase in product inventories
to meet with the increasing product demands as a result of business
expansion; and (3) was partially offset by the decrease in financial assets
at fair value through profit and loss of RMB50.0 million, mainly due to

the disposal of our investment in financial instruments.

— Trade receivables

Trade receivables represent outstanding amounts receivable by us
from our customers in the ordinary course of business. Most of the
trade receivables are related to bills on payment platforms such as
Alipay or WeChat Pay. Receivables from these payment platforms are
generally collected in short term. Our trade receivables increased from
RMB45.6 million as of 31 December 2019 to RMB78.3 million as of 31
December 2020. The increase was primarily due to the increase in third-
party (including shopping malls, wholesale customers and e-commerce
platforms) payment, reflecting our trade receivables in a relative period
of time. Trade receivables turnover days increased from 6 days in 2019
to 9 days in 2020.

—  Other receivables

Other receivables mainly represent deposits paid to shopping malls in
respect of our retail stores and roboshops. Other receivables increased
from RMB59.7 million as of 31 December 2019 to RMB90.8 million as of
31 December 2020, mainly due to the increase in deposits, which was in

line with the expansion in our retail store and roboshop network.
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Inventories

Our inventories comprise finished goods. Our inventories increased
from RMB96.3 million as of 31 December 2019 to RMB225.4 million as
of 31 December 2020. The increase was primarily due to the increase
in product inventories to meet with the increasing product demands.
Inventory turnover days increased from 46 days in 2019 to 78 days in
2020, primarily due to increase in demand for our products as a result of
the business expansion and the increase in IPs and new products, thus

resulting in corresponding increase in product inventories.

Prepayments and other current assets

Prepayments and other current assets primarily comprise prepayments
for inventories, prepayments for design fees, prepayments for property,
plant and equipment, prepayments for short-term leases, deductible
value-added input tax and others. Our prepayments and other current
assets increased from RMB140.4 million as of 31 December 2019
to RMB177.9 million as of 31 December 2020, primarily due to (1)
the increase in prepayments for design fees of RMB35.7 million as a
result of the increase the number of products; and (2) the decrease in

prepayments to suppliers of RMB9.3 million.

Cash and cash equivalents

Our cash and cash equivalents primarily comprise cash at bank. Cash and
cash equivalents increased from RMB324.6 million as of 31 December
2019 to RMB5,680.2 million as of 31 December 2020, primarily due to
the net proceeds raised from the initial public offering and our business

growth.

Trade payables

Trade payables primarily represent our obligation to pay for merchandise
from suppliers in the ordinary course of business. Trade payables
increased from RMB49.4 million as of 31 December 2019 to RMB115.8
million as of 31 December 2020, primarily due to the increase in
procurement amount as a result of our business growth, which in turns
resulted in the increase in balance of payables to suppliers. Our trade
payable turnover days increased from 29 days in 2019 to 40 days in
2020, primarily due to suppliers generally willing to grant a longer credit

period as we have been increasing our procurement amount.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
EEEH WD

Other payables and accruals

Our other payables and accruals consist mainly of (1) wages, salaries
and other employee benefits, (2) accrual expenses, (3) payables for
property, plant and equipment and intangible assets, (4) other tax
payables, (5) payables for listing expense, (6) payables for short-term and
variable rental expenses, (7) amount received on behalf of merchants on
conventions, and (8) others. Our other payables and accruals increased
from RMB122.1 million as of 31 December 2019 to RMB202.3 million
as of 31 December 2020, primarily due to (1) the increase in payables
for property, plant and equipment and intangible assets by RMB24.4
million as a result of expansion in retail stores; (2) the increase in listing
expenses of the initial public offering of RMB22.2 million; (3) the increase
in other tax payables of RMB17.1 million as a result of business growth;
(4) the increase in accrual expenses of RMB20.1 million as a result of the
expansion in online channels in response to the increase in logistics fee

and platform service fee payables.

Property, plant and equipment

Our property, plant and equipment consist mainly of (1) roboshops, (2)
moulds, (3) equipment and others and (4) leasehold improvement. Our
property, plant and equipment increased from RMB103.6 million as of 31
December 2019 to RMB238.3 million as of 31 December 2020, primarily
due to (1) the increase in leasehold improvement of RMB65.5 million as
a result of the expansion in our retail store network, (2) the increase in
moulds of RMB51.2 million as a result of the expansion in our product
portfolio and (3) the increase in roboshops of RMB14.0 million as a result

of the expansion in our roboshop network.

Intangible assets

Our intangible assets consist mainly of (1) licensed IPs, (2) intellectual
property rights, including our propriety IPs and (3) software. Our
intangible assets increased from RMB18.6 million as of 31 December
2019 to RMB92.7 million as of 31 December 2020, primarily due to the

new licensed IPs obtained in 2020.
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- Right-of-use assets

Our right-of-use assets comprise the initial measurement of the
corresponding lease liability in relation to our retail stores and
roboshops, lease payments made at or before the commencement
date and any initial direct costs. Our right-of-use assets are depreciated
starting at the commencement date over the shorter period of useful life
of the underlying asset and lease term. Our right-of-use assets increased
from RMB178.9 million as of 31 December 2019 to RMB287.8 million
as of 31 December 2020, due to the expansion in our retail store and

roboshop network.

- Bank borrowings

We did not have any bank borrowings as of 31 December 2020.

Pledge of Assets

We did not have any pledged assets as of 31 December 2020.

Gearing Ratio

As at 31 December 2020, our gearing ratio was 12.1% as compared with the
gearing ratio of 44.4% as at 31 December 2019. The gearing ratio is calculated
by dividing total liabilities by total assets and then multiplying by 100%.

Contingency

We are not currently involved in any material legal proceedings, nor are we
aware of any pending or potential material legal proceedings involving us.
If we are involved in such material legal proceedings, we would record any
loss or contingency when, based on information then available, it is likely
that a loss has been incurred and the amount of the loss can be reasonably

estimated.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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On 28 August 2020, we received a court summons dated 19 August 2020 in
relation to a claim brought by Golden Eagle International Retail Group (China)
Co, Ltd. (R EBIRAZEE (RB)ARAF) as a shareholder on behalf of
Nanjing Golden Eagle Pop Mart at the Jiangsu Nanjing Intermediate People’s
Court (IEREBERMHRRAARZER) against Beijing Pop Mart Culture &
Creative Co., Ltd. As we have been advised by our PRC legal adviser that the
claim brought by Golden Eagle International is groundless, the likelihood
that the claim will be decided in favor of Golden Eagle International is
very low, the risk exposure of the Company from the claim is minimal and
the claim will not have a material adverse impact on our operations and
financial performance, as such, no provision in relation to this claim has been

recognized in the consolidated financial statements.

Foreign Exchange Risk Management

We operate mainly in the PRC with most of the transactions settled in
Renminbi. Our management considers that the business is not exposed to
any significant foreign exchange risk as there are no significant financial
assets or liabilities of our Group denominated in currencies other than
the respective functional currencies of our operating entities. We did not
hedge against any fluctuation in foreign currency during the year ended 31
December 2020.

Capital Expenditures

Our capital expenditures consist of (1) purchases of property, plant and

equipment and (2) purchases of intangible assets.
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For the year ended December 31,

BZ12A31ALEE

2020 2019

2020F 20194

(RMB’000) (RMB'000)

(AR%T ) (ARETT)

Purchases of property, plant and equipment EBEME  BMEMERE 175,984 104,951
Purchases of intangible assets BEEVEE 47,608 12,551
Total &t 223,592 117,502
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Human Resources

As of 31 December 2020, we had a total of 2,320 employees, including
1,527 sales personnel and 793 administrative and development personnel.
For the year ended 31 December 2020, we incurred staff costs (including

remuneration, payrolls, allowances and benefits) of RMB243.0 million.

Future Plans on Significant Investments

As of 31 December 2020, we did not hold any significant investment. To
strengthen our position as the pioneer and key promoter of pop toy culture
in China, we plan to utilise the Net Proceeds to carry out certain expansion
projects. Details for the expansion projects are set out in the paragraph
headed “Use of Net Proceeds From Listing” in this report and the section
headed “Future Plans and Use of Proceeds” in the prospectus of the Company
dated 1 December 2020 (the “Prospectus”).

Material Acquisitions and Disposals

During the year ended 31 December 2020, we had not conducted any

material acquisition or disposal of subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures.

Major Risks and Uncertainties

Principal risks and uncertainties we face are relating to: (i) as a pop culture
entertainment company, we cannot assure you that we will be able to design
and develop products that will be popular with consumers, or that we will
be able to maintain the popularity of successful products; (i) we may not
realize the full benefit of our licenses if the IPs we are granted license have
less market appeal than expected or if sales from the products that use
those IPs are not sufficient to satisfy the minimum guaranteed royalties; (iii)
our business depends significantly on market recognition of our "Pop Mart”
brand, and any damage to our brand, trademarks or reputation, or failure
to effectively promote our brand, could materially and adversely impact
our business and results of operations; (iv) we use third-party manufactures
to manufacture all of our Pop Mart brand products, and failure in product
quality control may adversely affect our business; and (v) the slowdown in
macro-economic growth may weaken the demand in our products which

may have a certain negative impact on the Company’s operating results.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Outlook

IP is at the core of our business. Through our innovative products, delicate
design and quality services, we aim to offer consumers with joyful pop
culture and artistic experience. At the same time, by increasing our brand
value, we will enhance the brand loyalty of users on Pop Mart products,

thereby maintaining our strong market position and competitiveness.

We will strive to enrich our IP types, expand our IP base, introduce more
products under the head series, and increase types of pop toys in addition to

blind boxes.

We will strive to expand our channel network so as to reach more users. In
addition, we will continue to strengthen our operating capability, improve
user shopping experience, enhance member expansion and member
marketing, promote innovative retail digitalized operation, reach and retain

users through diversified measures, and offer customized, better services.

We will continue to promote pop toy culture through more diversified
means, influence the whole industry continuously, offer more benefits for
our privilege members, increase the stickiness of fans, as well as enhance the

cultural identity and brand awareness of fans.

Subsequent Events

As at the date of this report, the Group has no significant events occurred
after the year ended 31 December 2020 which require additional disclosures

or adjustments.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The biographical details of the Directors and senior management are set out

as follows:

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Wang Ning (£ 2), aged 34, is our executive Director, Chairman of the
Board and Chief Executive Officer of our Company. Mr. Wang founded our
Group in October 2010, and is responsible for the overall strategic planning

and management of our Company.

Mr. Wang received his bachelor's degree in advertising from Sias International
College of Zhengzhou University (B8N K27 B HTBIFR EF) (currently
known as Sias University) in the PRC in June 2009, and his master's degree
in business administration from Guanghua School of Management of Peking
University JE R REHEEIEEPT) in the PRC in June 2017.

Mr. Wang is currently a director of certain principal subsidiaries of our
Company including Beijing Pop Mart, Paqu Huyu and Pop Mart (Hong Kong)
Holding Limited.

Mr. Wang is the spouse of Ms. Yang Tao, our executive Director.

Ms. Yang Tao (#38), aged 34, is our executive Director and vice president.
Ms. Yang joined our Group in October 2010 towards the end of her master’s

degree program, and is in charge of the product centre of our Company.

Ms. Yang received her bachelor of general study degree from Fort Hays
State University in the United States in May 2009, and her master’s degree in
communication studies from Hong Kong Baptist University in Hong Kong in
November 2010.

Ms. Yang is currently a director of Beijing Pop Mart, a principal subsidiary of

our Company.

Ms. Yang is the spouse of Mr. Wang, our executive Director, Chairman of the

Board and Chief Executive Officer of our Company.
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Ms. Liu Ran (218), aged 33, is our executive Director and vice president. Ms.
Liu joined our Group in July 2011 shortly after graduating from university. Ms.

Liu is in charge of the president office of our Company.

Ms. Liu received her bachelor's degree in tourism management from Sias
International College of Zhengzhou University (currently known as Sias
University) in the PRC in July 2010, and her master's degree in business
administration from Guanghua School of Management of Peking University
in the PRC in July 2020.

Ms. Liu is currently a director of Beijing Pop Mart, a principal subsidiary of our

Company.

Mr. Si De (F]#&), aged 32, is our executive Director, chief operating officer
and president of China business. Mr. Si joined our Group in March 2015,
and is responsible for overall operations and overseeing the online business
department and the human resources department of our Company. Mr. Si
joined our Group as the brand director and was promoted to vice president
in July 2016.

Mr. Si received his bachelor's degree in French studies from China
Communication University (FREBI{EZEAE) in the PRC in July 2011, and
his master's degree in business administration from Guanghua School of

Management of Peking University in the PRC in July 2017.

Mr. Si is currently a director of certain principal subsidiaries of our Company,
including Shanghai Paqu Commerce Co, Ltd. (/8% E 5HER A7) and
Tianjin Pop Mart Cultural Communication Co., Ltd. (KZBBIGH XL EE
BRATE).
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Tu Zheng (B##), aged 42, is our non-executive Director. Mr. Tu was
appointed as non-executive Director in May 2019, and is responsible for

providing professional advice to the Board.

Mr. Tu has been serving as a partner of Shanghai Fenggiao Investment
Management Co. Ltd. (E/B#BTIIREERBRAF]) since May 2018. He
served as a partner at Shenzhen Qifu Capital Management Co., LTD (&3
MR EAREEBRAR]) from May 2015 to April 2018. From June 2007
to April 2015, Mr. Tu worked at Shenzhen Fortune Caizhi Venture Capital
Management Co. Ltd. (RYITTZEEM B RIEKREEEBR A A]) where he
served successively as an investment manager, an investment director, the
general manager of Zhejiang branch office, the deputy general manager of
East China and the head of TMT sector.

Mr. Tu received his bachelor’s degree in English studies from Zhejiang
University (HTRE) in the PRC in June 2000, and his master's degree in
public policy from the University of Chicago in the United States in June
2003. Mr. Tu currently holds the China Securities Investment Fund Practicing
Certificate granted by the Asset Management Association of China (7 B35 %5
WEESEBHE) in August 2017.

Mr. Tu is currently a director of Beijing Pop Mart.

Mr. He Yu (fAI8&), aged 39, is our non-executive Director. Mr. He was
appointed as non-executive Director in May 2019, and is responsible for

providing professional advice to the Board.

Mr. He founded and served as a partner of Shenzhen Qianhai Heiyi Innovation
Investment Partnership (Limited Partnership) CRIIFTE BEBIFTIRE A B
% (BBR& %)) since February 2016. Prior to that, Mr. He served as the head
of strategy and investment department at Beijing Bytedance Technology Co.
Ltd. bR FEBE B EHE BBR 722 7)) from August 2015 to February 2016.

Mr. He received his bachelor's degree in international economics and trade
from Nankai University (I AZ) in the PRC in June 2003, and his master’s
degree in finance from the University of Lancaster in the United Kingdom
in November 2005. Mr. He was admitted as a Chartered Financial Analyst by
the CFA Institute in September 2008, and was granted the China Securities
Investment Fund Practicing Certificate by the Asset Management Association
of China in February 2017.

Mr. He is currently a director of Beijing Pop Mart.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Zhang Jianjun ((REE), aged 54, is our independent non-executive
Director with effect from 11 December 2020 (the “Listing Date’), and is

responsible for providing independent opinion and judgment to the Board.

Mr. Zhang is currently a professor of organizational and strategic
management at Guanghua School of Management of Peking University.
Mr. Zhang's research focuses on corporate social responsibilities, corporate
political activities, leaders and leadership teams and corporate culture,
among other subjects. Mr. Zhang has been a faculty member at Guanghua
School of Management of Peking University since March 2004. Mr. Zhang
has accumulated in-depth understanding of corporate governance from his
research over the past 15 years. His publication, Marketization and Democracy
in China, has won the first prize of the 11th sociology studies achievement
award of the Peking University in March 2011 and second prize of the 6th
award for outstanding achievement of scientific research in colleges and
universities issued by the Ministry of Education of the PRC. Mr. Zhang was
also awarded the Li Yining Teaching Award in December 2014 and Li Yining
Research Award in December 2018 by the Guanghua school of Management
of Peking University. Mr. Zhang served as an independent director of CCB Life

Insurance Company Limited from November 2014 to August 2017.

Mr. Zhang received his bachelor’s and master's degrees in law from Peking
University in the PRC in July 1989 and July 1992, respectively. Mr. Zhang
received his Ph.D in sociology from the University of California, Berkeley in
the United States in December 2003.

Mr. Wu Liansheng (R¥4), aged 50, is our independent non-executive
Director with effect from the Listing Date, and is responsible for providing
independent opinion and judgement to the Board. Mr. Wu has been faculty
member at Guanghua School of Management of Peking University since
September 2001.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Wu had served directorships in certain listed companies. He served as
an independent director of Huaneng Power International, Inc. (FERERRE
NE&DBBRAT]), a company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange (Stock
Code: 600011), the Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 902) and the New York Stock
Exchange (Stock Code: HNP) from May 2008 to July 2014, an independent
director of RiseSun Real Estate Development Co. Ltd. (5% 5%/E i E 2R I
BABMRAT]), a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange (Stock
Code: 002146) from January 2009 to January 2012, an independent director
of Western Mining Co,, Ltd. (FREFEZAR D BRAF]), a company listed on
the Shanghai Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 601168) from February 2011 to
September 2015, an independent director of Wanda Cinema Line Co. Ltd (B8
EBREIM AR AF]) (now known as Wanda Film Holding Co., Ltd (8
EBERMAERAR])), a company listed on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange
(Stock Code: 002739) from January 2011 to November 2015, an independent
non-executive director of China National Building Material Company Limited
(FEIEM RN BR AR,
Code: 3323) from November 2011 to May 2016, and an independent director
of Xinhuanet Co., Ltd GTEMRMKHBMR AT, a company listed on the
Shanghai Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 603888) from May 2014 to March
2016. Mr. Wu has served as an independent director of BOC International
(China) Co., Ltd. (FEREIEFEHRMDBRAF), a company listed on the
Shanghai Stock Exchange (Stock Code: 601696) since September 2018.

a company listed on the Stock Exchange (Stock

Mr. Wu received his bachelor's degree in economics from Wuhan University
in the PRC in July 1993, his master's degree in economics from Wuhan
University in the PRC in June 1996, and his Ph.D in management from
Zhongnan University of Finance and Economics (FF & 81 48 K 22) (now known
as Zhongnan University of Economics and Law (P B & BUE K Z)) in the
PRC in June 1999.
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EESkEAREEERE

Mr. Ngan King Leung Gary (BESIR), aged 37, is our independent non-
executive Director with effect from the Listing Date, and is responsible for

providing independent opinion and judgement to the Board.

Mr. Ngan has served as the chief financial officer at Meitu, Inc, a company
listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 1357) since June 2015. He was
appointed as one of the joint company secretaries of Meitu, Inc. on 2 August
2016, and became the company secretary of Meitu, Inc. since 15 December
2019. Between May 2012 and June 2015, Mr. Ngan held the positions of
chief operating officer, chief financial officer and joint company secretary at
Forgame Holdings Limited, a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock
code: 484). Prior to that, he was the director and head of Hong Kong and
China Internet research at UBS AG, where he worked from July 2006 to April
2012.

Mr. Ngan received his bachelor of science degree in economics from the
Wharton School, University of Pennsylvania in the United States in 2006. He
has been a CFA Charterholder since 2010.

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Wang Ning (E88), aged 34, is our executive Director, Chairman of
the Board and Chief Executive Officer of our Company. For details of his
biography, please see the sub-section headed “Executive Directors” in this

section.

Mr. Yang Jingbing (#8%7K), aged 41, is the Chief Financial Officer of our
Company. Mr. Yang joined our Group in August 2017, and is responsible for

the management of finance of our Company.

Prior to joining our Group, Mr. Yang served successively as a manager of
the finance and capital department, an assistant to the general manager
and a chief financial officer of Beijing BBMG Dacheng Development Co.,
Lid. Gt e ARKFAEABR AT (now known as Beijing BBMG Property
Development Group Co., Ltd. (L RE&MEMEMZEEBEBRAF)) from
March 2010 to August 2017. He served as a manager of financial planning
department Beijing Dacheng Development Co., Ltd. (At RAKFZEF R A
Al) from March 2009 to March 2010. From September 2007 to March 2009,
Mr. Yang served as a member of the finance section of the listing office of
BBMG Corporation (1t R BB B PR A 7). Mr. Yang served as a staff of the
finance department of Beijing GEM Real Estate Development Company (3t &
£ MERERERZEAQR]) from July 2002 to September 2007.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Yang received his bachelor's degree in law and management in June
2002 from Shanghai University of Finance and Economics in the PRC, and his
master's degree in business administration in June 2016 from the Guanghua

School of Management of Peking University in the PRC.

Mr. Si De (B]4E), aged 32, is our executive Director, Chief Operations Officer
and president of China business. For details of his biography, please see the

sub-section headed “Executive Directors” in this section.

Ms. Yang Tao (#3), aged 34, is our executive Director and vice president.
For details of her biography, please see the sub-section headed “Executive

Directors” in this section.

Ms. Liu Ran (Z]8), aged 33, is our executive Director and vice president.
For details of her biography, please see the sub-section headed “Executive

Directors” in this section.

Mr. Moon Duk Il (3Xf8—), aged 41, is our vice president and president
of overseas business. Mr. Moon joined our Group in August 2018, and
is responsible for overseeing the overseas business department of our
Company. Prior to that, Mr. Moon served successively as a global business
planning specialist, global business planning senior specialist and global
business planning junior manager at the business development department
of CJ CheilJedang Corporation from July 2013 to July 2018, and a manager of
the global strategy department of CJ ENM from January 2009 to May 2013.
From December 2004 to December 2008, Mr. Moon served at the planning

management department of Lotte Cinema Co., Ltd.

Mr. Moon received his bachelor's degree in Chinese from Konkuk University
in Korea in February 2005, and his master's degree in business administration
from Peking University in the PRC in July 2018.
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The board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors”) of the Company is
pleased to present its report together with the audited consolidated financial

statements of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2020.

GLOBAL OFFERING

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 9 May 2019 as
an exempted company with limited liability under the laws of the Cayman
Islands. The Shares were listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on 11 December 2020. Pursuant
to the Global Offering (as defined in the Prospectus), the Company issued
135,715,200 new ordinary shares of the Company on 11 December 2020
with a nominal value of US$0.0001 each at a price of HK$38.50 per ordinary
share and received net proceeds of approximately HK$5,025.4 million from
the initial public offering, after deducting professional fees, underwriting

commissions and other related listing expenses.

On 15 December 2020, the over-allotment option described in the Prospectus
has been fully exercised by the joint global coordinators, on behalf of the
international underwriters, in respect of an aggregate of 20,357,200 shares to
cover over allocations in the international offering. The over-allotment shares
were issued and allotted by the Company at HK$38.50 per share, being the
offer price per offer share under the Global Offering. And the Company
received additional net proceeds of approximately HK$756.3 million for the
issue of the Over-allotment Shares, after deducting the underwriting fees and
other expenses payable by the Company in relation to the exercise of the

over-allotment option.

PRINCIPAL BUSINESS

The Company is the largest and fastest-growing pop toy company in China,
in terms of retail value in 2019 with a market share of 8.5% and revenue
growth from 2017 to 2019, respectively, according to the Frost & Sullivan
Report. IP is at the core of our business. We have established an integrated
platform covering the entire industry chain of pop toys, including artists
development, IP operation, consumer access and pop toy culture promotion,

through which we light up the passion of fans and bring them joy.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2020 are set out
in the consolidated financial statements on pages 136 to 264 of this annual

report.
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DIVIDEND DISTRIBUTION

In July 2020, the Company declared a dividend of US$55.0 million to its
Shareholders, of which US$53.9 million was paid in cash from July to
December 2020. We intend to distribute dividends to our Shareholders on
an annual basis of no less than 20% of our distributable net profit, which is
subject to the discretion of our Directors. The Board, with the sanction of the
Shareholders in general meeting, may direct any dividend be satisfied wholly
or in part by the distribution of specific assets of any kind. Any declaration
and payment as well as the amount of dividends will be subject to our
constitutional documents and the Cayman Companies Law. Our Shareholders
in a general meeting may approve any declaration of dividends, which must
not exceed the amount recommended by our Board. No dividends shall be
declared or payable except out of our profits and reserves of our Company
lawfully available for distribution including share premium. No dividend shall

carry interest against our Company.
The Board will review dividend policy from time to time in light of the
following factors in determining whether dividends are to be declared and
paid:

our result of operations;

our cash flows:;

our financial condition;

our capital requirements;

relevant legal requirements; and

other factors the Board may deem relevant.
In accordance with the articles of association of the Company (the “Articles
of Association”), the Company in general meeting may declare dividends in

any currency but no dividends shall exceed the amount recommended by
the Board.
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The Board has resolved to declare a final dividend of RMB14.94 cents
per ordinary Share issued for the year ended 31 December 2020. The
proposed final dividend is subject to the consideration and approval by the
Shareholders at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company to
be held on Tuesday, 1 June 2021 (the "AGM"). The final dividend is payable
to the Shareholders whose names are listed in the register of members
of the Company on Monday, 7 June 2021, in an aggregate amount of
RMB209,402,000. Once approved by the AGM, the final dividend is expected
to be distributed on Friday, 30 July 2021.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION

The Directors are not aware of any tax relief and exemption available to the

Shareholders by reason of their holding of the Company's securities.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The AGM of the Company will be held on 1 June, 2021. The notice of the
AGM will be published and dispatched to the Shareholders in due course in
the manner as required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
the Shock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”).

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

In order to determine the entitlement to attend and vote at the AGM, the
register of members of the Company will be closed from Thursday, 27 May
2021 to Tuesday, 1 June 2021, both days inclusive, during which period no
transfer of Shares will be registered. In order to be qualified to attend and
vote at the AGM, all completed transfers forms accompanied by the relevant
share certificates must be lodged for registration with the Company’s branch
share registrar in Hong Kong, Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services
Limited, at Shops 1712-1716, 17th Floor Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen's Road
East, Wanchai, Hong Kong no later than 4:30 p.m. on Wednesday, 26 May,
2021.

In order to determine the entitlement to the proposed final dividends, subject
to the approval of the Shareholders at the AGM, the register of members of
the Company will be closed from Monday, 7 June 2021 to Wednesday, 9 June
2021 (both days inclusive), during which period no transfer of Shares of the
Company will be registered. In order to be qualified to obtain final dividends,
all transfers accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged
for registration with the Company’'s branch share registrar in Hong Kong,
Computershare Hong Kong Investor Services Limited, at Shops 1712-1716,
17th Floor Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong no
later than 4:30 p.m. on Friday, 4 June 2021.
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BUSINESS REVIEW

A fair review of the business and a discussion and analysis of the Group’s
performance during the year, using financial key performance indicators
and the material factors underlying its results and financial position as well
as the outlook of the Group’s business are provided in the “Management
Discussion and Analysis” on pages 10 to 28 of this annual report. Description
of the principal risks and uncertainties faced the Group can be found in the
“Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 10 to 28 of this annual

report.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

It is our corporate and social responsibility to promote a sustainable and eco-
friendly environment. In this respect, we strive to minimize our environmental
impact by reducing our carbon footprint and to build our corporation in a

sustainable way.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, we are subject to various
environmental protection laws and regulations. For more details, please
refer to “Environmental, Social and Governance Report” of this annual report
for our work in respect of environmental protection, social and governance

during year ended 31 December 2020.

LEGAL PROCEEDINGS AND COMPLIANCE WITH
RELEVANT LAWS AND REGUALTIONS

We may from time to time become a party to various legal proceedings arising
in the ordinary course of business. Directors confirm that, during the year
ended 31 December 2020 and up to the date of this annual report, we had
not involved in any litigation, arbitration or administrative proceeding against
us or any of our Directors that could have a material and adverse effect on
our business, financial conditions or results of operations. Furthermore, to
the knowledge of our Directors, there is no pending or foreseeable litigation,
arbitration or administrative proceeding against us or any of our Directors that
could cause a material and adverse effect on our business, financial conditions

or results of operations.

During the year ended 31 December 2020 and up to the date of this annual
report, the Group had complied with the laws in all material respects,
including the requirements under the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
(Chapter 622 of the Laws of Hong Kong), the Listing Rules, the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) ("SFO") and the
Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code") contained in Appendix 14 to
the Listing Rules) for, among other things, the disclosure of information and

corporate governance.
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the Company's results, assets and liabilities for the last four
financial years are set out on pages 6 to 7 of this annual report. This summary

does not form part of the audited consolidated financial statements.

RELATIONSHIP WITH STAKEHOLDERS
Employees

As of the date of this annual report, we had a total of 2,320 full-time

employees. Substantially all of our employees are based in the PRC.

We primarily recruit our employees through on-campus job fairs, recruitment
agencies and online channels including our corporate websites and social
networking platforms. We have adopted robust internal training policies,
pursuant to which management, technology and other training are regularly
provided to our employees by internally sourced speakers or externally hired

consultants.

As required by PRC laws and regulations, we participate in various
government statutory employee benefit plans, including social insurance
funds, namely a pension contribution plan, a medical insurance plan, an
unemployment insurance plan, a work-related injury insurance plan, a
maternity insurance plan, and a housing provident fund. We are required
under PRC law to contribute to employee benefit plans at specified
percentages of the salaries, bonuses and certain allowances of our employees
up to a maximum amount specified by the local government from time to

time.

We enter into standard contracts and agreements regarding confidentiality,
intellectual property, employment, commercial ethics and non-competition
with all of our executive officers and the vast majority of our employees.
These contracts typically include a non-competition provision and a

confidentiality provision effective during and after their employment with us.

None of our employees are currently represented by labor unions. We believe
that we maintain a good working relationship with our employees, and
we have not experienced any significant labor disputes or any difficulty in
recruiting staff for our operations during the year ended 31 December 2020

and up to the date of this annual report.
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Customers

Our customers primarily consist of our fans and distributors, and to a lesser
extent, our bulk purchase corporate customers. We generally provide credit
terms to our wholesale customers ranging from 30 to 90 days. Certain
wholesale customers with good history and long-term relationship are
extended preferential credit terms of up to 180 days. We have a diversified

customer base.

For the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group’s sales to its five largest
customers accounted for 5.1% of the Group's total sales and sales to the

largest customer accounted for 3.3%.

So far as our Directors are aware, none of our Directors or executive officers
of our Company or its subsidiaries, their respective associates or any
Shareholders of our Company holding more than 5% of the issued share
capital of our Company immediately following the completion of the Global
Offering, had any interests in any of our five largest customers during the

year ended 31 December 2020 and up to the date of this annual report.

Suppliers

Currently, our suppliers primarily include selected third-party manufacturers
in China. We select third-party manufacturers based on factors such as
quality, capacity, price, years of operation, reputation and compliance with
applicable laws and regulations. Most of our third-party manufacturers have
extensive industry experience and cooperate with other major toy brands in
China and globally. In addition, our suppliers also include third-party brand

owners from whom we procure their products and sell through our network.

We usually enter into supply agreements of at least one year with our
suppliers, subject to our standard terms and conditions. In most cases, when
orders placed with a particular supplier exceed the agreed amount, we will
be entitled to a percentage rebate or discount on the purchase price as
agreed with the supplier. Our suppliers may grant us credit terms of up to
180 days.

For the year ended 31 December 2020, purchases from the Group's five
largest suppliers accounted for 44.2% of the Group's total purchases and

purchases from the largest supplier accounted for 13.4%.
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So far as our Directors are aware, none of our Directors or executive officers
of our Company or its subsidiaries, their respective associates or any
Shareholders of our Company holding more than 5% of the issued share
capital of our Company immediately following the completion of the Global
Offering, had any interests in any of our five largest suppliers during the year

ended 31 December 2020 and up to the date of this annual report.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the share capital of the Company during the year
ended 31 December 2020 are set out in note 24 to the consolidated financial

statements.

As at 31 December 2020, the issued share capital of the Company was
1,401,937,550 shares.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group during the year ended
317 December 2020 are set out on pages 141 to 142 in the consolidated

statement of changes in equity in this annual report.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 December 2020, the Company's reserve available for distribution to
shareholders amounted to approximately RMB12,527,402,000.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment of the Group
during the year ended 31 December 2020 are set out in note 12 to the

consolidated financial statements.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

As at the date of this annual report and based on the information publicly
available to the Company and to the best knowledge of the Directors, the
Company has maintained the minimum public float of 25% as required under

the Listing Rules.
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EEEREE
PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS BEDBRE
There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under Articles of Association HEERAUNSFEHELENEERELR
or the laws of the Cayman Islands that would oblige the Company to offer BENEXRERRGARLEAIRARRIERE

new shares on a pro rata basis to existing shareholders of the Company (the IR (TRER]) BHEFRKRSD -

“Shareholders”).

DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT EENESREEE

The Directors and senior management of the Company during the year ARABREZE2020F 12431 BLEFEREER
ended 31 December 2020 and up to the date of this annual report are set out FHRAMMEERaREEESHIWT

below:

Name Position in the Company

®E RAD B R

Directors

=

Mr. Wang Ning Executive Director, Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer
FTERL WITEF FFSLFENRITHRER

Ms. Yang Tao Executive Director and Vice President
BRRL WITESZNEIER

Ms. Liu Ran Executive Director and Vice President
BBt WITESNEIER

Mr. Si De Executive Director, Chief Operating Officer and President of China Business
AERAE WITEE  BEFELENPEHRERER
Mr. Tu Zheng Non-executive Director

=i FEHITEE

Mr. He Yu Non-executive Director

B E FEMITESE

Mr. Zhang Jianjun Independent Non-executive Director
RERLE BIFNITES

Mr. Wu Liansheng Independent Non-executive Director
REESE BIFNITES

Mr. Ngan King Leung Gary Independent Non-executive Director
YR EE BIFRITES

Senior management
BREEE

Mr. Wang Ning
ITERE

Mr. Yang Jingbing
Bk A

Mr. Si De
mAlfEELE

Ms. Yang Tao
()%

Ms. Liu Ran
£y

Mr. Moon Duk I
MiE—EE

Executive Director, Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer
WITESR  EF2FFRITHEAH

Chief Financial Officer

BRVBE

Executive Director, Chief Operating Officer and President of China Business
HWITESR  BRELERPEEEBAN

Executive Director and Vice President

BITEEREIRE

Executive Director and Vice President

BITEE REIRE

Vice President and President of Overseas Business

BIEE R BINETS A
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To the best of the Directors’ knowledge, information and belief, save as
disclosed in this annual report, the Directors and senior management do not

have any relationship amongst them.

In accordance with articles 16.2 and 16.19 of the Articles of Association, Mr.
Wang Ning, Ms. Yang Tao, Ms. Liu Ran, Mr. Si De, Mr. Tu Zheng, Mr. He Yu, Mr.
Zhang Jianjun, Mr. Wu Liansheng and Mr. Ngan King Leung Gary will retire
by rotation, and being eligible, have offered themselves for re-election as

Directors at the AGM.

None of the retiring Directors has an unexpired service contract which is
not determinable by the Company or any of its subsidiaries within one
year without payment of compensation, other than under normal statutory

obligations.

Biographical details of the Directors and senior management are set out on

pages 29 to 35 of this annual report.

SERVICE AGREEMENTS OF DIRECTORS

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service agreement with
the Company under which they agreed to act as executive Directors for an
initial term of three years commencing from the Listing Date, which may be
terminated by not less than three months’ notice in writing served by either

the executive Director or the Company.

Each of the non-executive Directors has entered into a service agreement
with the Company under which they agreed to act as non-executive Directors
for an initial term of three years commencing from the Listing Date, which
may be terminated by not less than one month's notice in writing served by

either the non-executive Directors or the Company.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors has signed an appointment
letter with the Company for a term of three years commencing from the
Listing Date, which may be terminated by not less than one month'’s notice
in writing served by either the independent non-executive Director or the

Company.

The appointment of Directors is subject to the provisions of retirement and

rotation of Directors under the Articles of Association.
None of the Directors has or is proposed to have a service agreement which

is not determinable by the Company or any of its subsidiaries within one year

without payment of compensation (other than statutory compensation).
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INDEPENDENCE OF INDEPENDENT NON-
EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The Company has received from each of the independent non-executive
Directors an annual confirmation of his independence pursuant to Rule 3.13
of the Listing Rules. The Company considers all of the independent non-
executive Directors to be independent and remain so as of the date of this

annual report.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2020, the interests and short positions of the Directors
and the chief executive of the Company in the Shares, underlying Shares and
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations (within the
meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which had been notified to the Company
and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO
(including interests and short positions which they were taken or deemed
to have taken under such provisions of the SFO), or which were recorded
in the register required to be kept pursuant to section 352 of the SFO or as
otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the

Model Code were as follows:

Interests in Shares and underlying Shares of the Company

REPORT OF DIRECTORS
EEgREE

BYFATESNE LM

ARBCEESBIFATESRE LRI
FIVEMEHAREBIMNFERRE -
ARBIRR 2RBUFPTESHBBEILA
T BEEAFRAMEBEIAL -

EERITBAIRKG - HER
REEBNEZERKXR

2020612 A31 8 » RARIER RITBHAHERN
RAT S HAEREEEE (ERRC(BEHFRPE
1EBI) EXVER) Bk (5 - BRANR D R & E %
BRIBCGES KB GG EXVIE7RESHH
EMgRRE R (BERE(GESRBAE
GO BB B UESHEEIR AER O
KoKB) - IRIBCE R LB E G ) F3521&8
TrRENZ MR EESIRBEESFRIE 517
MBARNA) R ERABIAT

RARTRM RAARER D K ER

Approximate

Total number

percentage of

of Shares/ shareholding
underlying interest in the
Name of Director Capacity/Nature of interest Shares held™ Company (%)
R, G2 R R R
EEnA B EmtE TERE R AR BT D (%)™
Mr. Wang Ning Beneficiary and founder of a trust; and Interest of 688,009,220 (L) 49.08%
FEEAE controlled corporation® ©
BERNZmAREMA - REZEEEEROY
Ms. Yang Tao Interest of spouse ©@ 688,009,220 (L) 49.08%
)2 [ Sl
Mr. Si De Founder of a discretionary trust © 11,508,500 (L) 0.82%
AfEEE WIS EERIPEAS
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Notes:

(1) As at 31 December 2020, the Company had issued 1,401,937,550 Shares in total.
The letter “L" denotes the person’s long position in the Shares.

(2)  GWF Holding is a company with limited liability incorporated in the BVI and
wholly-owned by UBS Trustees (B.V.l) Ltd. as trustee for a trust established by
Mr. Wang Ning (as settlor) for the benefit of Mr. Wang Ning. Mr. Wang Ning is
deemed to be interested in 571,981,960 Shares of our Company held by GWF
Holding under the SFO. Tianjin Paqu Holding Limited is a company with limited
liability incorporated under the laws of BVI and of which Mr. Wang Ning is the
sole shareholder. Mr. Wang Ning is therefore deemed to be interested in the
30,082,220 Shares of our Company held by Tianjin Paqu Holding Limited under
the SFO.

(3)  Pop Mart Hehuo Holding Limited is a company with limited liability incorporated
under the laws of BVI and holds 85,945, 040 Shares in our Company. Mr. Wang
Ning and Ms. Yang Tao holds 43.99% and 15.11% of the issued share capital of Pop
Mart Hehuo Holding Limited respectively. Both Mr. Wang Ning and Ms. Yang Tao
are deemed to be interested in the Shares held by each other due to their spousal
relationship and are therefore deemed to have an interest in the Shares held by
Pop Mart Hehuo Holding Limited.

(4)  Ms. Yang Tao is the spouse of Mr. Wang Ning. By virtue of the SFO. Ms. Yang Tao is
deemed to be interested in all the shares held by Mr. Wang Ning.

(5)  Sidsi Holding Limited is an investment holding company incorporated under the
laws of BVI and wholly-owned by TMF (Cayman) Ltd. as trustee of XM Family Trust
set up by Mr. Si (as settlor) for the benefit of Mr. Si De.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2020, none of the Directors of
the Company had or was deemed to have any interest or short position
in the Shares, underlying Shares or debentures of the Company or any
of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO)
which was required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and
short positions which they were taken or deemed to have taken under such
provisions of the SFO), or which were required to be recorded in the register
to be kept by the Company under Section 352 of the SFO, or which were
required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to
the Model Code.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' INTERESTS AND
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES

As at 31 December 2020, to the best knowledge of the Directors or chief
executives of the Company, the following persons (not being a Director
or chief executive of the Company) had interests or short positions in the
Shares or underlying Shares which fall to be disclosed to the Company under
the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO as recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to section 336 of the
SFO:

Interests in Shares and underlying Shares of the Company
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Approximate

Total number percentage of

of Shares/ shareholding
underlying interest in the
Name of Shareholder Capacity/Nature of interest Shares held” Company (%)™
FrsRae EARD B RE
RRHE BB B4 ERE HEROEHD A E DL (%)™
UBS Trustees (B.V..) Limited Trustee? 571,981,960 (L) 40.80%
UBS Trustees (B.V.1) Limited XFEAQ
GWF Holding Limited Beneficial owner®? 571,981,960 (L) 40.80%
GWF Holding Limited EmfEBA?
Pop Mart Hehuo Holding Limited Beneficial owner® 85,945,040 (L) 6.13%
Pop Mart Hehuo Holding Limited BEmBaAY
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Notes:

(1) As at 31 December 2020, the Company had issued 1,401,937,550 Shares in total.
The letter “L" denotes the person’s long position in the shares.

(2)  GWF Holding is a company with limited liability incorporated in the BVI and
wholly-owned by UBS Trustees (B.V.l) Ltd. as trustee for a trust established by
Mr. Wang Ning (as settlor) for the benefit of Mr. Wang Ning. Mr. Wang Ning is
deemed to be interested in 571,981,960 Shares of our Company held by GWF
Holding under the SFO. Tianjin Paqu Holding Limited is a company with limited
liability incorporated under the laws of BVI and of which Mr. Wang Ning is the
sole shareholder. Mr. Wang Ning is therefore deemed to be interested in the
30,082,220 Shares of our Company held by Tianjin Paqu Holding Limited under
the SFO.

(3)  Pop Mart Hehuo Holding Limited is a company with limited liability incorporated
under the laws of BVI and holds 85,945,040 Shares in our Company. Mr. Wang
Ning and Ms. Yang Tao holds 43.99% and 15.11% of the issued share capital of Pop
Mart Hehuo Holding Limited respectively. Both Mr. Wang Ning and Ms. Yang Tao
are deemed to be interested in the Shares held by each other due to their spousal
relationship and are therefore deemed to have an interest in the Shares held by
Pop Mart Hehuo Holding Limited.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2020, the Company had not been
notified by any other persons (other than the Directors of the Company) who
had an interest or short position in the Shares or underlying Shares of the
Company which would fall to be disclosed under Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV
of the SFO, or which were required to be entered in the register required to

be kept by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as otherwise disclosed in this annual report, at no time during the year,
was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement that
would enable the Directors to acquire benefits by means of acquisition of
Shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate, and
none of the Directors or any of their spouses or children under the age of 18
were granted any right to subscribe for the equity or debt securities of the

Company or any other body corporate or had exercised any such right.

ISSUANCE OF DEBENTURES

During the year ended 31 December 2020, no issuance of debentures was

made by the Company.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS
INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESSES

To the knowledge of the Board, none of the Directors, their associates or the
controlling shareholders had any interests in any business which competes
or is likely to compete, directly or indirectly, with the businesses of the Group

for the year ended 31 December 2020.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
Contractual Arrangements

The Group entered into a series of Contractual Arrangements which would
constitute non-exempt continuing connected transactions pursuant to
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

Background

The Company is prohibited from directly owning any equity interest in Paqu
Huyu. Therefore, in order for our Group to effectively control and enjoy the
entire economic benefit of Paqu Huyu, a series of Contractual Arrangements
have been entered into among Beijing Pop Mart, Paqu Huyu, and the
Relevant Shareholders. The Contractual Arrangements enable us to (i) receive
substantially all of the economic benefits from Paqu Huyu in consideration for
the services provided by Beijing Pop Mart to Paqu Huyu; (i) exercise effective
control over Paqu Huyu; and (iii) hold an exclusive option to purchase all or
part of the equity interests in Paqu Huyu when and to the extent permitted
by PRC law.

The following simplified diagram illustrates the flow of economic benefits
from Paqu Huyu to our Group stipulated under the Contractual Arrangements

after completion of the Reorganization:

Relevant
B Pop Mart  |q---------
eume Fop Ma N Shareholders ®
A
o 100%
v v
Paqu Huyu

“ 7 denotes legal and beneficial ownership in the equity interest

“....70 denotes the Contractual Arrangements
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(1) Beijing Pop Mart provides software development and other technical consultation
services in exchange for service fees from Paqu Huyu.

(2)  The Relevant Shareholders executed an exclusive option agreement in favour
of Beijing Pop Mart, for the acquisition of 100% of the equity interests and/or
assets in Paqu Huyu. The Relevant Shareholders pledged as first charge all of their

respective equity interests in Paqu Huyu to Beijing Pop Mart as collateral security

for any or all of their payments due to Beijing Pop Mart and to secure performance
of their obligations under the Exclusive Consultation and Service Agreement,
the Exclusive Option Agreement and the Voting Rights Proxy Agreement and
Powers of Attorney. The Relevant Shareholders executed the Voting Rights Proxy
Agreement and Powers of Attorney in favour of Beijing Pop Mart.

(3)  Mr. Wang Ning holds 91.56% of the shares of Paqu Huyu. 27 other shareholders
hold an aggregate of 8.44% of the shares of Paqu Huyu, including Mr. Song Quan
(0.31%), Mr. Wu Zhongfu (0.31%), Mr. Zhao Jianyi (0.31%), Ms. Zhou Lixia (0.31%),
Mr. Xiao Yang (0.31%), Mr. Mai Gang (0.31%), Mr. Yang Jingbing (0.31%), Ms. Li
Shuangshuang (0.31%), Mr. Wang Pei (0.31%), Ms. Yu Chunxiao (0.31%), Mr. Chen
Hua (0.31%), Ms. Yang Guifang (0.31%), Ms. Ma Honghong (0.31%), Mr. Yin Wei
(0.31%), Mr. Si De (0.31%), Ms. Yang Tao (0.31%), Mr. Zhou Lifeng (0.31%), Mr.
Cheng Fu (0.31%), Mr. Zhang Chao (0.31%), Mr. Wu Yi (0.31%), Mr. Xing Zongyu
(0.31%), Mr. Yang Jigan (0.31%), Ms. Yu Jing (0.31%), Mr. Hu Jian (0.31%), Mr. Cai
Xiaodong (0.31%), Mr. Xuan Yilang (0.31%) and Ms. Liu Ran (0.31%). Mr. Wang
Ning and the 27 other shareholders are collectively referred to as the “Relevant
Shareholders".

Summary of the Contractual Arrangements
Exclusive Option Agreement

Pagu Huyu and its Relevant Shareholders entered into an exclusive option
agreement with Beijing Pop Mart on 18 December 2019 upon completion
of the Reorganization (collectively, the “Exclusive Option Agreement’),
pursuant to which Beijing Pop Mart (or a third party designated by it, the
“designee”) will be granted an irrevocable, unconditional and exclusive right
to purchase 100% of the equity interest in and/or assets of Paqu Huyu for a
nominal price, unless the relevant government authorities or the PRC laws
request that another amount be used as the purchase price, in which case
the purchase price shall be the lowest amount under such request. Subject to
relevant PRC laws and regulations, the Relevant Shareholders shall return any
amount of purchase price they have received to Paqu Huyu. At Beijing Pop
Mart's request, the Relevant Shareholders and/or Paqu Huyu will promptly
and unconditionally transfer their respective equity interests in and/or the
relevant assets of Paqu Huyu to Beijing Pop Mart (or its designee) after Beijing
Pop Mart exercises its purchase right. The Exclusive Option Agreement is
for an initial term of 10 years. The Relevant Shareholders and Paqu Huyu
shall agree to an extension of the term of the Exclusive Option Agreement
if Beijing Pop Mart requests for extension before the expiry, and shall sign a
new Exclusive Option Agreement or continue the obligations of the Exclusive

Option Agreement as requested by Beijing Pop Mart.
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Exclusive Consultation and Service Agreement

Paqu Huyu entered into an Exclusive Consultation and Service Agreement
with Beijing Pop Mart on 18 December 2019 (the "Exclusive Consultation
and Service Agreement’), pursuant to which Pagu Huyu will agree to
engage Beijing Pop Mart as its exclusive provider of software development
and promotion, technical support, business cooperation consultation, market
consultancy, customer management consultancy, public relations and
human resources consultancy, market research, setting market development
plans and other relevant consultation and services required by Paqu Huyu,
in exchange for service fees. Under these arrangements, Beijing Pop Mart
may adjust the service fees at its sole discretion, which will be wired to
the designated account of Beijing Pop Mart upon issuance of payment

notification by Beijing Pop Mart.

Unless terminated by Beijing Pop Mart prior to the expiry of the Exclusive
Consultation and Service Agreement, it is for an initial term of 10 years and
may be extended by Beijing Pop Mart for a term determined by Beijing Pop
Mart, and shall sign a new Exclusive Consultation and Service Agreement
or continue the obligations of the Exclusive Consultation and Service

Agreement as requested by Beijing Pop Mart.

Share Pledge Agreement

Pagu Huyu, the Relevant Shareholders and Beijing Pop Mart entered into
a share pledge agreement on 18 December 2019 (collectively, the “Share
Pledge Agreement”). Under the Share Pledge Agreement, the Relevant
Shareholders will pledge as first charge all of their respective equity
interests in Paqu Huyu to Beijing Pop Mart as collateral security for any or
all of their payments due to Beijing Pop Mart and to secure performance of
their obligations under the Exclusive Consultation and Service Agreement,
the Exclusive Option Agreement and the Voting Rights Proxy Agreement.
Beijing Pop Mart is entitled to implement the pledge under the Share Pledge
Agreement if the above default is not successfully resolved to Beijing Pop
Mart's satisfaction within 10 days upon the written demand. The pledges
under the Share Pledge Agreement have been duly registered with the

relevant PRC legal authority pursuant to PRC laws and regulations.
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Voting Rights Proxy Agreement

A Voting Rights Proxy Agreement has been entered into between the
Relevant Shareholders, Beijing Pop Mart and Paqu Huyu on 18 December
2019, whereby the Relevant Shareholders will irrevocably, unconditionally
and exclusively appoint Beijing Pop Mart or a designated person as their
exclusive agent and attorney to act on their behalf on all matters concerning
Pagu Huyu and to exercise all of their rights as a registered shareholder of
Pagu Huyu. As a result of the Powers of Attorney, we, through Beijing Pop
Mart, is able to exercise management control over the activities that most
significantly impact the economic performance of Paqu Huyu. The Voting
Rights Proxy Agreement also provided that, in order to avoid potential
conflicts of interest, where the Relevant Shareholders are officers or directors
of our Group, the powers of attorney are granted in favor of other unrelated

officers or the Directors of our Group.

The Voting Rights Proxy Agreement shall terminate upon 30 days of written
notice given by Beijing Pop Mart once Beijing Pop Mart has exercised its right
to purchase all equity interest or assets of Paqu Huyu under the Exclusive
Options Agreement. Paqu Huyu has no right to unilaterally terminate the
Voting Rights Proxy Agreement unless provided by law. The Voting Rights
Proxy Agreement shall terminate upon expiry, unless extended based on
relevant provisions of the Voting Rights Proxy Agreement. The Voting Rights
Proxy Agreement shall terminate prior to expiry only when Beijing Pop Mart
has committed gross negligence, fraud, other illegal activities, declares
bankrupt or enters into liquidation. Shall Beijing Pop Mart declare bankrupt
or enters into liquidation prior to the expiry of the Voting Rights Proxy
Agreement, the Voting Rights Proxy Agreement shall terminate automatically.
Despite the provisions mentioned, Beijing Pop Mart has the power to
terminate the Voting Rights Proxy Agreement at any time given 30 days of

written notice to the Relevant Shareholders and Paqu Huyu.
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Spouse Undertakings

Each of the spouses of the Relevant Shareholders executed an irrevocable
undertaking on 18 December 2019, whereby he/she expressly and irrevocably
acknowledged and undertook that (i) any equity interests held by his/her
spouse as a registered shareholder in Paqu Huyu do not fall within the scope
of their communal properties; (i) he/she will not take any measures that are
in conflict with the Contractual Arrangements; and (iii) he/she had never
participated and will not participate in the operation or management of Paqu

Huyu.

Business Activities of Paqu Huyu and Significance to the Group

Our growth could be attributed to our dedication to promoting pop toy
culture and have attracted a premium and passionate fan base. We have
membership program to build our fan community, enhance its loyalty, and
incentivize repeat purchases through a variety of membership benefits.
Through our membership program, we are also able to communicate with
our fans in a frequent, efficient and real time manner. We are exploring new
and fun ways to develop a comprehensive community with our fans and our
online community, including online culture services and internet information
services. In order to expand, we launched Paqu Huyu whose principal
business activities are to conduct online culture services and internet
information services to our fans and community (collectively, the “Relevant

Businesses”).
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Reasons for Adoption of the Contractual Arrangements

The Relevant Businesses of Paqu Huyu are subject to foreign investment
restrictions in accordance with relevant PRC laws and regulations. Paqu
Huyu currently holds an ICP License and an ICB License, which are required
for the operation of the Relevant Businesses. After consultation with our
PRC Legal Advisor, we determined that it was not viable for our Group to
directly hold any equity ownership in Paqu Huyu. Instead, we decided that,
in line with common practice in industries in the PRC subject to foreign
investment restrictions, we would gain effective control over, and receive all
the economic benefits generated by the business currently operated by Paqu
Huyu through the Contractual Arrangements between Beijing Pop Mart, a
wholly-owned subsidiary of our Company established in the PRC, on the one

hand, and Paqu Huyu and the Relevant Shareholders, on the other hand.

Risks relating to the Contractual Arrangements

There are certain risks that are associated with the Contractual Arrangements,

including:

If the PRC government finds that the agreements that establish the
structure for operating our businesses in China do not comply with
applicable PRC laws and regulations, or if these regulations or their
interpretations change in the future, we could be subject to severe
consequences, including the nullification of contractual arrangements

and the relinquishment of our interest in Paqu Huyu.

Our contractual arrangements may not be as effective in providing
operational control as direct ownership. Paqu Huyu or its Relevant
Shareholders may fail to perform their obligations under our contractual

arrangements.
We may lose the ability to use assets held by Paqu Huyu that are
material to our business operations if Paqu Huyu declare bankruptcy or

become subject to a dissolution or liquidation proceeding.

The Relevant Shareholders of Paqu Huyu may have conflicts of interest

with us, which may materially and adversely affect our business.
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If we exercise the option to acquire equity ownership and assets of
Paqu Huyu the ownership or asset transfer may subject us to certain

limitations and substantial costs.

Substantial uncertainties exist with respect to the interpretation and
implementation of the Foreign Investment Law and how it may impact
the viability of our current corporate structure, corporate governance

and business operations.

Our contractual arrangements may be subject to scrutiny by the PRC
tax authorities, and a finding that we owe additional taxes could
substantially reduce our consolidated net income and the value of your

investment.

For further details of these risks, please refer to the section headed "Risk
Factors — Risks Related to Our Contractual Arrangements” of the Prospectus

of our company.

Our Group has adopted the following measures to ensure the effective
operation of our Group with the implementation of the Contractual

Arrangements and our compliance with the Contractual Arrangements:

major issues arising from the implementation of and compliance
with the Contractual Arrangements or any regulatory enquiries from
government authorities will be submitted to our Board, if necessary, for

review and discussion as and when they arise;

our Board will review the overall performance of and compliance with

the Contractual Arrangements at least once a year;

our Company will disclose the overall performance of and compliance

with the Contractual Arrangements in our annual reports; and
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our Company will engage external legal advisers or other professional
advisers, if necessary, to assist the Board to review the implementation
of the Contractual Arrangements, review the legal compliance of Beijing
Pop Mart and Paqu Huyu to deal with specific issues or matters arising

from the Contractual Arrangements.

Material Changes

As of the date of this annual report, there were no material changes in
the Contractual Arrangements and/or the circumstances under which the

Contractual Arrangements were adopted.

Unwinding of the Contractual Arrangements

As of the date of this annual report, there has not been any unwinding of
any Contractual Arrangements, nor has there been any failure to unwind any
Contractual Arrangements when the restrictions that led to the adoption of

the Contractual Arrangements are removed.

Confirmations

Our Independent non-executive Directors have reviewed the Contractual
Arrangements and confirmed that (i) no transaction has been carried out
during period from the Listing Date to 31 December 2020 which have
not been entered into in accordance with the relevant provisions of the
Contractual Arrangements; (i) no dividends or other distributions have been
made by Paqu Huyu to the Relevant Shareholders which are not otherwise
subsequently assigned or transferred to our Group; (i) no new contract has
been entered into, renewed or reproduced between our Group and Paqu
Huyu during the period from the Listing Date to 31 December 2020 and (iv)
the Contractual Arrangements had been entered into in the ordinary and
usual course of business of our Group, and are on normal commercial terms
and are fair and reasonable so far as our Group is concerned, and in the

interest of our Company and its Shareholders as a whole.

No service fee was paid by Paqu Huyu to Beijing Pop Mart pursuant to
the Exclusive Consultation and Service Agreement for the year ended 31
December 2020. The revenue and net profit of Paqu Huyu subject to the
Contractual Arrangements amounted to approximately RMB0.43 million
and RMBO0.18 million for the year ended 31 December 2020, respectively.
The total assets and total liabilities of Paqu Huyu subject to the Contractual
Arrangements amounted to approximately RMB0.38 million and RMBO0.23

million as at 31 December 2020, respectively.
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The Auditor of the Company confirmed that based on the foregoing, in
respect of the disclosed continuing connected transactions relating to the
Contractual Arrangements, noting has come to attention that cause them
to believe there was any dividends or other distributions had been made
by Paqu Huyu to the Relevant Shareholders which were not otherwise

subsequently assigned or transferred to the Group.

Related Party Transaction

Details of the related party transactions carried out in the normal course
of business are set out in note 36 to the consolidated financial statements.
Save as disclosed above, none of these related party transactions constitutes
a connected transaction or continuing connected transaction as defined
under the Listing Rules, and the Company has complied with the disclosure

requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

No Director or an entity connected with a Director was materially interested,
either directly or indirectly, in any transaction, arrangement or contract which
is significance in relation to the business of the Group to which the Company
or any of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party subsisting during
the year ended 31 December 2020 or at the end of the year ended 31
December 2020.

CONTRACT OF SIGNIFICANCE

No contract of significance was entered into between the Company, or
one of its subsidiary companies, and a controlling Shareholder or any of its

subsidiaries during the year ended 31 December 2020.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole
or any substantial part of the business of the Company were entered into
or existed during the year ended 31 December 2020 between the Company
and a person other than a Director or any person engaged in the full-time

employment of the Company.
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DIRECTORS’ PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance cover for Directors’
and officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions arising out of corporate
activities against the Directors and officers of the Company and its associated

companies during the year ended 31 December 2020.

Except for such insurances, at no time during the year and up to the date of
this annual report, there was or is, any permitted indemnity provision being
in force for the benefit of any of the directors of the Company or associated

companies.

STAFF, EMOLUMENT POLICY AND DIRECTORS’
REMUNERATION

The Company offers competitive remuneration packages to the Directors.
The packages were set by benchmarking with companies in similar industries,
companies with similar size in the market, volume and complexity of work.
Other emoluments are determined by the Board with reference to the
Directors’ duties, responsibilities and performance and the results of the

Group.

The remuneration payable to our employees includes salaries, bonuses and
employee benefit plans contributions. The salaries of our employees are
generally determined by the employees’ respective position, qualification,
experience and performance. The bonuses are calculated based on our
employees’ respective position, duration of services and performance of
our employees. In order to attract and retain our employees, we assess
the remuneration package offered to our employees on an annual basis to
determine whether any adjustment to the basic salaries and bonus should be

made.

As required by PRC laws and regulations, we participate in various
government statutory employee benefit plans, including social insurance
funds, namely a pension contribution plan, a medical insurance plan, an
unemployment insurance plan, a work-related injury insurance plan, a
maternity insurance plan, and a housing provident fund. We are required
under PRC law to contribute to employee benefit plans at specified
percentages of the salaries, bonuses and certain allowances of our employees
up to a maximum amount specified by the local government from time to
time. During the year ended 31 December 2020, no forfeited contributions

had been used by the Group to reduce the existing level of contributions.
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We provide training programs for all of our employees to enhance our
employees’ knowledge, skills and capability relevant to our business. All of
our new hires will be provided with an induction program to familiarize with
the Group, followed by on-the-job training based on departmental needs
and the development strategies of the Group. We also provide promotion
opportunities for capable employees as we have policies and procedures

setting out the assessment criteria for promotion.

The Remuneration Committee was set up for reviewing the Group's policy
and structure for all Directors and senior management remuneration and
on the establishment of a formal and transparent procedure for developing

remuneration policy.
Details of the emoluments of the Directors and five highest paid individuals
for the year ended 31 December 2020 are set out in note 33 and note 39 to

the consolidated financial statements.

The table below shows the emolument of senior management by band:
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POST-IPO SHARE AWARD SCHEME

The Company conditionally adopted the Post-IPO Share Award Scheme on
24 July 2020 (the “Adoption Date”). The Post-IPO Share Award Scheme is

not a share option scheme and is not subject to the provisions of Chapter

17 of the Listing Rules. Our Company appointed Trident Trust Company (HK)

Limited as the trustee of the Post-IPO Share Award Scheme to administer the

Post-IPO Share Award Scheme with respect to the grant of any award by the

Board (an “Award") which may vest in the form of Shares ("“Award Shares’)

or the actual selling price of the Award Shares in cash in accordance with the
Post-IPO Share Award Scheme.

(a)

POP MART

Eligible Persons to the Post-IPO Share Award Scheme

Any individual, being an employee, director (including executive
Directors, non-executive Directors and independent non-executive
Directors), officer, consultant, advisor, distributor, contractor, customer,
supplier, agent, business partner, joint venture business partner or
service provider of any member of the Group or any affiliate (an “Eligible
Person” and, collectively “Eligible Persons”) who the Board or its
delegate(s) considers, in its sole discretion, to have contributed or will
contribute to the Group is eligible to receive an Award. However, no
individual who is resident in a place where the grant, acceptance or
vesting of an Award pursuant to the Post-IPO Share Award Scheme is
not permitted under the laws and regulations of such place or where,
in the view of the Board or its delegate(s), compliance with applicable
laws and regulations in such place makes it necessary or expedient to
exclude such individual, shall be entitled to participate in the Post-IPO

Share Award Scheme.

Purpose of the Post-IPO Share Award Scheme

The purpose of the Post-IPO Share Award Scheme is to align the
interests of Eligible Persons’ with those of our Group through ownership
of Shares, dividends and other distributions paid on Shares and/or the
increase in value of the Shares, and to encourage and retain Eligible
Persons to make contributions to the long-term growth and profits of

our Group.
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(0)

Awards

An Award gives a selected participant a conditional right, when the
Award Shares vest, to obtain the Award Shares or, if in the absolute
discretion of the Board or its delegate(s), it is not practicable for the
selected participant to receive the Award in Shares, the cash equivalent
from the sale of the Award Shares. An Award includes all cash income
from dividends in respect of those Shares from the date the Award is
granted (the “Grant Date”) to the date the Award vests (the “"Vesting
Date"). For the avoidance of doubt, the Board at its discretion may
from time to time determine that any dividends declared and paid by
our Company in relation to the Award Shares be paid to the selected

participant even though the Award Shares have not yet vested.

Grant of Award
(i) Making the Grant

The Board or the committee of the Board or person(s) to which the
Board has delegated its authority may, from time to time, at their
absolute discretion, grant an Award to a selected participant (in the
case of the Board's delegate(s), to any selected participant other
than a Director or an officer of our Company) by way of an award
letter ("Award Letter"). The Award Letter will specify the Grant Date,
the number of Award Shares underlying the Award, the vesting
criteria and conditions, the Vesting Date and such other details as

the Board or its delegate(s) may consider necessary.

Each grant of an Award to any Director, chief executive or
substantial shareholder of our Company shall be subject to the
prior approval of the independent non-executive Directors of our
Company (excluding any independent non-executive Director who
is a proposed recipient of an Award). Our Company will comply
with the relevant requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing

Rules for any grant of Shares to connected persons of our Company.

(0)
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(i) Restrictions on Grants and Timing of Grants

The Board and its delegate(s) may not grant any Award Shares to

any selected participant in any of the following circumstances:

POP MART

where any requisite approval from any applicable regulatory

authorities has not been granted;

where any member of our Group will be required under
applicable securities laws, rules or regulations to issue a
prospectus or other offer documents in respect of such
Award or the Post-IPO Share Award Scheme, unless the Board

determines otherwise;

where such Award would result in a breach by any member
of our Group or its directors of any applicable securities laws,

rules or regulations in any jurisdiction;

where such grant of Award would result in a breach of the
Post-IPO Share Award Scheme Limit (as defined below) or
the minimum public float requirement as required under the
Listing Rules, or would otherwise cause our Company to issue
Shares in excess of the permitted amount in the mandate

approved by the Shareholders;

where an Award is to be satisfied by way of issue of new
Shares to the RSU Trustee, in any circumstances that cause
the total Shares issued or allotted to connected persons (as
defined under the Listing Rules) to be in excess of the amount

permitted in the mandate approved by the Shareholders;

where any Director of our Company is in possession of
unpublished inside information in relation to our Company or
where dealings by Directors of our Company are prohibited
under any code or requirement of the Listing Rules and all

applicable laws, rules or regulations, from time to time;

during the period of 60 days immediately preceding the
publication date of the annual results or, if shorter, the
period from the end of the relevant financial year up to the
publication date of the results, unless the circumstances
are exceptional, for example, where a pressing financial
commitment has to be met, in accordance with the Listing

Rules;
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(H) during the period of 30 days immediately preceding the
publication date of the quarterly results (if any) and the half-
year results or, if shorter, the period from the end of the
relevant quarterly or half-year period up to the publication
date of the results, unless the circumstances are exceptional,
for example, where a pressing financial commitment has to be

met, in accordance with the Listing Rules; and

(I) during any period of delay in the publication of a results

announcement.

(e) Maximum Number of Shares to be Granted

The aggregate number of Shares underlying all grants made pursuant to
the Post-IPO Share Award Scheme (excluding Award Shares which have
been forfeited in accordance with the Post-IPO Share Award Scheme)
will not exceed 10% Shares without Shareholders’ approval (the “Post-
IPO Share Award Scheme Limit") subject to an annual limited of 5% of

the total number of issued Shares at the relevant time.

Scheme Mandate

To the extent that the Post-IPO Share Award Scheme Limit is
subsequently increased by way of alteration of the Post-IPO Share Award
Scheme and our Company is required to issue and allot new shares
to satisfy any Awards in excess of any amount previously approved by
the Shareholders, our Company shall at a general meeting propose,
and the Shareholders shall consider and, if thought fit, pass an ordinary

resolution approving a mandate specifying:

(i) the maximum number of Shares that may be issued for this

purpose; and

(i) that the Board has the power to issue, allot, procure the transfer of
and otherwise deal with the Shares in connection with the Post-IPO

Share Award Scheme.

The mandate will remain in effect during the period from the passing
of the ordinary resolution granting the mandate until the variation
or revocation of such mandate by an ordinary resolution of the

Shareholders in a general meeting.

(e)
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(9)

POP MART

Rights attached to the Award

Save that the Board at its discretion may from time to time determine
that any dividends declared and paid by our Company in relation to
the Award Shares be paid to the selected participants even though the
Award Shares have not yet vested, the selected participant only has a
contingent interest in the Award Shares underlying an Award unless
and until such Award Shares are actually transferred to the selected
participant, nor does he/she have any rights to any related income until

the Award Shares vest.

Neither the selected participant nor the RSU Trustee may exercise any

voting rights in respect of any Award Shares that have not yet vested.

Rights attached to the Shares

Any Award Shares transferred to a selected participant in respect of any
Awards will be subject to all the provisions of the Memorandum and the
Articles and will form a single class with the fully paid Shares in issue on

the relevant date.

Issue of Shares and/or transfer of funds to the RSU Trustee

Our Company shall, as soon as reasonably practicable and no later than
30 business days from the Grant Date, (i) issue and allot Shares to the
RSU Trustee under the specific mandate sought from Shareholders
during the general meeting and/or (ii) transfer to the RSU Trustee the
necessary funds and instruct the RSU Trustee to acquire Shares through
on-market transactions at the prevailing market price, so as to satisfy the

Awards.

Our Company shall not issue or allot Shares nor instruct the RSU Trustee
to acquire Shares through on-market transactions at the prevailing
market price, where such action (as applicable) is prohibited under the
Listing Rules, the Securities and Futures Ordinance or other applicable
laws from time to time. Where such a prohibition causes the prescribed
timing imposed by the Post-IPO Share Award Scheme Rules or the trust
deed to be missed, such prescribed timing shall be treated as extended
until as soon as reasonably practicable after the first Business Day on

which the prohibition no longer prevents the relevant action.
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Assignment of Awards

Unless express written consent is obtained from the Board or the
committee of the Board or person(s) to which the Board has delegated
its authorities, any Award Shares granted under the Post-IPO Share
Award Scheme but not yet vested are personal to the selected
participants to whom they are granted and cannot be assigned or
transferred. A selected participant shall not in any way sell, transfer,
charge, mortgage, encumber or create any interest in favor of any other
person over or in relation to any Award, or enter into any agreement to

do so.

Vesting of Awards

The Board or its delegate(s) may from time to time while the Post-
IPO Share Award Scheme is in force and subject to all applicable laws,
determine such vesting criteria and conditions or periods for the Award

to be vested.

Within a reasonable time period as agreed between the RSU Trustee
and the Board from time to time prior to any Vesting Date, the Board
or its delegate(s) will send a vesting notice to the relevant selected
participant and instruct the RSU Trustee the extent to which the Award
Shares held in the trust shall be transferred and released from the trust
to the selected participant. Subject to the receipt of the vesting notice
and notification from the Board or its delegate(s), the RSU Trustee will
transfer and release the relevant Award in the manner as determined by

the Board or its delegate(s).

If, in the absolute discretion of the Board or its delegate(s), it is not
practicable for the selected participant to receive the Award in Shares,
solely due to legal or regulatory restrictions with respect to the selected
participant’s ability to receive the Award in Shares or the RSU Trustee's
ability to give effect to any such transfer to the selected participant, the
Board or its delegate(s) will direct and procure the RSU Trustee to sell,
on-market at the prevailing market price, the number of Award Shares
so vested in respect of the selected participant and pay the selected
participant the proceeds arising from such sale based on the actual
selling price of such Award Shares in cash as set out in the vesting

notice.

()
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If there is an event of change in control of our Company by way of a
merger, a privatization of our Company by way of a scheme or by way
of an offer, the Board or the committee of the Board or person(s) to
which the Board has delegated its authority shall at their sole discretion
determine whether the Vesting Dates of any Awards will be accelerated

to an earlier date.

Consolidation, subdivision, bonus issue and other distribution

In the event our Company undertakes a subdivision or consolidation
of the Shares, corresponding changes will be made to the number of
outstanding Award Shares that have been granted provided that the
adjustments shall be made in such manner as the Board determines to
be fair and reasonable in order to prevent dilution or enlargement of
the benefits or potential benefits intended to be made available under
the Post-IPO Share Award Scheme for the selected participants. All
fractional shares (if any) arising out of such consolidation or subdivision
in respect of the Award Shares of a selected participant shall be deemed
as returned shares and shall not be transferred to the relevant selected
participant on the relevant Vesting Date. The RSU Trustee shall hold
returned shares to be applied towards future Awards in accordance with
the provisions of the Post-IPO Share Award Scheme rules for the purpose
of the Post-IPO Share Award Scheme.

In the event of an issue of Shares by our Company credited as fully paid
to the holders of the Shares by way of capitalization of profits or reserves
(including share premium account), the Shares attributable to any Award
Shares held by the RSU Trustee shall be deemed to be an accretion
to such Award Shares and shall be held by the RSU Trustee as if they
were Award Shares purchased by the RSU Trustee hereunder and all the
provisions hereof in relation to the original Award Shares shall apply to

such additional Shares.

In the event of any non-cash distribution or other events not referred
to above by reason of which the Board considers an adjustment to an
outstanding Award to be fair and reasonable, an adjustment shall be
made to the number of outstanding Award Shares of each selected
participant as the Board shall consider as fair and reasonable, in order
to prevent dilution or enlargement of the benefits or potential benefits
intended to be made available under the Post-IPO Share Award Scheme
for the selected participants. Our Company shall provide such funds, or
such directions on application of the returned shares or returned trust
funds, as may be required to enable the RSU Trustee to purchase Shares

on-market at the prevailing market price to satisfy the additional Award.
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In the event of other non-cash and non-scrip distributions made by our
Company not otherwise referred to in the Post-IPO Share Award Scheme
rules in respect of the Shares held upon trust, the RSU Trustee shall sell
such distribution and the net sale proceeds thereof shall be deemed as
related income of the Post-IPO Award Shares or returned trust funds of

the returned Shares held upon trust as the case may be.

(m) Cessation of employment and other events

Except as otherwise determined by the Board or the committee of the
Board or person(s) to which the Board has delegated its authority, upon
termination of employment or service with our Company during the
applicable restriction period, Awards that are at that time unvested shall
be forfeited or repurchased in accordance with the terms and provisions
of the grant letter and/or award agreement to be entered into by
such selected participant; provided, however, that the Board or the
committee of the Board or person(s) to which the Board has delegated
its authority may (a) provide in any grant letter and/or award agreement
that restrictions or forfeiture and repurchase conditions relating to the
Awards will be waived in whole or in part in the event of terminations
resulting from specified causes; and (b) in other cases waive in whole or
in part restrictions or forfeiture and repurchase conditions relating to the

Awards.

If a selected participant ceases to be an Eligible Person for reasons other
than those stated this paragraph, any outstanding Award Shares and
related income not yet vested shall be immediately forfeited, unless
the Board or its delegate(s) determines otherwise at their absolute

discretion.
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(n) Alteration of the Post-IPO Share Award Scheme

POP MART

The Post-IPO Share Award Scheme may be altered in any respect (save

for the Post-IPO Share Award Scheme Limit) by a resolution of the Board

provided that no such alteration shall operate to affect adversely any

subsisting rights of any selected participant unless otherwise provided

for in the rules of the Post-IPO Share Award Scheme, except:

(i) with the consent in writing of selected participants amounting to
three-fourths in nominal value of all Award Shares held by the RSU
Trustee on that date; or

(i) with the sanction of a special resolution that is passed at a meeting
of the selected participants amounting to three-fourths in nominal
value of all Award Shares held by the RSU Trustee on that date.

Termination

The Post-IPO Share Award Scheme shall terminate on the earlier of:

0]

(if)

the end of the period of ten years commencing on the Listing
Date except in respect of any non-vested Award Shares granted
hereunder prior to the expiration of the Post-IPO Share Award
Scheme, for the purpose of giving effect to the vesting of such
Award Shares or otherwise as may be required in accordance with

the provisions of the Post-IPO Share Award Scheme; and

(such date of early termination as determined by the Board
provided that such termination shall not affect any subsisting rights
of any selected participant under the rules of the Post-IPO Share
Award Scheme, provided further that for the avoidance of doubt,
the change in the subsisting rights of a selected participant in this
paragraph refers solely to any change in the rights in respect of the

Award Shares already granted to a selected participant.
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(p) Administration of the Post-IPO Share Award Scheme

The Board has the power to administer the Post-IPO Share Award
Scheme in accordance with the rules of the Post-IPO Share Award
Scheme and, where applicable, the trust deed, including the power to
construe and interpret the rules of the Post-IPO Share Award Scheme
and the terms of the Awards granted under the Post-IPO Share Award
Scheme. The Board may delegate the authority to administer the Post-
IPO Share Award Scheme to a committee of the Board or other person(s)
as deemed appropriate at the sole discretion of the Board. The Board or
its delegate(s) may also appoint one or more independent third party
contractors to assist in the administration of the Post-IPO Share Award
Scheme as they think fit.

Grant of Shares under the Post-IPO Share Award Scheme

During the year ended 31 December 2020, no Shares had been granted
or agreed to be granted under the Post-IPO Share Award Scheme.

An application has been submitted to the Listing Committee for the
listing of, and permission to deal in, the Shares which may be issued

pursuant to the Post-IPO Share Award Scheme.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as disclosed in this annual report, no equity-linked agreement was

entered into by the Company at any time during or subsisted at the end of
the year ended 31 December 2020.

CHARITABLE DONATIONS

The donations made by the Group during the year ended 31 December 2020

amounted to RMB11.1 million.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES

During the period from the Listing Date to 31 December 2020, neither the

Company nor any of its subsidiaries or consolidated affiliated entities has

purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company's listed securities.
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USE OF NET PROCEEDS FROM LISTING

The Shares of the Company were listed on the Main Board of the Stock

Exchange on 11 December 2020 by way of global offering, raised total net

proceeds of approximately HK$ 5,781.7 million (the “Net Proceeds’) from the

global offering (including the full exercise of the over-allotment option) after

deducting professional fees, underwriting commissions and other related

listing expenses.

As stated in the Prospectus, the intended uses of the IPO proceeds are set

out below:

EHRERERERAR

RATRMDT2020F 12 811 BRBEHBERE
BMIRERLET  KHGEEER  BEES

SRS RIRF

N EAMERE LT RHE - g

#B(RRBBUITERRELRE) S0 /57817
BEET ((REHEFEHE]) -

MBI EIR P - ER AR BEE S RIEY

¥ERAmEyImT
Amount of Balance of

Net Proceeds

Net Proceeds

utilizedupto  unutilizedasat  Intended
31 December, 31 December, timetable for
Percentage of 2020 2020  use of the
total EZ2020F 20206  unutilized
Allocation of ~ Net proceeds 12A31H 12A31H  Net Proceeds
Net Proceeds 4 EELL HAEBR BRAXDA
Intended use of Net Proceeds FiBRE FBHE FBNE FRNE FMERETFE
FEREFEREAR RENIE FHEASH BHELE BERE  NRERBX
(i) Tofinance part of our expansion plans of consumer HK$1,734.5 million 30.0% HK$28.5 million  HKS$1,706.0 million  Before
access channels and overseas markets 17345BBETT B5EBEIL  17060BBBL 31 December, 2024
AR RN EEEBEREREITSERNE 2024%12 4311
BREHES ZH0
(a) for opening new retail stores HK$954.0 million 16.5% HKS24.2 million  HK$929.8 million
ARESNTEE 9540E BT UIABETL  9SEEAT
(b) for opening new roboshops HK$346.9 million 6.0% HKS3.2 million  HKS$343.6 million
ARERIHEABE 3469B AT EBET  3M36EEAET
() for expanding our business into overseas markets HK$433.7 million 7.5% HKS1.0 million  HK$432.6 million
ARBEREBZEINTS 337BBET 10EBABT  26EEAET
(i)~ Tofund our potential investments in, acquisitions of HK$1,561.1 million 27.0% - HKS$1,561.1 million  Before

and strategic alliance with companies along the value
chain of our industry

ARREERE  WBATEBEELTRARR
HZENRRY SRS
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EEaREE
Amount of Balance of
Net Proceeds Net Proceeds
utilizedupto  unutilizedasat  Intended
31 December, 31 December,  timetable for
Percentage of 2020 2020 use of the
total EZ2020% R2020%  unutilized
Allocation of  Net proceeds 12A31H 12A31H  Net Proceeds
Net Proceeds 4 EELEEY MABHR BDAKHA
Intended use of Net Proceeds FgaE FSRE FBNE FBNE  FEFRETE
FEREFERERR BENDE BEADL REeE RERE  NRERBX
(i) Toinvest in technology initiatives to strengthen our HK$867.2 million 15.0% HK$3.3 million  HK$864.0 million
marketing and fan engagement efforts, and to enhance 8672BEBTL 33EBAET SC40BEBAET
the digitalization of our business
ARRERMEE  NERRMNEHRNGE2E
NERRAZBNHEFIZE
(@) for talent recruitment HK$173.5 million 3.0% HKS0.1 million  HK$173.4 million  Before
ARAT 5 1735B8ET O.IEEBAT  1734BEHET 31 December, 2023
2023%12A31H
Z Bl
(b) for acquiring relevant software and hardware to HK$346.9 million 6.0% HKS0.2 million  HKS$346.7 million  Before
enhance digitalization and establish information 3469B BB 02BBAT  3467BEBT 31 December, 2024
systems for digital marketing, customer services, 2024128311
logistics, products, supply chain, warehousing, Al
membership, transactions and store management
and marketing
AREERBRG REHAIRET - W
VRARETFEH TPRE R Em o
[ B 88  RHURFIEEEREH
MERRS
(c) for optimizing our online marketing efforts, HK$346.9 million 6.0% HKS3.0 million  HKS$343.9 million  Before
which primarily consist of strategically placed 3469BEBTT 30ABAT  3439BEBT 31 December, 2024

advertisement, icons, links and news feeds on
third party promotional platforms
ARBLEMNE EHIE  FEREHRK
WHEE=FHRETALRNES BE - #
BERERER
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Amount of
Net Proceeds

Balance of
Net Proceeds

utilizedupto  unutilizedasat  Intended
31 December, 31 December,  timetable for
Percentage of 2020 2020 use of the
total EZ2020% R2020%  unutilized
Allocation of  Net proceeds 12A31H 12A31H  Net Proceeds
Net Proceeds 4 EELEEY MABHR BDAKHA
Intended use of Net Proceeds FgaE FSRE FBNE FBNE  FEFRETE
FEREFERERR BENDE BEADL FHELH RERE  NRERBX
(iv)  To expand our IP pool HKS$1,040.7 million 18.0% HKS0.7 million  HK$1,040.0 million
ARERBMBIPE 10407 BBAT 0TEBAT  10400EBHET
(@ forenhancing our ability to identify outstanding HK$260.3 million 4.5% HKS0.7 million  HKS$259.6 million  Before
artists 603BEAT 07EBAT  2596A&AEIL 31 December, 2024
AR MR M EBAEMRMNEE 2024F128318
Z i
(b) for recruiting talented designers to join our in- HK$86.6 million 1.5% HKS0.1 million HK$86.5 million  Before
house design team to enhance our in-house 86.6BEBTT 0IBABAT 865HEBMBIL 31 December, 2023
original IP development capability by providing 2023124311
competitive salary |
RRAREAERENNFENAAREES
ERREMMARK MM AIRTEL - LAE5R
FAONLRANPERE D
() foracquisitions of popular IPs from to expand our HK$693.9 million 12.0% - HKS$693.9 million  Before
P pool 6939 B BB 693.9HEETT 31 December, 2024
RIS B0 P LUB A B MMIPE 2024128318
Z i
(v)  Working capital and general corporate purposes HK$578.17 million 10.0%  HKS149.0 million  HK$429.2 million  Before

BEES N ROFIRE

57817BEBT

The Group will utilise the Net Proceeds of the initial public offering in

accordance with the intended purposes as set out in the Prospectus.
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COMPLIANCE WITH THE CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
CODE

The Company is committed to maintaining high corporate governance
standards. Information on the corporate governance practices adopted by
the Company is set out in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 74 to

93 of this annual report.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee of the Company, together with the management and
the external auditor, had reviewed the accounting policies and practices
adopted by the Group as well as the internal control matters, and had also
reviewed the Group'’s consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2020.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the ended 31

December 2020 have been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers.
PricewaterhouseCoopers shall retire and being eligible, offer itself for re-

appointment, and a resolution to this effect shall be proposed at the AGM.

Since the Listing Date, the auditors of the Company have not changed.

On behalf of the Board
Mr. Wang Ning

Chairman of the Board

Hong Kong, 26 March 2021
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The Board of the Company is committed to maintaining high corporate
governance standards. The Board believes that high corporate governance
standards are essential in providing a framework for the Company to
safeguard the interests of Shareholders and to enhance corporate value and

accountability.

Since the shares of the Company were listed on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange on 11 December 2020, the Company has adopted the principles
and code provisions as set out in the CG Code contained in Appendix 14
to the Listing Rules and complied with the applicable code provisions
throughout the period from the Listing Date to the date of this annual report,

save for deviation from code provision A.2.1 as disclosed below.

The Company is committed to enhancing its corporate governance practices
appropriate to the conduct and the growth of its business and to reviewing
such practices from time to time to ensure that they comply with statutory

and professional standards and align with the latest development.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board oversees the Group's businesses, strategic decisions and
performance and takes decisions objectively in the best interest of the

Company.

The Board has delegated the authority and responsibilities for day-to-day
management and operation of the Group to the senior management of the
Group. To oversee particular aspects of the Company’s affairs, the Board
has established three Board committees including the Audit Committee,
the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee. The Board
has delegated to the Board committees responsibilities as set out in their
respective terms of reference. All Board committees are provided with

sufficient resources to perform their duties.
The Board regularly reviews the contribution required from a Director to

perform his/her responsibilities to the Company, and whether the Director is

spending sufficient time performing them.
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Board Composition

The Board currently comprises nine Directors, consisting of four executive
Directors, two non-executive Directors and three independent non-executive

Directors. The current members of the Board of the Company are listed as

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EREBRSE

EEEAMR

E=ZSRHMNBREFEN  BREENAATE
F O WMEHPTEER="BBILIFATES -
ARRREEFEEXNERENT

follows:

Name Position in the Company ®E RAR T B

Mr. Wang Ning Executive Director, Chairman of the Board and FTERLE BITER EFFEFFER
Chief Executive Officer TTIRABE

Ms. Yang Tao Executive Director and Vice President BEsZt PITEERBIER

Ms. Liu Ran Executive Director and Vice President 2/t BITEE RBIRE

Mr. Si De Executive Director, Chief Operating Officer and RIEIE BITEE BREZXER
President of China Business AR RS AR

Mr. Tu Zheng Non-executive Director Bkt FEITES

Mr. He Yu Non-executive Director OVt EMITES

Mr. Zhang Jianjun Independent non-executive Director RER LA B IEMITESE

Mr. Wu Liansheng Independent non-executive Director RE S E B IEITES

Mr. Ngan King Leung Gary  Independent non-executive Director AR e BYUERITES

The list of Directors (by category) is also disclosed in all corporate
communications issued by the Company from time to time pursuant to
the Listing Rules. The independent non-executive Directors are expressly

identified in all corporate communications pursuant to the Listing Rules.

The biographical information of the Directors is set out in the section headed

“Biographies of Directors and Senior Management” of this annual report.

Save as disclosed in the Prospectus and this annual report, to the best
knowledge of the Company, there are no financial, business, family, or other

material relationships among members of the Board.

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Code provision A.2.1 of the CG Code stipulates that the roles of chairman
and chief executive should be segregated and should not be performed by
the same individual. According to the current structure of the Board, the
positions of the Chairman and Chief Executive Officer of the Company are
held by Mr. Wang Ning.
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The Board believes that this structure will not impair the balance of power
and authority between the Board and the management of the Company,
given that: (i) decision to be made by the Board requires approval by at least
a majority of the Directors and that the Board comprises three independent
non-executive Directors out of nine Directors, and the Board believes there
is sufficient check and balance on the Board; (i) Mr. Wang Ning and the
other Directors are aware of and undertake to fulfil their fiduciary duties as
Directors, which require, among other things, that they act for the benefit
and in the best interests of the Company and will make decisions of the
Group accordingly; and (iii) the balance of power and authority is ensured by
the operations of the Board which comprises experienced and high caliber
individuals who meet regularly to discuss issues affecting the operations of
the Group. Moreover, the overall strategic and other key business, financial
and operational policies of the Group are made collectively after thorough
discussion at both the Board and senior management levels. Finally, as Mr.
Wang Ning is our principal founder, the Board believes that vesting the roles
of both chairman and chief executive officer in the same person has the
benefit of ensuring consistent leadership within the Group and enables more
effective and efficient overall strategic planning for the Group. The Board will
continue to review the effectiveness of the corporate governance structure
of the Group in order to assess whether separation of the roles of chairman

and chief executive officer is necessary.

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Since the Listing Date to the date of this annual report, the Board at all times
met the requirements of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment of
at least three independent non-executive Directors representing at least
one-third of the Board with one of whom possessing appropriate professional

qualifications or accounting or related financial management expertise.

The Company has received written annual confirmation from each of the
independent non-executive Directors in respect of his independence in
accordance with the independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules. The Company is of the view that all independent non-executive

Directors are independent and remain so as of the date of this annual report.
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Appointment and Re-election of Directors

Each of the executive Directors has entered into a service agreement with
the Company for a term of three years commencing from the Listing Date,

which are subject to termination in accordance with their respective terms.

Each of the non-executive Directors has entered into a service agreement
with the Company for a term of three years commencing from the Listing
Date, which are subject to termination in accordance with their respective

terms.

Each of the independent non-executive Directors was engaged on a letter
of appointment for a term of three years commencing from the Listing Date
and shall be subject to retirement by rotation once every three years.

All Directors will hold office subject to provision of retirement and rotation
of directors under the Articles of Association. Pursuant to the Articles of
Association, at every annual general meeting of the Company one-third of
the Directors for the time being (or, if their number is not three or a multiple
of three, then the number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall
retire from office by rotation and be eligible for re-election, provided that
every Director (including those appointed for a specific term) is subject to
retirement by rotation at least once every three years. Any person appointed
by the Board to fill a temporary vacancy on or as an addition to the Board
shall hold office only until the next general meeting of the Company, and
shall then be eligible for re-election.

Responsibilities, Accountabilities and Contributions of the
Board and Management

The Board should assume responsibility for leadership and control of the
Company and is collectively responsible for directing and supervising the
Company's affairs.

The Board directly, and indirectly through its committees, leads and provides
direction to the management by laying down strategies and overseeing their
implementation, monitors the Group's operational and financial performance,
and ensures that sound internal control and risk management systems are in

place.

All Directors, including independent non-executive Directors, have
brought a wide spectrum of valuable business experience, knowledge and
professionalism to the Board for its efficient and effective functioning. The
independent non-executive Directors are responsible for ensuring a high
standard of regulatory reporting of the Company and providing a balance
in the Board for bringing effective independent judgement on corporate

actions and operations.
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All Directors have full and timely access to all the information of the
Company and may, upon request, seek independent professional advice in
appropriate circumstances, at the Company's expenses for discharging their

duties to the Company.

The Directors shall disclose to the Company details of other offices held by

them.

The Board reserves for its decisions on all major matters relating to policy
matters, strategies and budgets, internal control and risk management,
material transactions (in particular those that may involve conflict of
interests), financial information, appointment of directors and other
significant operational matters of the Company. Responsibilities relating
to implementing decisions of the Board, directing and co-ordinating the
daily operation and management of the Company are delegated to the

management.

The Board has clearly set out the circumstances under which the
management should report to and obtain prior approval from the Board
before making decisions or entering into any commitments on behalf of the
Company. The Board regularly reviews the above said circumstances and

ensures they remain appropriate.

The Company has arranged appropriate insurance coverage on Directors’ and
officers’ liabilities in respect of any legal action taken against them arising
out of corporate activities. The insurance coverage would be reviewed on an

annual basis.

Continuous Professional Development of Directors

Directors shall keep abreast of regulatory developments and changes in
order to effectively perform their responsibilities and to ensure that their

contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant.

Every newly appointed Director has received a formal and comprehensive
induction on the first occasion of his/her appointment to ensure appropriate
understanding of the business and operations of the Company and full
awareness of Director’s responsibilities and obligations under the Listing
Rules and relevant statutory requirements. Such induction shall be
supplemented by visits to the Company's key place of business and meetings

with senior management of the Company.
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Directors should participate in appropriate continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills.
Internally-facilitated briefings for Directors would be arranged and reading
materials on relevant topics would be provided to Directors where
appropriate. All Directors are encouraged to attend relevant training courses

at the Company's expenses.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Company organized training
sessions conducted by the legal advisers for all Directors. The training
sessions covered a wide range of relevant topics including directors’ duties
and responsibilities, continuing connected transaction, disclosure of interests
and regulatory updates. In addition, relevant reading materials including
compliance manual/legal and regulatory updates/seminar handouts have

been provided to the Directors for their reference and studying.

The training records of the Directors for the year ended 31 December 2020

are summarized as follows:

conferences and workshops

relevant to the Company’s

Attending training,

briefings, seminars,

industry and business,
director’s duties and/or

corporate governance
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Reading news alerts,
newspapers, journals,
magazines and publications
relevant to the Company’s
industry and business,
director’s duties and/or

corporate governance

EADNRITERER BIEEAQAETERER -
ESHER ALEER ESHER NLEER
BBEME - BNE - HHE BENTERA - KE
Name of Directors EEHF EBRRIEHEERBR B - BERERY
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Wang Ning (Chairman of the Board) TELE (EE2ER) \/ \/
Ms. Yang Tao e v v
Ms. Liu Ran gt v v
Mr. Si De AlEkE v v
Non-executive Directors FHITES
Mr. Tu Zheng | v v
Mr. He Yu AIREE v v
Independent non-executive Directors BIYFHTES
Mr. Zhang Jianjun REELE v v
Mr. Wu Liansheng REERAE v v
Mr. Ngan King Leung Gary BEYREE v \

—Z=ZF 535 ANNUAL REPORT 2020 J POP MART

79



80

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT
EREBRE

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three committees namely, the Audit Committee,
the Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee, each of which
has been delegated responsibilities and reports back to the Board. The roles
and functions of these committees are set out in their respective terms of
reference. The terms of reference of each of these committees will be revised
from time to time to ensure that they continue to meet the needs of the
Company and to ensure compliance with the CG Code where applicable. The
terms of reference of the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee
and the Nomination Committee are posted on the Company's website and

the Stock Exchange's website and are available to Shareholders upon request.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee comprises three members, including two independent
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Wu Liansheng and Mr. Ngan King
Leung Gary and one non-executive Director, namely Mr. Tu Zheng. Mr. Wu

Liansheng is the chairman of the Audit Committee.

The terms of reference of the Audit Committee are of no less exacting terms
than those set out in the CG Code. The main duties of the Audit Committee
are to assist the Board in reviewing the financial information and reporting
process, risk management and internal control systems, effectiveness of the
internal audit function, scope of audit and appointment of external auditors,
provide advice and comments to the Board and arrangements to enable
employees of the Company to raise concerns about possible improprieties in

financial reporting, internal control or other matters of the Company.

During the period from the Listing Date and up to 31 December 2020, the
Audit Committee held one meeting, during which matters such as significant
issues on the financial reporting, operational and compliance controls,
effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems and

internal audit function.

The Audit Committee considers that the annual financial results for the year
ended 31 December 2020 are in compliance with the relevant accounting
standards, rules and regulations and appropriate disclosures have been duly

made.

The Audit Committee also met the external auditors once without the

presence of the executive Directors.
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Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee comprises three members, including two
independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Zhang Jianjun and Mr. Wu
Liansheng and one executive Directors, namely Mr. Wang Ning. Mr. Zhang

Jianjun is the chairman of the Remuneration Committee.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee are of no less
exacting terms than those set out in the CG Code. The primary functions of
the Remuneration Committee include making recommendations to the Board
on the remuneration packages of individual executive Directors and senior
management, making recommendations to the Board on the Company’s
remuneration policy and structure for all Directors and senior management;
establishing a formal and transparent procedure for developing remuneration
policy to ensure that no Director or any of his/her associates will participate

in deciding his/her own remuneration.

During the period from the Listing Date and up to 31 December 2020, the
Remuneration Committee held one meeting, during which matters such as
the remuneration packages of the Directors and other related matters were

discussed.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee comprises three members, including
one executive Director, namely Mr. Wang Ning and two independent
non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Zhang Jianjun and Mr. Wu Liansheng. Mr

Wang Ning is the chairman of the Nomination Committee.

The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee are of no less exacting
terms than those set out in the CG Code. The principal duties of the
Nomination Committee include reviewing the structure, size and diversity
required of the Board annually and making recommendations on any
proposed change to the Board to complement the Company's corporate
strategy; monitoring the implementation of diversity policy for board
members, and assessing the independence of independent non-executive

Directors.

During the period from the Listing Date and up to 31 December 2020, the
Nomination Committee held one meeting, during which matters such as
structure, size and composition of the Board were discussed. The Nomination
Committee considered an appropriate balance of diversity perspectives of

the Board is maintained.
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In accordance with the Articles of Association, Directors shall be elected by
the general meeting with a term of three years and may serve consecutive
terms if re-elected. Any person appointed by the Board to fill a temporary
vacancy or as an addition to the Board shall hold office only until the next

general meeting of the Company, and shall then be eligible for re-election.

At the expiry of a Director’s term, the Director may stand for re-election and
reappointment for further term. Subject to the compliance of the provisions
of the relevant laws and administrative regulations, the general meeting of
the Shareholders may dismiss by ordinary resolution any Directors of whom
the term of office has not expired (the claim for compensation under any

contracts shall however be not affected).

The procedures for the appointment, re-election and removal of directors
are set out in the Articles of Association. The Nomination Committee
will identify individuals suitably qualified to become directors and make
recommendations to the Board on the selection of individuals. The
Nomination Committee will determine the composition of board members
based on a range of diversity perspectives, including but not limited to
gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity, professional
experience, skills, knowledge and length of service. The Nomination
Committee will also make recommendations to the Board of Directors on
the appointment or re-appointment of directors and succession planning for
directors (in particular the Chairman of the Board of Directors and the general
manager), taking into account the Company's corporate strategy and mix of

skills, knowledge, experience and diversity needed in the future.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY AND NOMINATION
POLICY

The Board has adopted the Board Diversity Policy which sets out the basic
principles to be followed to ensure that the board has the appropriate
balance of skills, experience and diversity of perspectives necessary to
enhance the effectiveness of the Board and to maintain high standards of

corporate governance.

The Board has also adopted the Nomination Policy which sets out the
nomination procedures for selecting candidates for election as Directors of
the Board of the Group. The policy is adopted by the Board and administered

by the Nomination Committee.
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Selection of board candidates shall be based on amongst others, character
and integrity, qualifications, willingness to devote adequate time and a range
of diversity perspectives with reference to the Company’s business model

and specific needs.

Selection and recommendation of candidates will be based on the
nomination procedures and the process and criteria adopted by the
Nomination Committee and a number of perspectives, including but not
limited to gender, age, cultural and educational background, industry
experience, technical and professional skills and/or qualifications, knowledge,
length of services, personal integrity and time commitments of the proposed
candidates. The Company should also take into account factors relating to
its own business model and specific needs from time to time. The ultimate
decision is based on merit and contribution that the selected candidates will

bring to the Board.

The Nomination Committee shall review the Board Diversity Policy and
the Nomination Policy and the measurable objectives periodically, and as

appropriate, to ensure the continued effectiveness of the Board.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board is responsible for performing the functions set out in the code
provision D.3.1 of the CG Code.

During the period from the Listing Date to the date of this annual report, the
Board had reviewed the Company’s policies and practices on compliance
with legal and regulatory requirements, training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management, the corporate
governance policies and practices, the compliance of the Model Code, and
the Company's compliance with the CG Code and the disclosure in this

Corporate Governance Report.

BOARD MEETINGS AND DIRECTORS’ ATTENDANCE
RECORDS

As the Company was only listed on the Stock Exchange on 11 December
2020, only on Board meeting was held during the period from the Listing
Date to the date of this report. However, the Company in accordance with
code provision A.1.1 of the CG Code, expects to convene Board meetings
regularly with at least four times a year, and at approximately quarterly
intervals with active participation of majority of the Directors, either in person

or through electronic means of communication.
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EEERRE

The attendance records of each Director at the Board and Board committee

RETHHEERFREMYE  SEENE

meetings of the Company held during the period from the Listing Date to EghEFLZEgeRNRLHEIINNT

the date of this annual report are set out below:

Attendance/Number of Meeting(s)
HERER, EERE

Audit Remuneration Nomination

Board Committee Committee = Committee General
meeting(s) Meeting(s) meeting(s) meeting(s) meeting(s)
EREEE FHMZEEE REEET
Name of Directors BEEHA EEE =E =] =f BRAE
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Wang Ning FELE 1/1 N/A 1/1 1/1 N/A
3 A N3 A
Ms. Yang Tao BEzt 11 N/A N/A N/A N/A
T8 A T3 A TR @A
Ms. Liu Ran 21t 1/1 N/A N/A N/A N/A
TEA iE A TEA A
Mr. Si De AlfEsAE /1 N/A N/A N/A N/A
N3 A A3 A N3 A N3 A
Non-executive Directors FHITES
Mr. Tu Zheng B4 1/1 11 N/A N/A N/A
TEHA N3 A N iE A
Mr. He Yu Al RS Il N/A N/A N/A N/A
AN A AN R AN A AN A
Independent non-executive BIYFHTES
Directors
Mr. Zhang Jianjun RER LA 1/1 N/A 11 11 N/A
N3 A AN
Mr. Wu Liansheng REGHE S /1 11 11 11 N/A
AN iE A
Mr. Ngan King Leung Gary B RAEAE i 11 N/A N/A N/A
A i A i A

Note:  The Company was listed on 11 December 2020, and hence no AGM was held

in 2020.
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Notices of not less than 14 days will be given for all regular Board meetings
to provide all Directors with an opportunity to attend and include matters
in the agenda for a regular meeting. For other Board and Board committee

meetings, reasonable notice will be generally given.

Board papers together with all appropriate, complete and reliable
information are sent to all Directors at least three days before each Board
meeting or committee meeting to keep the Directors apprised of the latest
developments and financial position of the Company and to enable them to
make informed decisions. The Board and each Director also have separate

and independent access to the senior management whenever necessary.

The senior management attends all regular Board meetings and where
necessary, other Board and committee meetings to advise on business
developments, financial and accounting matters, statutory and regulatory

compliance, corporate governance and other major aspects of the Company.

The company secretary is responsible for taking and keeping minutes of
all Board meetings and committee meetings. Draft minutes are normally
circulated to Directors for comment within a reasonable time after each

meeting and the final version is open for Directors’ inspection.

The Articles of Association contain provisions requiring Directors to abstain
from voting and not to be counted in the quorum at meetings for approving
transactions in which such Directors or any of their associates have potential

or actual conflicts of interests.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Board acknowledges its responsibility for the risk management and
internal control systems and reviewing their effectiveness. Such systems
are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve
business objectives, and can only provide reasonable but not absolute

assurance against material misstatement or loss.

The Board has the overall responsibility for evaluating and determining the
nature and extent of the risks it is willing to take in achieving the Company’s
strategic objectives, and establishing and maintaining appropriate and

effective risk management and internal control systems.
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The Audit Committee assists the Board in leading the management
and overseeing the design, implementation and monitoring of the risk
management and internal control systems. Heads of departments manage

risks through identification, evaluation and mitigation of risk identified.

Risk management mainly includes four major areas: risks identification, risks

assessment, risks response and risk monitoring and reporting.

Risk identification: each business and functional department and its
subsidiaries conducts, once in a year, an identification of potential internal
and external risks in its respective operation processes. During risks
identification, references are mainly made to the impact the risks have on the
Company's objectives, and major problems or risk incidents in the business

activities for the past year.

Risk assessment: according to the risks assessment standards, each business
and functional department and its subsidiaries reviews the risks identified,
and assesses the possibilities of occurrence and the extents of impacts in
order to screen out the significant risks. The Group adopts a combination of
bottom-up and top-down risk assessment procedures to fully identify all of
the Group's significant risks, which are then given rankings. Significant risks
are then reported to the appropriate management level, Audit Committee
and the Board. A final list of significant risks is confirmed after thorough

communication and discussion.

Risks response: the responsible department of the identified risks formulates
a risk response plan by properly applying methods such as risk avoidance, risk
reduction, risk sharing and risk acceptance, with consideration of the Group's
level of risk tolerance. This allows the Group to properly allocate resources for
risk mitigation or improvements on risk response measures, with an aim to

reduce the overall risk of the Group to an acceptable level.
Risk monitoring and reporting: risk monitoring and reporting are carried

out by integrating the use of risk warning indicators, internal auditing and

periodic summarized risk reports.
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We endeavour to uphold the integrity of our business by maintaining
an internal control system into our organisational structure. Our internal
control and risk management systems cover, among others, corporate
governance, operations, management, legal matters, finance and auditing.
Our internal audit department reviewed our internal control system and we
have implemented and will continue to implement the relevant suggestions
they proposed/propose. Our internal audit department (the “Internal Audit
Department’) performed a review of the adequacy and effectiveness of
the risk management and internal control systems over our major business
processes. The Company has established risk management systems with
relevant policies and procedures that we believe are appropriate for our

business operations.

The Internal Audit Department conducted a follow-up review (the “Internal
Control Review") on, among others, control environment, risk assessment,
control activities, information and communication, monitoring activities such
as revenue cycle, procurement cycle, expenditure cycle, etc. and provided

recommendations to enhance the internal control system of our Group.

We have adopted and implemented the recommendations provided by
the Internal Audit Department and the Internal Audit Department has not
identified any material findings which may have material impact on the

effectiveness of our internal control system.

Based on the result of the Internal Control Review, the Board, as supported
by the Audit Committee, reviewed the risk management and internal control
systems, including the financial, operational and compliance controls, for
the year ended 31 December 2020, and considered that such systems
are effective and adequate. The annual review also covered the financial
reporting, internal audit function, adequacy of resources, staff qualifications
and experiences, training programmes and budget of the Company's

accounting, internal audit and financial reporting functions.
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WHISTLEBLOWING POLICY

The Company has adopted arrangement to facilitate employees and other
stakeholders to raise concerns, in confidence, about possible improprieties in

financial reporting, internal control or other matters.

The Audit Committee of the Company shall review such arrangement
regularly and ensure that proper arrangements are in place for fair and
independent investigation of these matters and for appropriate follow-up

action.

INSIDE INFORMATION

The Company is aware of and strictly complies with the requirements of
the currently applicable laws, regulations and guidelines, including the
obligations to disclose inside information under the SFO and the Listing
Rules, and the Guidelines on Disclosure of Inside Information issued by the
Securities and Futures Commission, at the time when the relevant businesses
are transacted. The Group has established the authority and accountability,
as well as the handling and dissemination procedures in relation to inside
information, and has communicated to all relevant personnel and provided
them with specific trainings in respect of the implementation of the

continuous disclosure policy.

The Board considers that the Company's handling and dissemination

procedures and measures in relation to inside information are effective.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in Appendix 10 to the
Listing Rules. Specific enquiries have been made to all the Directors and all
the Directors have confirmed that they have complied with the Model Code

from the Listing Date up to the date of this annual report.

The Company's employees, who are likely to be in possession of unpublished

inside information of the Company, are also subject to the Model Code.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY IN RESPECT OF
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the financial

statements of the Company for the year ended 31 December 2020.

The Board is responsible for presenting a balanced, clear and understandable
assessment of annual and interim reports, announcements relating to
disclosure of insider information and other disclosures required under the

Listing Rules and other statutory and regulatory requirements.

The management has provided to the Board such explanation and
information as are necessary to enable the Board to carry out an informed
assessment of the Company’s financial statements, which are put to the

Board for approval.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the Group's ability to

continue as a going concern.

The statement of the independent auditor of the Company about their
reporting responsibilities on the consolidated financial statements is set out

in the Independent Auditor’s Report of this annual report.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The total fee paid/payable to the external auditors of the Company,
PricewaterhouseCoopers, in respect of audit services and non-audit services

for the year ended 31 December 2020 is set out below:
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Fee paid/payable

o ENER

Category of services RMB’ 000

RS ER AR¥T

Audit services EAZRTS 3,000
Non-audit services IEZERTS

— other consultation service - H AR 150

Total a5t 3,150
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JOINT COMPANY SECRETARIES

Mr. Li Hongxuan (“Mr. Li") and Ms. Li Ching Yi ("Ms. Li") are the joint company

secretaries of the Company.

Mr. Li joined the Group in April 2019 and has been serving as a senior
manager in charge of investor relationship. Prior to that, Mr. Li served as a
senior associate of investment banking department of CSC Financial Co., Ltd.
from December 2014 to January 2019 and a senior associate of innovative
financing department of CSC Financial Co., Ltd. from February 2019 to March
2019.

Ms. Li is @ manager of the Listing Corporate Services Department of Trident
Corporate Services (Asia) Ltd., a global professional services firm. She has
around 10 years of professional experience in company secretarial field. Ms.
Li is an associate member of The Chartered Governance Institute (formerly
known as The Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators) in the
United Kingdom and the Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries. Ms. Li
has assisted on the Company Secretarial matters of the Company and has

closely communicated with Mr. Li.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, each of Mr. Li and Ms. Li has

undertaken not less than 15 hours of relevant professional training.

COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS AND
INVESTORS

The Company considers that effective communication with Shareholders
is essential for enhancing investor relations and investor understanding
of the Group's business performance and strategies. The Company also
recognizes the importance of transparency and timely disclosure of corporate
information, which will enable Shareholders and investors to make the best

investment decisions.

The Company endeavours to maintain an on-going dialogue with
Shareholders and in particular, through annual general meetings and other
general meetings. The general meetings of the Company provide a platform
for communication between the Board and the Shareholders. The chairman
of the Board as well as chairmen of the Audit Committee, the Remuneration
Committee and the Nomination Committee or, in their absence, other
members of the respective committees, are available to answer Shareholders’
questions at general meetings. The external auditor of the Company is also
invited to attend the annual general meetings of the Company to answer
questions about the conduct of audit, the preparation and content of the

auditor’s report, the accounting policies and auditor independence.
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To promote effective communication, the Company maintains a website
(www.popmart.com), where information and updates on the Company's
financial information, corporate governance practices, biographical
information of the Board and other information are available for public

access.

SHAREHOLDERS' RIGHTS

To safeguard Shareholders’ interests and rights, separate resolution should be
proposed for each substantially separate issue at general meetings, including
the election of Director. All resolutions put forward at general meetings will
be voted on by poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and poll results will be
posted on the websites of the Company and of the Stock Exchange after

each general meeting.

Procedures for Shareholders to Convene Extraordinary General
Meeting

Article 12.3 of the Articles of Association provides that general meetings shall
be convened on the written requisition of any one or more members holding
together, as at the date of deposit of the requisition, shares representing not
less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company which carry the
right of voting at general meetings of the Company. The written requisition
shall be deposited at the principal office of the Company in Hong Kong or, in
the event the Company ceases to have such a principal office, the registered
office of the Company, specifying the objects of the meeting and signed by

the requisitionist(s).

If the Board does not within 21 days from the date of deposit of the
requisition proceed duly to convene the meeting to be held within a further
21 days, the requisitionist(s) themselves or any of them representing more
than one-half of the total voting rights of all of them, may convene the
general meeting in the same manner, as nearly as possible, as that in which
meetings may be convened by the Board provided that any meeting so
convened shall not be held after the expiration of three months from the
date of deposit of the requisition, and all reasonable expenses incurred by
the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed

to them by the Company.
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Procedures for shareholders to propose a person for election as
a director

For proposal of a person for election as Director, pursuant to Article 16.4
of the Articles of Association, no person shall, unless recommended by the
Board, be eligible for election to the office of Director at any general meeting
unless during the period, which shall be at least seven days, commencing
no earlier than the day after the despatch of the notice of the meeting
appointed for such election and ending no later than seven days prior to
the date of such meeting, there has been given to the Secretary notice in
writing by a member of the Company (not being the person to be proposed),
entitled to attend and vote at the meeting for which such notice is given, of
his intention to propose such person for election and also notice in writing

signed by the person to be proposed of his willingness to be elected.

Base on this, if a Shareholder wishes to propose a person (the “Candidate”)
for election as a Director at a general meeting, he/she shall deposit a written
notice at the Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong at 14/F.,
Golden Centre, 188 Des Voeux Road Central, Hong Kong. The notice must
(i) include the personal information of the Candidate as required by Rule
13.51(2) of the Listing Rules; and (ii) be signed by the Shareholder concerned
and signed by the Candidate indicating his/her willingness to be elected and

consent of publication of his/her personal information.

Putting Forward Proposals at General Meetings

There are no provisions in the Articles of Association or in the Companies
Law of the Cayman Islands for putting forward proposals of new resolutions
by Shareholders at general meetings. Shareholders who wish to move
forward a resolution may request the Company to convene a general
meeting in accordance with the procedures mentioned above. For proposing
a person for election as a Director, please refer to the procedures set out in

the preceding paragraph.
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Putting Forward Enquiries to the Board

For putting forward any enquiry to the Board, Shareholders may send written
enquiries to the Company. The Company will not normally deal with verbal

Or anonymous enquiries.

Shareholders may send their enquiries or requests as mentioned above to
the following:

Address:  Floor 36 & 37, Block A, Puxiang Center
Hongtai East Street

Dawangjing Technology Business Park
Chaoyang District, Beijing

PRC

(For the attention of the Board of Directors)
Email: ir@popmart.com

For the avoidance of doubt, Shareholders must deposit and send the original
duly signed written requisition, notice or statement, or enquiry (as the case
may be) to the above address and provide their full name, contact details
and identification in order to give effect thereto. Shareholders' information

may be disclosed as required by law.

Change in Constitutional Documents

The Company adopted amended and restated Articles of Association on
23 November 2020, which has been effective from the Listing Date. During
the period from the Listing Date to the date of this annual report, no other
changes have been made to the said Articles of Association. The Articles
of Association is available on the websites of the Company and the Stock

Exchange.

Dividend Policy

The Company has adopted a dividend policy on payment of dividends, and
details are provided in the “Report of Directors” on pages 36 to 73 of this

annual report.
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2020 ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

2020 FB1E - HEREBWRE

I. ABOUT THIS REPORT

Overview

This is the first environmental, social and governance (‘ESG") report
issued by the Company, for the purpose of disclosing to stakeholders
about the ESG works and achievements made by the Group during

2020. This report shall be read in conjunction with the section headed

Corporate Governance Report in the annual report.

Basis of Preparation

This report is prepared in accordance with the Environmental, Social and
Governance Reporting Guide (the "ESG Reporting Guide”) in Appendix
27 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock

Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, and is reported based on the principles

of materiality, quantitative, balance and consistency.

Reporting Period

The reporting period of this report covered from 1 January 2020 to 31

December 2020.

Reporting Scope

Unless otherwise stated, the scope of disclosure of this report shall be

the same as those covered in the annual report.
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ESG MANAGEMENT SYSTEM
ESG Governance Structure and Management Concept

As an enterprise strives to promote pop toy culture, the Company has a
vision of "become a leading global pop culture entertainment company”,
and adhere to create a comprehensive operating platform covering the
entire industry chain of pop toys. We proactively focus on the demands
of stakeholders, and perform our corporate social responsibilities while

protecting the interests of our shareholders and investors.

To implement the development philosophy of the Company and
facilitate the implementation of ESG management of the Company,
based on the current management organizational structure, the
Company has established the ESG governance structure, which is led by
the board of directors (the “Board”), supervised by president office and
jointly participated by several functional departments. The Board will
review the ESG report, investigate and discuss ESG issues, and provide
guidance and supervision to the management in conducting ESG-related
works on a regular basis. The president office will be responsible for
assisting the Board in monitoring the implementation of ESG strategies
and management. Responsible personnel (director level) from different
business units will be responsible for identifying and controlling
ESG-related risk exposures in their respective responsible fields. Relevant
functional departments will be responsible for the implementation of
specific ESG works, as well as the full implementation of ESG strategies

and relevant works.

During the Reporting Period, the Company actively identified and
strictly complied with relevant ESG laws and regulations in countries
and regions where it operates. The Company incorporated its ESG
management concepts into daily operation and management
procedures. While striving to achieve its operating goals, the Company
also proactively eliminated the negative impacts of business operation
on environment, protected the rights and interests of employees,
supported employee development, promoted ESG management in
supply chain, offered quality products, protected the rights and interests
of customers, and implemented ethical operation. We also focused on
demands of society, actively contributed to community development,
as well as facilitated the mutual development of enterprises and

stakeholders.
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Communication with Stakeholders

Based on its business characteristics and development plans, the

Company has identified its major stakeholders, including government

and regulatory authorities, shareholders and investors, customers,

employees, suppliers, community and media, as well as non-government

organizations (‘NGOs"). We actively communicate with stakeholders,

listen to their demands, understand their major issues of concern,

and respond to ESG issues of concern of stakeholders through various

communication channels.

Stakeholders
Fl#=ERE A

Major issues of concern
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Major communication channels

TEBERE

Government and regulatory authorities

BRREE#E

Shareholders and investors

BRRIEEH

Customers

P

Compliance operation
BRKE

Corporate development
hEER

Policy implementation
HEZEBR

Extraordinary social contribution

RbEER

Rights and interests of shareholders

MR s

Corporate performance
EZEE

Stable growth
BEER

Corporate governance

BERER

Product purchase rules
EmEERA

Product after-sale services
EmEERG

Consumer privacy protection
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Stakeholders
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Major issues of concern

2020 FEBIE HERERBE

Major communication channels

MEEE S FTERTEE TEBBRE
Employees Rights and interests of employees Human resources system/employment
(== BTI#mn contract
Remunerations and benefits ASHIE BEHER
HrE Face-to-face communication
Development and training [EENEp-S ]
TR R Staff training
Promotion =3=pe gl
ZF Performance appraisal and feedback
Health and safety EREZRRE
EREET S Regular body check and insurance
EHIRE® - R
Suppliers Supply chain management Supplier management system
HrEm HEEER HEBEEHE
Anti-corruption Supplier evaluation procedures
RES HEmEIEF
Meetings
S
Community Social charity Participate in charity activities
Gl /N e YN =T
Community investment Volunteer services
HERE HREE PR T

Media and NGOs
PRSI FE T AR A5

Corporate development
PEEHR

Product responsibility
EmEE

Corporate governance
EER

Social charity

AN

Social media
R
Official website
B 7 Ak
Press conference and exchange
meetings
MEEGE R
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Identification of Key Issues

Based on the 12 disclosure aspects as stipulated in the Consultation
Conclusions on the Review of the Environmental, Social and Governance
Reporting Guide and Related Listing Rules issued by the Stock Exchange
in 2019, the Company has learned about the importance of various
ESG issues to stakeholders through the questionnaire. According to
the results of the questionnaire, we have identified employment, labor
standards and product responsibility as the most concerned issues of
stakeholders. The importance of ESG issues to stakeholders is set out in

the diagram below.
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I1l. ENVIRONMENT MANAGEMENT

In active response to the national call for acceleration in ecological
civilization, the Company adheres to the development concept of
striving for innovation, coordination, green operation, opening-up and
making contributions. In strict compliance to relevant environmental
protection laws and regulations, such as the Environmental Protection
Law of the People’s Republic of China K #E A R £ MBIERIFIRE L)),
the Atmospheric Pollution Prevention and Control Law of the People’s
Republic of China K/ ZEAREMEI KR I5EBIE%E)), the Solid
Waste Pollution Prevention and Control Law of the People’s Republic of
China K EE AR KB EREYSRERENAE), and the Energy
Saving Law of the People’s Republic of China {FPZEARLFIEELY
8EJR)%)), and local administrative rules such as the Bejjing Household
Waste Administrative Rules (3t T T A E B E EIE&HI)), the Company
enhances its emission management, adheres to the concept of energy
saving and emission reduction, and duly fulfills its environmental

responsibility.

Emission Management

Due to the characteristics of our operation, emissions generated from
the business operation of the Company mainly include greenhouse
gas emission from the use of electric devices, vehicles and other

equipments, as well as wastes such as daily office garbage.

We adopt various measures to conduct carbon emission management,
formulate policies on energy saving, emission reduction and low carbon
environmental protection, promote low-carbon travel for our employees.
When delivering and transporting our products, we advocate the low
carbon concept. By adopting the advanced notification mode for stock
collection, we will arrange trucks for goods pick-up and delivery in a
reasonable manner, and increase the truck loading rate so as to avoid
empty truck and large truck transported with a few goods, effectively
reducing carbon emission from goods transportation. We have also
adopted numerous energy saving measures, and enhanced electricity
consumption management in offices and stores, thus effectively

reducing greenhouse gas emission.
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We strictly in compliance with the waste classification requirements
in different cities, and classify non-hazardous wastes based on their
recycling value. We promote waste recycling, enhance employees’
awareness on waste classification, and encourage employees to
participate in waste classification. To reduce office wastes, the Company
enhances the management on office consumables, and implements
the office consumable registration system based on the position and
practical operation needs of employees, which restricts the number
of office consumables to be collected by employees, thus strictly
controlling the distribution of office consumables and eliminating waste
at source. We implement the “Green Printing” plan, promote paperless
office, and encourage employees to avoid unnecessary printing, thereby
reducing hazardous wastes such as waste toners, toner cartridges and
ink cartridges. In respect of warehouse management and order picking,
we implement paperless order picking through warehouse management
system (WMS) and personal digital assistant (PDA), thus effectively

reducing the use of paper in traditional paper-recorded order picking.

Resources Utilization Management

The Company enhances its resources utilization, promotes green
lifestyle, advocates the green office concept, actively facilitates resources
saving, increases resources utilization rate, and implements green

operation.
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Electricity Consumption Management

The Company constantly adheres to the concept of “electricity
conservation” in its business strategies and daily operation, and adopts
the following measures to enhance the energy efficiency of the

Company:

Office temperature will be set at 26 T in summer and 20T in winter

so as to reduce electricity consumption and avoid waste of energy;

Employees are encouraged to turn off unnecessary lightings,
heaters, personal computers, monitors and other devices during
lunch hour, out for work and off duty. Employees are reminded to

turn off lightings while leaving office;

The Company will enhance electricity consumption management in
stores. Except for normal opening hours, only emergence lighting

will be turned on in other time slot;

The Company will strengthen lighting management in warehouses,
and increase natural light utilization rate. In cloudy days or when
the sky is getting dark, we encourage warehouses to turn on lights
in a crossing pattern so as to reduce electricity consumption on

lightings.
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Our warehouse in Nanjing adopted rooftop natural daylight design during expansion
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Water Management

To improve water efficiency, we have adopted the following measures

to reduce water consumption:

In order to enhance the awareness of staff on water conservation,

we post “Water-saving” slogans in office area;

Water-saving taps are installed so as to control water velocity;

We have increased the inspection and daily maintenance of water
taps, pipelines, water tanks and other facilities so as to prevent

water drip, water leakage, water spray and other waste of water.

Packaging Materials Management

The packaging materials of our products primarily include color coated
paper box, color coated paper card, aluminum foil bag, multi-layer
polyolefin shrink film (POF shrink film), polyethylene film and corrugated
box for logistics etc. In 2020, we replaced the PVC (polyvinyl chloride)
plastic counterweight in our product package with biodegradable pure
diatomaceous granule and spunlace non-woven fabric counterweight
pack. We have also stopped using normal aluminum foil bag, and
selected to use biodegradable aluminum foil bag, which is more
environmental-friendly. At the same time, we reduce the usage of
packing materials as much as possible, and control the volume and
weight of packaging materials at the lowest level, aiming to minimize
the impacts of packaging materials on environment during our

operation.

Environment Key Performance Indicators

The 2020 environment key performance indicators ("KPIs") of the
Company are set out below. Unless otherwise stated, the scope of
environment statistics covers major offices and operating stores of
Pop Mart in China, whereas the rest will be included as and when

appropriate in the future.
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Emission
29547/

Indicator Data for 2020
EE 2020 F E B
Total greenhouse gas ("GHG") emission (Scope 1 and 2)? (tons)
REREHENES (FE &2)@ (HE) 1,914.29
Direct GHG emission (Scope 1) (tons)
BHEAEREHM (FBE) (M)

Petrol

Vi 4.62
Indirect GHG emission (Scope 2) (tons)
MR = REEEER ($[E2) (WE)

Purchased electricity

SNEE 1,909.67
GHG emission per capita (Scope 1 and 2) (tons/person)
AR ERBEYRE (BE &2) (B A) 0.83
GHG emission per square meter (Scope 1 and 2) (tons/square meter)
FFHRREEENREEREHNE (8E 1 &2) (B, F5K) 0.05
Total hazardous wastes (tons)®
BEFEEYRE ()0 149.62
Hazardous wastes per capita (tons/person)
NGEEEENER (,/A) 0.06
Hazardous wastes per square meter (tons/square meter)
BEFHRREMENEEEENES (W THK) 0.004
Total non-hazardous wastes (tons)®
EEEZYEERESE (W)@ 31.01
Non-hazardous wastes per capita (tons/person)
ANEEEREZEY (W, A) 0.01
Non-hazardous wastes per square meter (tons/square meter)
BEFHRREMENEETEENES (W, THK) 0.001

Notes:

(1) Due to the nature of the operation of the Company, its major type of gas
emissions is GHG emission from electricity and fuels derived from fossil fuels.

(2)  The GHG list includes carbon dioxide, methane and nitrous oxide. They
mainly come from purchased electricity and fuels. GHG emissions data is
presented in carbon dioxide equivalent (CO2e) and is based on the Baseline
Emission Factors for Regional Power Grids in China Under the 2019 Emission
Reduction Project issued by the Ministry of Ecology and Environment of
the People’s Republic of China, and the 2006 IPCC Guidelines for National
Greenhouse Gas Inventories (2019 Revision) issued by the Intergovernmental
Panel on Climate Change (IPCC).

() ERARFMEENE  EEBRRERA
BEREEN - RAERALERRELY
T RIE -

Q BRERBSESE_S&ix RRMEts:
A ETBRAINBEHIRKE - BERE
BREDR_SREERY)  TIRIEFEA
RAMBE 4 RERE BRI Q01 9F ER Bk
BEFERYEAEEGHERET) RERF
MRESICEPMIZEGIPCORBEMIPCC
2006 F IR EREEEEIER 201918 5T hiw)
EITIRE -
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(3) Hazardous wastes generated from the Company's operation mainly include (B) ARRELZSPENBEEREVEZELERD
waste toners, waste toner cartridges and waste ink cartridges for office ITENRBREEEME: - BEEES - BEWRD
printing devices, and the replacement or disposal of which will be handled % AEMSEERITHRGHERIEE
by printing service suppliers or qualified professional companies. EHNEERNTBRER -

(4)  Non-hazardous wastes generated from the Company's operation mainly 4) ARREESRNEEEREVTIZAEER
include waste paper, which will be handled collectively within the premises. 3R BAYER BRI -

Energy and Resources Consumption

RN ERERE

Indicator Data for 2020
BE 2020 F &%

Total energy consumption (MWh)®
BeREEEE ORRE)O 2,990.12
Direct energy consumption (MWh)
BiEERERE JERE)

Petrol

e 18.96
Indirect energy consumption (MWh)
R IR B FE (K ELR)

Purchased electricity

SN S 2,971.16
Energy consumption per capita (MWh/person)
AGREREREE ORELR A) 1.29
Energy consumption per square meter (MWh/square meter)
BEHRBEEEENEREREE KRR, FHK) 0.08
Office water consumption (tons)®
WmomAOHEFES ()@ 282
Office water consumption per capita (tons/person)
ANEGWARANEFREE (B, A) 050
Office water consumption per square meter (tons/square meter)
BEHREEEBENRARICHFEE (B TFHK) 0.03
Total packaging materials for finished products (tons)®
HEmAABRYESE (K)o 3,546.63
Packaging materials consumed for finished products per million revenue (tons/million yuan)®
BEBBRARREKMBEYE (B8 T)Y 1.41
Notes: B
(1) Energy consumption is calculated on the basis of the conversion factor () EREREHBEEREBREARAMBEIEK
set out in the General Principles of Consolidated Energy Consumption 2 (4 S BeFEET E 3B Al (GB/T2589-2008) )
Calculation (GB/T2589-2008), the national standard of the People’s Republic RHENEEBRERFETTE  BEINES
of China, including purchased electricity and petrol consumption for NAANEFER o
vehicles.

LLeZ 3 POP MART §  POP MART INTERNATIONAL GROUP LIMITED ;& 545 ElEk =B AR A A




2020 ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

(2)  Except for the Company's Beijing office area, the office water usage in other
office area and operating stores is managed by their respective premises.
Water charges are included in property fees, and water usage cannot be
measured separately. Hence, during the Reporting Period, only data from
Beijing office area is collected for office water consumption and office water
consumption intensity. Our office water is sourced from municipal pipeline
network, thus there is no obstacles in securing water supply.

(3) Packaging materials mainly include plastic packaging bag, paper box, paper
bag and counterweight pack.

(4) Packaging materials consumed for finished products per million revenue
refers to the weight of packaging materials consumed for finished products
per million revenue of the Group.

Environment and Natural Resources

The Company treats environmental protection and natural resources
as one of its vital responsibilities for corporate development. While
expanding our business scale continuously, the Company will continue
to advocate the conservation culture and promote the concept of
environmental protection, aiming to create green, environmental-
friendly corporate culture. Due to the business nature of the Company,
the Company has a limited impact on environment and natural
resources. In 2020, the Company has not discovered any significant

pollution and impact on the environment in its operation.

Response to Climate Change

Climate change has posted huge challenges to global society nowadays.
The Company deeply realizes the urgency of resolving climate change
issues. In actively response to the call from global society, the Company
adheres to the low carbon, green development concept, considers
risks in relation to climate change while conducting risk evaluation and
management, continuously investigates and identifies possible impacts
of its operation on climate change, timely formulates countermeasures,

proactively resolving climate change issues.

In case of bad weather such as strong wind, storm and snowstorm, we
will issue weather alert to employees based on the weather forecast of
weather bureau, recommend employees to work at home, and remind
employees to stay away from billboards, sewers and other dangerous
zones so as to minimize the impacts of bad weather on the operations
of the Company and employees. In view of the impacts of extreme
weather on warehouses and logistics, we continue to improve the
hardware environment for our warehouses. At present, the Company
has established an integrated logistic transportation system that covers
normal transportation and emergency transportation. In case of snow
fog, flood and other disasters, we can timely communicate with logistic
service providers to adjust working plans, and can use emergency

transportation, such as air freight or rail transport when necessary.
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IV.EMPLOYMENT AND LABOR STANDARDS

Human resources are vital for corporate development. Adhering to our
management philosophy of “employees are our partners’, the Company
has established comprehensive human resources management system.
We aim to protect the legitimate rights of employees, focus on the
personal development of employees, secure the occupational health and
safety of employees, provide a healthy, safe and comfortable working

environment for employees, and develop and grow with employees.

Employment Management

In strict compliance with laws and regulations such as the Labor Law of
the People’s Republic of China, the Labor Contract Law of the People’s
Republic of China, the Provisions on Prohibition of Child Labour of the
People’s Republic of China and the Law on the Protection of Minors
of the People’s Republic of China, the Company has formulated a
series of human resources management systems to regulate the
establishment and dismissal of labor relationship, remuneration and
benefit, development and promotion, working hours, holidays and related
matters, including the Human Resources Management System, the
Attendance Management System, the Probation Management System,
the Business Trip Management System and the Expatriate Management
System. We regulate our labor relationship in accordance with laws, sign
labor contracts with employees in accordance with requirements under
relevant laws and regulations, and strengthen employment management
through our human resources management system. While recruiting
new employees, we will carefully verify the identity of the employees to
ensure they are of legal ages, strictly prohibiting child labor and forced
labor. Adhering to the open, fair and anti-discrimination principle, we
attach great importance to fair opportunities and diversity. We have also
established relevant system for dismissal, including the procedures for
resignation and dismissal and compensation rules, with details of which

set out in the labor contract.

As at 31 December 2020, the Company had 2,320 employees in China

and overseas.
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Employees Caring

The Company always strives to improve its welfare system so as
to increase the happiness and satisfaction of employees. In strict
compliance with laws and regulations such as the Social Insurance
Law of the People’s Republic of China and the Regulation on the
Administration of Housing Provident Fund, we have established
competitive welfare system and remuneration system. We make
contribution to the five insurances and housing provident fund (B
—=%) for our employees, and also provide employees with incentives
such as catering and transportation allowance, performance bonus and

year-end bonus.

We encourage employees to work efficiently during normal working
hours, and relax and enjoy themselves during holidays so as to maintain
work-life balance. We offer employees the rights on overtime work and
rest day re-assignment. Overtime payment will be made if employees are
unable to re-assign rest day due to work reasons. At the same time, in
addition to statutory national holidays, we offer employees extra annual
leave based on their tenure of service. Female employees are entitled to

paid maternity leave.

In respect of staff welfare, the Company provides various welfares for
employees, including extra medical insurance, new product special
offer, holiday gift, wedding gift, birth gift, funeral allowance and
hospitalization allowance. We also create excellent work environment for
employees and set up sleeping area in the office. We arrange birthday
parties for employees, provide team building fees for departments, and
encourage employees to participate in various recreational activities,
such as outdoor cycling, badminton activities and basketball activities

etc. in order to enhance staff cohesion.

2020 FIRIE - HERERRE

i
hzd
w

ARARBEBROINTEERANER  BAE
Imi@@ﬂﬁﬁf BEREEF(PE
AREMEHSREZI(EERAESER
WG EERER B TABRF NG
MREEAMFINER - BMAE THM

B —%  WIRHZKRZBAEE - B
DR - FRESEH TR -

BMBEBETIEER ITEREASKRT
5 RAOMBREPETREFTRE - RIS
TEEATERFE - 45T 8 TNIIFREK
%ﬂ’ﬁ%ﬁlﬁﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁWWMﬂl
REZMIITE - Ay - EEZOEEEHR
ARERLE  RAK/BETREERAKE
HNFER IRXUEEBEIRHTHER
(E8

FEEI®RMNAE  ARAABIR#WR
BERR  FTREZ  FEHEY - H1ER
- HEEe  REIREREREEZ
BEM - BHMMAETRERINHIER
B ERARKREERE AETSREA
Hg  REPAERE  mEEI2 MY
EZEHXEEY  BEPIRITED -
PEFHEEDY € EEHE - 128
BITRET -

—Z =253 ANNUAL REPORT 2020 | POP MART

107



2020 ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
2020 FB]IE - HERERRE

Staff Participants at Shanghai Toy Show 2020
2020F LBERHRTARETIER

Group photo of staff for Pop Mart’s 10th anniversary
BEABRTRAFEIESY

We attach great importance to equal communication with our BMeEEREEINTEEER AR
employees. In order to increase staff satisfaction and understand the BETmER  ZOBMBEINFK  AAd
needs of employees, the Company has established a staff satisfaction BYTEZEIAREIH BRREK B
research system that covers staff daily work, management environment, THEFR -  ZFRISAIRREFIEMNE
staff relationship, development prospects and returns. We actively listen TwmEBEFAMES  BEREETIERM
to opinions and recommendations from our employees, encourage B wEEIBMRENRFK  LREYH
employees to express their demands in a rational way, and timely BETMER « BB ETRE -

respond to the opinions, recommendations and demands of employees.
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Health and Safety

The Company strives to provide a healthy, safe working environment for
employees. In strict compliance with laws and regulations such as the
Fire Control Law of the People’s Republic of China, the Prevention and
Control of Occupational Diseases Law of the People’s Republic of China,
the Regulation on the Administration of Sanitation in Public Places,
the Regulation on Work-Related Injury Insurance and the Measures
for the Supervision and Administration of Employers’ Occupational
Health Surveillance, the Company provides necessary health and
safety guidelines for employees at working places so as to secure the
occupational health and safety of employees. In the past three years
(including 2020), the Company did not experience any work-related

fatalities.

The Company arranges annual body check for its employees, and
promotes healthcare education so as to help employees to identify
potential occupational diseases, occupational contraindications and
other abnormal symptoms as soon as possible, and enhance employees’
healthcare awareness. In order to prevent safety accidents, we arrange
safety knowledge training for employees, and conduct fire drill and
evacuation, thus effectively enhancing employees’ safety awareness and

fire emergency response capabilities.

Since the outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic, the Company highly
focused on and fully deployed pandemic prevention works, thus
effectively protecting the health and safety of employees. We have
formulated the Pop Mart Emergency Plan in Combating COVID-19
Pandemic, and provided pandemic prevention materials for all staff.
We produced different propaganda posters such as “Pop Mart is the
Most Caring Companion in Pandemic Prevention” and “Concern About
Healthcare Does Not Necessary Need to be Over Panic”, and conducted
psychological consultation for employees. After resumption of works, we
arranged staff to undergo nucleic acid testing. In addition, we actively
complied with the pandemic control requirements in communities and
streets where we operated, and implemented strict visitor registration
and inspection during the pandemic. We distributed the 2020 Pop Mart
Hygiene Handbook for Work Resumption to our employees. Moreover,
we enhanced the hygiene and pandemic prevention works in physical
sales channels so as to fully protect the health and safety of our staff.
For example, we conducted regular sterilization everyday in our physical

stores, as well as increased the frequency of sterilization.
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Development and Training

We always focus on the occupational development and personal
value appreciation of our employees. We strive to establish a sound,
comprehensive talent development mechanism in order to offer
multi-platform development plan for the career path planning of our
staff. The Company conducts staff promotion for functional lines and
operational lines through performance appraisal, 360 evaluation and
promotion interview. In respect of operational lines, we launch different
training programs such as the “Operational Management Trainee
Program” and the “Store Manager Training Camp’, aiming to enhance
the comprehensive capability and management level of frontline junior
staff, cultivate frontline to become regional head and manager, and offer

diversified development opportunities and platforms for staff.

In order to achieve simultaneous development between employees
and the Company, the Company has established training projects
and training programs the cover all staff at different levels, including
new staff training, general training for current staff, training program
for high potential staff, leadership enhancement training camp for
department heads and managers, training for directors and supervisors,
certificate program for internal trainers and overseas learning program
for employees, etc. In addition, we have commenced the construction
of online and offline integrated training platform, focusing on the needs
of different positions and demands of staff, so that employees can
voluntarily select learning courses based on their respective position, in

order to promote the growth and development of employees.

In 2020, 2,617 staff participated in trainings of the Company, with total
training hours of approximately 25,400 hours.
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2020 Pop Mart Training for Directors and Supervisors

2020 F AR B S A EE

Case: Introduction training for new staff

The “New Staff Training (T AF)" and “New Staff UP Plan (31 AUPETEI)"
are the training programs of the Company specialized for new staff. The
Company conducts centralized training for new staff every month. The senior
staff of the Company conduct one-on-one training with new staff, promptly
give feedback on performance of new staff, and help new staff to pass the
probation period. During the training, we introduce the corporate culture
core operation of different departments and product portfolio to our staff in

order to help new staff to integrate into the culture of the Company.

Case: Pop Mart “Mentor Project”

In May 2020, the Company introduced the “Mentor Project” and
recruited staff with high potential from the whole Company. Wang Ning,
the chairman, together with management personnel from different
departments acted as the mentors to provide training courses for staff
with high potential from different departments. The training courses
covered exploration of business vision, transfer of values, professional
experience sharing, team integration and other themes so as to allow

management to practically involve in staff development and training.
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“Mentor Project” of Pop Mart
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V. SUPPLY CHAIN MANAGEMENT hoHEEERE

The Company strives to implement responsible supply chain. It has AARHIRERETHERE - §IE 7 (H
formulated the Supplier Management System, the Documentation on JER B IR E ) CREB IR EEZER F 3 4)
Standardized Operation for Procurement Department, the Standardized (MR REEXEREF)I(EFERHE)
Operation for Logistics Department, the Treasury Management (EEREBRERE)SHEXH HAF
System, the Stock Taking Operation Procedures and other documents, HREEEF - HEEEA - FTEMERLRA
which strictly regulate the procurement procedures, supplier access, BERETERARE  c M BT EMHE
evaluation and dismissal, as well as daily management of the Company. MEEER  BTHERRSERTgERE
We continue to improve our supplier management system, focus B BRHEEERETERTARIR
on environmental and social risk management of suppliers, actively aE - BER(CEHEFESCRARER -

communicate and exchange with suppliers, and gradually enhance the

ESG risk management of suppliers.

POP MARTJ POP MART INTERNATIONAL GROUP LIMITED &B5545EI S EAR 2 5




2020 ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

Supplier Access

The Company has formulated internal selection standards and access
policies for supplier selection. It has formed a well-experienced supplier
management team, as well as a supplier inspection team that comprised
of relevant responsible personnel from procurement department,
engineering department and quality assurance department. The supplier
management team and inspection team will conduct regular investigation
to explore new supplier, as well as site visit on its operating venues,
productivity, technology capability, development capability and hardware
environment. They will also rank and evaluate the general performance of

suppliers based on the Cooperation Application Form for Suppliers.

While selecting suppliers, we fully take into consideration of the capability
of supplier in performing its environmental and social responsibilities.
The Company requires suppliers to comply with laws and regulations,
such as the Atmospheric Pollution Prevention and Control Law of the
People’s Republic of China and the Solid Waste Pollution Prevention and
Control Law of the People’s Republic of China, in their production and
operation. The Company also requires suppliers to obtain the Pollutant
Emission Permit or the Environmental Impact Assessment Certificate
issued by the local government to ensure their pollutant purification and
treatment facilities met the standards. In addition, we encourage suppliers
to pass the certification and audit from third party institutions, such as the
International Council of Toy Industries (ICTI) Code of Business Practices,
the Disney International Labor Standards (Disney ILS), the Sedex Member
Ethical Trade Audit (SMETA) and the Business Social Compliance Initiative
(BSCI). We will not take into consideration of any suppliers that have

insufficient environmental and social risk management.

Evaluation and Dismissal of Suppliers

The Company continues to improve the performance evaluation system
for supplier management. It has formed a qualified supplier list, and
conducted appraisal and evaluation on suppliers on a monthly and

yearly basis.

Monthly evaluation: Supplier site inspection team of the Company
is responsible for the site appraisal and evaluation on the general
performance of suppliers on a monthly basis. If the appraisal score
falls below the standards of the Company or declines continuously,
we will help suppliers to discover the reasons for the drop in
quality and production capabilities, provide recommendation for

improvement, and offer a rectification period for suppliers.
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Annual evaluation: By using our Supplier Evaluation Form, we
conduct annual appraisal and scoring evaluation on the production
quality, attendance, product delivery and other aspects of our
suppliers. The results of the appraisal will be classified into Grade
S, Grade A+, Grade B, Grade C and Grade D. For suppliers with low
ranking in annual evaluation or rank in Grade D, the Company will

terminate their partnership.’

VI. RESPONSIBLE OPERATIONS

The Company endeavors to provide customers with quality products
and services. We strictly comply with laws and regulations such as
the Product Quality Law of the People’s Republic of China and the
Consumer Rights Protection Law of the People’s Republic of China. We
are committed to winning customer trust through product innovation
and sound quality control, improving customer experience, protecting
customer rights, strengthening intellectual property rights management

and brand protection, as well as fully realizing responsible operations.

Product quality control and recall

The Company firmly believes that our commitment to product quality
and safety is one of the major factors for our success. We highly
value product quality and safety, and have formulated management
procedures such as the General Product Inspection Standards, the
Quality Inspection Workflow and the Product Special Procurement
Process. In addition, we have established a comprehensive quality
control system and a professional quality control team that is responsible

for product quality control.

Supplier evaluation standard: Grade S: Score above 90, Grade A+: Score above 80,
Grade B: Score above 70, Grade C: Score above 60, Grade D: Score below 60.
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The Company strictly abides by the national toy standards related
to our operations, such as the GB/T 26701-2011 General Technical
Requirements for Model Products and the GB 6675-2014 Toys Safety,
to strengthen general technical requirements for model products. We
emphasize product material safety, utilize packaging materials that meet
national safety standards, and adopt strict quality control measures,
including post-production inspections and final quality control before
shipments and sales. We engage a third-party testing agency to analyze
whether the products and packaging raw materials meet the relevant
standards, and issue an annual inspection report based on the analysis
results. In addition, the quality control team will periodically conduct
on-site random inspections of all manufacturers, requiring manufacturers
to strictly abide by our quality control guidelines, so as to ensure that

product quality and safety meet the compliance requirements.

In 2020, the Company did not recall any products due to product quality
problems. We have drawn up a system and process for product recalls.
Once a product with potential safety hazards or an unqualified product
is identified, the Company will recall all unqualified products for rework,

and scrap the products that cannot be reworked.

Customer complaint and benefits protection

The Company is customer-centric and has always been adhering
to the concept of customer service, thus developing an in-depth
understanding of customer needs. We formulated different systems
guidelines such as the Store Standard Operating Procedures, the
Customer Service Handling Procedures for Return and Exchange and
the Customer Complaints and Service Supervision Management System
to standardize store operations, promote follow-ups, handling and
feedback of various issues, optimize customer service procedures, in
order to improve customer experience and effectively protect the

legitimate rights and interests of our customers.

To protect the health and safety of the customers, warnings and
reminders are printed on the packaging of our products, such as “Do
not swallow” and “Keep away from children under three years old".
Customers can communicate with the Company and provide their
opinions and suggestions via different channels, including 400 hotlines,
WeChat mini-program, Tmall online service and in-store customer

service.
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We continue to improve the customer complaint handling system, and
set up a customer service center to investigate and follow up customer
complaints about our products and service. Customer service staff will
be arranged based on the complaint types and deal with issues such
as product quality, product after-sales and employee service attitudes,
and within a limited time scale, communicate our responses with the
complainant in a timely manner. For products with defects or other
quality problems, we will make compensation to the customers or
conduct product return or exchange depending on the severity of the
problem. Meanwhile, the Company’s quality inspection team will track
and supervise the complaints processing results, so that customer

demands can be resolved satisfactorily.

We constantly strengthen the management of store employees, help
employees learn about compliance requirements and sales knowledge
in a systematic manner, and carry out targeted training in combination
with typical cases in order to effectively improve the overall service

quality of store employees.

Customer privacy and information security

The Company is fully aware of the importance of customer privacy and
information security. In strict compliance with laws and regulations such
as the Network Security Law of the People’s Republic of China and the
Network Security Standard Practice Guide - Self-Assessment Guidelines
for Collection and Use of Personal Information by Mobile Internet
Application, the Company has formulated the Information Security
Management System, the Information Disclosure Management System,
the Information Security Training Manual and other specifications, and
established an information security management system to standardize
employee operating procedures and fully protect customer privacy and

information security.

The Company has set up a dedicated information technology
department responsible for the management and supervision of
the Company’s information security. We further maintain network
security, application security, data security and terminal security by the
application of technologies such as encryption, installation of anti-virus
software and firewalls. For positions that frequently access customer
information, we adopt access control so that only authorized employees
can have access to confidential information. We also provide employees
with training on confidentiality management of customer information

on a regular basis to further enhance their awareness of confidentiality.
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Intellectual property and brand protection

In strict compliance with laws and regulations such as the Patent Law
of the People’s Republic of China and the Copyright Law of the People’s
Republic of China, the Company constantly improves its intellectual
property management system, attaches importance to brand protection,
and maintains a high-quality intellectual property library. We strictly
supervise all series of products, fully implement intellectual property
and novelty search, and respect the original copyrights of others. With
the continuous efforts of the Company, we won the title of “Beijing
Copyright Protection Model Enterprise” issued by Beijing Copyright
Administration and the Capital Copyright Society in August 2020.

2020 FIRE - HEREAHRSE

HBEREN M RE

ARBEARET(REARKMBEERNEL)
(REARAMBEFRR) SERER
THTE=MNBEREERE  ERDER
ETF RREEMNANBERE - 1MH
BERNMERETRENEE » 2E%F
BEXNBERBRRRENTIFE BEMAN
REINRE - EARRRNTELE AT - 2020
F8A - WAIRBEILRTIRIER K & #RE
e RN IR T RERERBEL ]
5% o

Pop Mart won the title of “Beijing Copyright Protection Model Enterprise”
BB SRE L E M RERERGEN TR

—Z =253 ANNUAL REPORT 2020 | POP MART

117



2020 ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
2020 FB]IE - HERERRE

The Company strengthens the protection of intellectual property rights
by establishing an integrated platform covering the entire value chain of
intellectual property operation. We formulated the Intellectual Property
and Software Management Measures to prevent the Company from
directly or indirectly infringing on the intellectual property rights of
others by registering intellectual property rights with the competent
authorities in a timely manner, regularly searching for intellectual
property information and carrying out relevant analysis. When we
cooperate with artists and intellectual property providers and obtain
intellectual property authorization from a third party, we also require
the third party to provide proof of originality related to the intellectual
property rights to prevent infringing intellectual property rights of

others.

The Company actively protects and maintains its own intellectual
property rights, and strictly prevents malicious registration by third
parties or misappropriation of intellectual property rights. In the event
of malicious registration or misappropriation of intellectual property
rights, the Company will require relevant parties to stop infringing on
the Company's rights and interests and correct improper behavior in
a non-litigation manner, and will take measures to actively respond to
such infringements, including reporting to authorities or requesting for
indemnities, in serious situations. When collaborating with suppliers,
we contract them with the Confidentiality Agreement and the Annual
Cooperation Framework to clarify the ownership of the product’s
intellectual property rights, design documents and mold property
rights, and proactively identify the risk points of intellectual property

management.

In order to safeguard the Company's brand reputation, improve brand
awareness and enhance brand recognition, we remind customers to
purchase products via official sales channels on social media platforms,
uphold a zero-tolerance attitude towards market fraud, sales of
counterfeits and unauthorized sales, and continue to strengthen brand

protection.

Advertisement and trademark management

In strict compliance with laws and regulations such as the Advertising
Law of the People’s Republic of China and the Trademark Law of the
People’s Republic of China, the Company strengthens the regulation of
advertisement and publicity, and avoids any false publicity or misleading

advertising content and product descriptions.

POP MARTJ POP MART INTERNATIONAL GROUP LIMITED B3545EI B AR 2 &

ARARBBAEIRENBERELREE
BT E  MAEMBEERE - &
PIBE T CABER LA ERINE) - B
BREERIERETIMABERE  EHR
RABEREEAFEREEINESR
MR RNFERAMBERILMAMNBERE
ERMEZMREANBERREHBSEL
ERBE=THR TOMBEREER - 3
TRERE =TT REMBEEBRENRENE
B 7 LLRIE M A RO -

RAGEBREMAGEES B AHER - &
=B aM s ERAREL -
FEEAMEGRANSERSRSER
RARIEBBEFOT BB R
BIHEEERRESTMUERETA &S
BRI TR R Rk A B E SRR E
HEMIERETR EREERSER - &
MEEEREZE(REHEE) R(CFEAE
ERWE)  BAEEDARERE R
HRELERNREE  TBHAMNHER
EIRTIERN R o

RRERRAFNMERE - BHARERF
B RamiE e - AL RREF
BRAEFPBBETREREBEEM
HMIHER  EREIEABREEETS
BFITRRBREE  FHEMARERETE -

BEEEEEBREE

ARBEBET(REARKMBEESE)
(REARKMBAEARE) FEREEHR - M
BEEEMNEE TR  BReHRE
MEREMR REHEENESETEARAR
B o



2020 ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

We require that all external publicity materials must be verified by the
related business departments, and the content of major event publicity
must be reviewed by the legal department and can only be published
upon confirmation. Regarding the Company’s advertisement in overseas,
we also require the overseas partners to abide by the Company's
publicity specifications as well as the local laws and regulations during
the promotion process, so as to ensure the authenticity and compliance
of the publicity content. When advertisement or promotional content
does not conform to the actual situation or violates relevant laws and
regulations, we will initiate the withdrawal process, stop advertising

immediately and make timely corrections.

In terms of trademark management, we have made detailed
requirements for the appearance area, exposure pattern, ratio, position,
font, color of our brand LOGO, and stipulated that all use of the
Company's products, LOGO and materials must be pre-approved by
the Company with relevant levels of approval, actively protecting the

Company's intangible assets.

POP MART

Standardized use of Pop Mart LOGO
REDBIFRHLOGOEH
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VII. ANTI-CORRUPTION MANAGEMENT

The Company advocates a corporate culture of honesty and integrity,
and is committed to creating a clean working environment. We strictly
comply with the Company Law of the People’s Republic of China, the
Anti-Money Laundering Law of the People’s Republic of China, the
Anti-Unfair Competition Law of the People’s Republic of China and
other relevant laws and regulations. We also formulated the Anti-fraud
Management Regulations, the Anti-Money Laundering Management
System, the Compliance Management System, the Store Reward and
Punishment Management System, the Employee Code of Conduct
Management System, the Employee Integrity and Self-discipline
Commitment and other related management systems. We adopt a
zero-tolerance approach towards all corruption or bribery, extortion,
fraud, money laundering, etc, and expressly prohibit directors and all
employees from engaging in any illegal or corrupted behaviors and
reaping benefits therefrom. At the same time, the Company revises and
adjusts various rules and regulations in a timely manner in accordance
with objective factors such as corporate development, changes in
the external environment and changes in practice, and continues to
deepen anti-corruption management and practices, so as to ensure its

comprehensiveness and effectiveness.

The Company has established and continuously improved the internal
control mechanism for anti-corruption, including the establishment of
internal and external reporting and complaint channels to prevent and
detect corruption, the implementation of necessary control measures
to reduce the chance of corruption incidents, and the adoption of
appropriate and effective remedial measures for the harm caused by

corruption.

The Company has established multiple reporting and complaint
channels for internal employees and external suppliers, including
reporting mailboxes, reporting hotlines, and face-to-face reporting,
etc. We encourage all parties to supervise each other and report any
potential fraud, so as to continuously increase their anti-corruption
awareness and jointly resist unhealthy trend and misbehavior.
Meanwhile, for the reports received, the audit department of the
Company designates special personnel to analyze and identify such
reports, deal with those that meet the conditions for investigation, and
arrange special personnel to follow-up investigations. The reported
matters that are found to be true will be handled by the Company or

transferred to the judicial authority based on the severity of the case.
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The Company continues to pay attention to major risk areas such as ARBIERESEZRK A ETIHER
procurement, implements strict management and review procedures, A BEmEENEERERER  BAR
and strives to create a transparent procurement environment to avoid HiEBARBRE  BERERAEPH
black-box operations and corruption in the procurement process. The BAEREFEERRR - AR AZE P TEH
Company gradually improves the supplier introduction mechanism, EESAKE  HHEMEEEITERE
conducts strict review of supplier qualifications, and requires all BE - EXMAEHEREZS(EXEER
suppliers to sign the Sunshine Cooperation Agreement to strengthen ) AN ARMARELEERZEK o
the Company's compliance operation and integrity requirements. At the B - KRB TEMIEREEFIRIER
same time, the Company continuously optimizes the business operation 2 EERREERRE B THESENM
process of procurement, improves the bidding management process, BEHETHOBES  BHMINIRE LTE
and separates the responsibilities of incompatible positions, thereby FHFIEIR o BN - AR TIEFTEEEBE R
achieving corruption prevention and management from the source. RIERB B R ETREM DN - & B FERE
In addition, the audit department of the Company regularly inspects EREEFER  HMEEHERTR
and analyzes the Company's procurement, identifies and follows up WIRHEBENERNER - WE—TEHRE
incompliant and abnormal situations, prevents and supervises signs of VEIRETERK IR E IR o

fraud, and proposes rectification suggestions and opinions in order to

further form a closed-loop management of the anti-corruption process.

VIII. COMMUNITY INVESTMENT MANAGEMENT MNHEREER

The Company is committed to promoting the corporate and social RAARBMORESCERL SN AIIFER
sustainable development, focusing on communication with surrounding R FEHEESEMEE B E TN H
communities and establishing harmonious relationships. While R TEEFERMAROER  RMIAKHE
developing and growing, we always keep in mind the brand concept of RIBEER  EEETFINREES &
“creating trends and delivering fineness” and actively participate in social B2ETg R EE  FETHEKREEH
welfare activities, with a hope to promote the trend of helping people in P BEFEEITREFR  AEZAN
need, deliver fineness to thousands of households, and contribute to the EHEgERAE -

construction of harmonious society.
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On 18 October 2020, the fourth session of China Corporate Philanthropy
Forum released the list of China’s Top 500 Corporate Charities.
Attributable to its outstanding performance in social charity, the
Company won the “2020 China Top 500 Corporate Charities” ([ 2020 /1
Bl EEEE A% 500 58 ]) award.
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Pop Mart won the “2020 China Top 500 Corporate Charities” award
BRI 2020 F B EEEZ Q50050 | R

POP MARTJ POP MART INTERNATIONAL GROUP LIMITED B35 45EIR SR B AR A |




2020 ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

2020 FEBIE HERERBE

Case: Assisting pandemic prevention and control, supporting the front line of protection

RO : By RABREIE - XEHE R

At the beginning of 2020, in the face of the sudden outbreak of
COVID-19 pandemic, the Company fully demonstrated its fulfilment of
social responsibility, helped to prevent and control the pandemic with
practical actions, and overcame the difficulties with all people across
China. On 29 January 2020, we donated RMB10 million to Wuhan (Hubei)
Charity Federation to support Wuhan's frontline pandemic prevention

and control work.
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Pop Mart supported the pandemic prevention and
control work in Wuhan
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The Company and Xinhuanet Media Creative Factory joined hands to
launch the “I'm Here" series of public welfare posters to pay tribute
to frontline workers in the fight against the pandemic. Based on the
Company's popular trendy figure MOLLY, we selected six types of
workers, namely doctors, builders, volunteers, couriers, reporters as well
as citizens who have returned to work, as our theme and recorded the
groups that fight the pandemic. Supporting the front-line of protection
through this special method, the Company demonstrates its strong

desire, sincerity and care for the disaster area and joint efforts to combat

the pandemic.
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Pop Mart’s “I'm Here"” series of public welfare posters

ABBRIRE IR D EER

POP MARTJ POP MART INTERNATIONAL GROUP LIMITED B3545EI B AR 2 &




2020 ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Company carried out the “Unattended Love Station” charity
activity in Beijing, and provided warm-hearted assistance to frontline
service workers through the establishment of “Love Shop”, offering
anti-pandemic materials such as masks, as well as light meals, coffee
and other food for free, with a hope to send warmth and care to the

community.

2020 FEBIE HERERBE
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Pop Mart’s

Unattended Love Station” charity activity in Beijing
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Case: Public welfare participation -Pop Mart’s “Aerospace Special Edition” public welfare figure

Zfl : 2EAR - WEBRMAERINR] 2EFR

In 2020, the Company and Shanghai Aerospace
Science and Technology Co., Ltd. (_E/&RHR
i ABI AR A A]) entered into the "Pop
Mart Aerospace Special Edition Public Welfare
Figure Joint Agreement” to produce 500 limited
edition MOLLY in astronaut form, among 200
of which, rocket fragments are embedded into
their chest medals. All proceeds from the sale
of this public welfare figure have been donated
for the development of aerospace science

education.
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Signing ceremony of Pop Mart’s Aerospace Special Edition public
Gt | - BAYESOOE R £ FMOLLYFit 8 welfare figure
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2020 ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

Case: Targeted Poverty Alleviation — Launching Donation Activity

While developing its operations, the Company actively responds to the
national call for targeted poverty alleviation. On 5 August 2020, the
Company donated RMB1 million to Moyu County, Xinjiang Province
through the poverty alleviation project of Chaoyang District (Beijing)
Development and Reform Commission. On 17 September 2020, the
Company donated RMB50,000 to designated assistance counties in

Zhuozi County, Inner Mongolia to support rural revitalization.

We actively support local education, donate materials to children in
remote mountainous areas, and engaged dedicated teams to lead
designers to visit elementary schools in mountainous areas, so as to
carry out art courses for children in mountainous areas, and offer helping
hands to children in mountainous areas from educational resources,

living supplies and other aspects.

Looking forward, the Company will continue to give play to the cohesive
power of popular trendy culture, constantly uphold the concept of
giving back to society, support the development and construction of
communities from various aspects such as targeted poverty alleviation
and social welfare, actively meet the public welfare needs of surrounding
communities, perform corporate social responsibility, and develop

hand-in-hand with society.

2020 FEBIE HERERBE

R BERE - RBELRBEED

ARRECEBRRENRRN  BiGEERR
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT
B BT R S

e
pwec

To the Shareholders of Pop Mart International Group Limited
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION
What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of Pop Mart International Group
Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages

136 to 264, which comprise:
the consolidated balance sheet as at 31 December 2020;

the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive

income for the year then ended,;

the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then
ended;

the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended; and

the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which include a

summary of significant accounting policies.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view
of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2020,
and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows
for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards ("IFRSs") and have been properly prepared in compliance with the

disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on
Auditing ("ISAs"). Our responsibilities under those standards are further
described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated

Financial Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and

appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the International Code
of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including International Independence
Standards) issued by the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants
("lESBA Code"), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with the IESBA Code.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were
of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our
audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our

opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matter identified in our audit is related to impairment provision for

inventories.

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)

EEEEE (%)

Key Audit Matter
BARETSER

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
EMNEHONTEEREENER

Impairment provision for inventories

FEREER

Refer to notes 2.13, 4(a) and 20 to the consolidated financial

statements.

BRMGE M EHREMNE2.13 - 4(a) K20 -

As at 31 December 2020, the Group's balance of gross
inventories was RMB229 million, against which a provision of
RMB4 million was made.

2020512 A31H » BEXEENETEEHBRARKE29HE8
T WEHEGERELEEARBIEET -

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in
the ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of
completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.
FERRAMA ST FEME PBIEED® - JRHHER
BELERKLBIETNMETEEREMFTH T TRAMER
HUSHE PTRAZR o

The estimation of impairment provision for inventories involves
significant management judgment based on the consideration
of key factors such as aging profile, future sales projection,
estimated future selling prices and selling expenses of the
respective inventories.

FENRBEEEGT P REEEEANE  ZS5HEFER
FEERAERE - RARHETER  FBEARREBUARHER X EM

We considered this is a key audit matter because the
impairment assessment involved significant management's
judgement.
ENREN LT REREEAAE  RMRRES—(ERHEE
EtEIE o

We have performed the following procedures to address this

key audit matter:

BFIRERIEE —RBA FENT T ATER

We assessed the inherent risk of material misstatement by
considering the degree of estimation uncertainty and level
of other inherent risk factors;

BAIE BT EEH R A E A [E A R b E & 8K
£ URHEERERNE A b

We understood and evaluated management’s internal
control and assessment process of impairment provision
for inventories and tested the key controls over
management'’s estimation of impairment provision for

inventories;

BRI RFE T E IR B T R E 2 i ) A BB AE A

AEBEE - RRTERBETERELEBATNERE
H

We discussed with management and evaluated the
appropriateness of the method and assumptions used in
impairment provision for inventories;
HMEERER WL G T FEREEBERNTA
MBRHZRNBEE M

We evaluated the outcome of prior period assessment
of impairment provision for inventories to assess the
effectiveness of management’s estimation process;

BPTE DART BRI B R (B 2 B0 RT ik 45 RAETT T R1(E -
NEEEREGFHRENARIL
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (CONTINUED)
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EEEEE (%)

Key Audit Matter
BRENER

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
BN ETNAREBRETEE

We tested the aging profile of inventories items on a
sample basis by checking to relevant documents including
goods receipt notes;

BBEAMER (BREESE)ZY e ER
FHEEENEREBET TR

We compared the carrying amount of the inventories, on
a sample basis, to their net realisable value through review
of sales subsequent to the year end;

BB BHFRUAENEESERNETEDS - EHENE
% e REEEEN SR HEET TR

We assessed the reasonableness of methods and
assumptions applied to the provisions by challenging
management’s future sales projection, estimated future
selling prices and selling expenses, with reference to
industry trend and approved budget developed based on
historical data;
HBEREREEBNARNKIFETRN - RKHERREM
HEBRANMGET  U2ETEBENRIBEELERGIE
BV ERTAS - ST BETEMRRN S BN ;

We checked the mathematical accuracy of the calculation

of the provision for inventories;

HFRE T FEREEGHT B LR

We observed the physical condition of inventories during
stocktake to identify if any inventories were damaged,
or obsolete and inquired management if appropriate
inventories provision has been made.
BMEFERBHESE T EENWIERR - UHERF
EeRHREESRE  THAREEEEECFHEER
T E R B2 -

We found the assumptions adopted and judgment applied by

management in the determination of impairment provision for

inventories were supported by the evidence we gathered.

BMRR BEEEAREIFEREEEHRANRKMER

EHI BN B IR AR ©
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The
other information comprises the information included in the Management
Discussion and Analysis (but does not include the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor's report thereon), which we obtained prior to the
date of this auditor's report, and the Financial Summary, Report of Directors,
Chairman’s Statement, Corporate Governance Report, Biographies of Directors
and Senior Management, Environmental, Social and Governance Report,

which are expected to be made available to us after that date.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not and will not express any form of assurance

conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information identified above and, in doing
so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or

otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed on the other information that we
obtained prior to the date of this auditor's report, we conclude that there is
a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report

that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

When we read the Financial Summary, Report of Directors, Chairman’s
Statement, Corporate Governance Report, Biographies of Directors and
Senior Management, Environmental, Social and Governance Report, if we
conclude that there is a material misstatement therein, we are required
to communicate the matter to the Audit Committee and take appropriate

action considering our legal rights and obligations.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THE AUDIT
COMMITTEE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance
with IFRSs and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine is
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that

are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

POP MART
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In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going concern,
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but

to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial

reporting process.

AUDITOR'’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as a
body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken

on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional scepticism throughout the audit. We

also:

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated
financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform
audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of

internal control.
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Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order
to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances,
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of

the Group's internal control.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by

the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group's ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty
exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to

cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying

transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group

audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters,
the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings,
including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify

during our audit.

POP MARTJ POP MART INTERNATIONAL GROUP LIMITED j&ai5 5Bl = mA R A 5

TREEEHBENAIES  URFHEE
MEFIZF - EEMLIEYE BEEBERNE
THINARMERER -

HEEEMRASARENREEREDY
BRHMERT AR EN S IE N -

HEERMAKBELE ST ERNBEHE
L o RIBPAEDRMNETRE - BER
BFEEERABREANERNTTEE
- M ERY BESENKELE
RENELERRE - WREMAR/FEE
RIHEEN - ABEBBEZBENRE PR
AEREIBRSEAVBRERPOMEER
Bo-BEBHENRETRE  BIHMEEH
RIFBREBBR - RPN EREENZE
Bhi s B EPREVS R B AHERRE - A - R
REFESIFEAAIEEER BEEETERHE

AHERAMBHRANBERIIBIRN - &8

MAR - BREKE  URGEHBRERZ
BHERRRZMEIR -

B BEREAERAXFIDONBES
KRR  BENENEE UEHEE
MHBERERER - RMEE EEERE
FHHTTR C BT - HARBFER
EERRELE

BREMERIN  HMREARESER TS
MEEE  BHEZHE  EXEAERS &
FEBAPIAE 2 R 3R BB B B E T KRR

B o



We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and
to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,

actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit
matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law
or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in
extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so
would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of

such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s

report is Yuen Kwok Sun.

PricewaterhouseCoopers

Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 26 March 2021
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS
AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

SmERERkRAMEZERER

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31ALEE

2020 2019
20204 20194F
Note RMB’ 000 RMB"000
Hiat ARBT ARBTT
Revenue Weas 5 2,513,471 1,683,434
Cost of sales $HE AR 6 (919,363) (593,100)
Gross profit ER 1,594,108 1,090,334
Distribution and selling expenses IERIEERY 6 (630,069) (363,819)
General and administrative expenses —MRITEA X (279,967) (142,468)
Reversal of/(provision for) impairment CREERERER S (BE)
on financial assets 398 (3,086)
Other income EHAbUA 7 45,420 17,013
Other (losses)/gains-net Hth (B18) = — 358 (11,107) 820
Operating profit w e A 718,783 598,794
Finance income BT A 8 1,953 424
Finance expenses B X 8 (10,946) (5,813)
Finance expenses — net S — 8 8 (8,993) (5,389)
Fair value changes of convertible AJEER A BB AR A T E
redeemable preferred shares BE) 32 (6,260) -
Share of profit of investments SIEFEAEREARNKRE
accounted for using the equity method picl 3,873 4,970
Profit before income tax BRET 8B ATEF 707,403 598,375
Income tax expense Frigfim = 9 (184,091) (147,257)
Profit for the year FRER 523,312 451,118
Profit for the year attributable to: LT EMERET :
- Owners of the Company —RREHEEA 523,505 451,118
— Non-controlling interests — FEPERR R (193) -
523,312 451,118
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

meRERkEMEEKER

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31ALEE

2020 2019
20204 20194F
Note RMB’ 000 RMB"000
Wizt ARET ARBTT
Other comprehensive (loss)/income Hit2mE (FE) s
ltems that may be reclassified to profit or loss AIEEF DA EIBZEHEB
- Currency translation differences — E¥ihE R (25,726) 903
ltems that will not be reclassified to B reEFfrEEEmMIER
profit or loss
- Currency translation differences —B¥nEES (13,050) -
Other comprehensive (loss)/income for FREMZE (FE) W&
the year, net of tax BBtz (38,776) 903
Total comprehensive income for the year FRZHE B 484,536 452,021
Total comprehensive income for DTEMERAZEREALEE :
the year attributable to:
- Owners of the Company — KNRRHEE A 484,604 452,021
- Non-controlling interests — JEER R (68) -
484,536 452,021
Earnings per share for profit attributable 4~ T #A A BAGEFRI A
to owners of the Company SREF
— Basic (expressed in RMB per share) — EEX(UAEFRAREITER) 11 0.44 0.39
- Diluted (expressed in RMB per share) — 8 (ASRARETERT) 11 0.44 0.39

The above consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive P FiRA

income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

SREEERER

As at 31 December

®W12831H
2020 2019
2020F 20194
Note RMB’ 000 RMB"000
Hiat AR¥T T AR®EFTT
Assets 5=
Non-current assets IRBEE
Property, plant and equipment M - BB R 12 238,325 103,559
Intangible assets mLEE 13 92,731 18,620
Right-of-use assets EREEE 14 287,799 178,938
Investments accounted for using FAEREARNRE
the equity method 16 50,380 22,101
An associate measured at fair value through AR EBEFEBEES
profit or loss FFABEMEBENRIRE 22 16,900 -
Prepayments FERFOA 21 6,177 10,443
Deferred income tax assets BEMSHEE 17 23,087 16,219
Total non-current assets BIERBEE 715,399 349,880
Current assets RBEE
Trade receivables 2 5 W GRIA 18 78,334 45,636
Other receivables o FEUGRIA 19 90,781 59,696
Inventories 3 20 225,369 96,302
Prepayments and other current assets TEfTRIE R A MR B A E 21 177,918 140,353
Financial assets at fair value through BEAFEFAEBSNEREE
profit or loss 22 - 50,000
Restricted Cash HEHRE 23 3,263 -
Cash and cash equivalents BeMReEEY 23 5,680,235 324,614
Total current assets BREBEE 6,255,900 716,601
Total assets BEE 6,971,299 1,066,481
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET

ReEERER

As at 31 December

MA12H31H
2020 2019
20204 20194
Note RMB’ 000 RMB’000
K et AR¥T AREBFT
Equity &
Share capital %N 24 923 82
Shares held for share award scheme TR EENET IS B R, 25 (16) -
Other reserves H M 26 5,189,115 169,631
Retained earnings REBAEF 939,352 423,068
Equity attributable to owners of EATEE AEEER
the Company 6,129,374 592,781
Non-controlling interests in equity FEPERR R 1,628 -
Total equity MR 6,131,002 592,781
Liabilities =L
Non-current liabilities kRBERE
License fees payables [ERTRIEE 29 27,934 1,318
Lease liabilities HEBE 14 147,050 90,812
Total non-current liabilities W RBEE 174,984 92,130
Current liabilities REEE
Trade payables =Y AN e 28 115,804 49,406
License fees payables JERRES 29 58,880 15,177
Other payables H T 5RIR 30 202,297 122,050
Contract liabilities aBHEE 31 83,941 35,167
Lease liabilities HEAE 14 144,724 92,586
Current income tax liabilities BIERFTBTRaE 59,667 67,184
Total current liabilities HwWhREaE 665,313 381,570
Total liabilities wmas 840,297 473,700
Total equity and liabilities BEZREE 6,971,299 1,066,481
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET
mERERMEX

The above consolidated balance sheet should be read in conjunction with

the accompanying notes.

The financial statements on pages 136 to 264 were approved by the Board of

Directors on 26 March 2021 and were signed on its behalf.

Mr. Wang Ning
TR
Executive Director & Chairman

HITESERER
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Executive Director
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CHANGES IN EQUITY

mERERSER

Attributable to owners of the Company

LNGE 2PN
Shares held
for share Non-
Share award Other Retained controlling
capital scheme reserves earnings Subtotal interests Total
RROEE
SHEREN
e Rty Atk REEF Mt FERER &t
(Note 24) (Note 25) (Note 26)
(Wig2e)  (WE25) (M)
Note RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000
fii | AR¥Tn AR%Tr ARETR ARETR AR%Tr ARETR AR%T:n
Balance at 1 January 2020 1202051 B1EMER 82 - 169,631 423,068 592,781 - 592,781
Comprehensive income 2EKE
Profit/(loss) for the year ERETH/(BB) - - - 523505 523,505 (193) 523312
Other comprehensive income ~ Eft2E W
Currency translation difference EHmEER - - (38,901) - (38,901) 125 (38,776)
Total comprehensive income 2ERELE - - (38901) 523,505 484,604 (68) 484,536
Transaction with owners BRBEANRS
Profit appropriation to statutory ~ BEAATE FAERAF
reserves - - 7,221 (7,221) - - -
Non-controlling interests arising ~~ £KAHEERNIEERIER
on business combination - - - - - 1,696 1,696
Re-designation of ordinary shares ~ EFHET L BB AE LR
to preferred shares 24 (3) - (499,658) - (499,661) - (499,661)
Issuance of ordinary shares to MERRRETLBR
the then shareholders 24 4 - 393,801 - 393,805 - 393,805
Conversion of convertible EAERELRER
redeemable preferred shares BLEk
into ordinary shares 24 3 - 626,922 - 626,925 - 626,925
Issuance of ordinary shares under  IREERR 1M 1 12 EN3T 2
Restricted Share Award Scheme (7L R 24 2 ) = - = = -
Capitalisation issue BR B 24 733 (14) (719) - = = -
Issuance of new ordinary shares ~ ETHEER 2 89 - 4,409,110 - 4,409,199 - 4,409,199
Issuance of ordinary shares upon  TREARCIEIESTE (4
exercise of over-allotment option  EfT LMK 2 13 - 661,269 - 661,282 = 661,282
Share issuance costs RIABARAE - - (154902) - (154902) - (154,902)
Dividends declared ERRE - - (384,659) - (384,659) - (384,659)
Total transaction with owners ~ EEBANR 5B 841 (16) 5,058,385 (7,221) 5,051,989 1696 5,053,685
Balance at 31 December 2020  #2020F 1231 A& & 923 (16) 5,189,115 939352 6,129,374 1,628 6,131,002
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF

CHANGES IN EQUITY
REEREHR
Attributable to owners of the Company
NS TN
Shares held
for share Non-
Share award Other Retained controlling
capital scheme reserves earnings Subtotal interests Total
SRR
sHElEER
jig By  HtEE  REEN N SRR At
(Note 24) (Note 25) (Note 26)
(rx4)  (WsE2s)  (BiRE2e)
Note RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
Mg ARETR ARBTT ARKTR ARBTRT ARMTR ARBTT AR%TR
Balance at 1 January 2019 R2019F1 A1 BER - - 126,800 92,030 218830 - 218830
Comprehensive income 2EKRE
Profit for the year FREF - - - 451118 451118 - 451118
Other comprehensiveincome  Eft2EME
Currency translation difference EHmEER - - 903 - 903 - 903
Total comprehensive income  2ENHEAE - - 903 451,118 452,021 - 452,021
Transaction with owners BRBEANRS
Profit appropriation to BREETRELRT
statutory reserves - - 40,080 (40,080) - - -
Capital injection from FRARRTE
shareholders of the Company 82 - 173,040 - 173122 - 173122
Deemed distribution to the RETEEMRE
then shareholders of A-HEERFH
a group company to give ERRRNAR
effect to the Reorganisation - - (172,659) - (172,659) - (172,659)
Dividends declared and paid ERREMRE - - - (80,000) (80,000) - (80,000)
Share-based compensation IARR (D BRI RE R %
expenses 27 - - 1,467 - 1,467 - 1,467
Total transaction with owners ~ EEBANR B 8 - 41,98 (120080 (78,070) - (78,070)
Balance at 31 December 2019 12019512 A31 B M4 8 - 169,631 423,068 592781 - 592781

The above consolidated statement of changes in equity should be read in

conjunction with the accompanying notes.

POP MARTJ POP MART INTERNATIONAL GROUP LIMITED j&ai5 5Bl = mA R A 5

VA_E#R 6 M an B B 5K 8 B B P B R — GBI FE -



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS
Fa =1 }Eﬁlﬂbé‘?fé

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31ALEE

2020 2019
20205 0194
Note RMB’ 000 RMB'000
Wizt ARBT AEBTTT
Cash flows from operating activities RETHELENRERE
Cash generated from operations KEMERE 34(a) 899,881 603,437
Interest received EHFHE 1,953 424
Income tax paid ERETEH (198,476) (100,972)
Net cash generated from RETHABRSTFHE
operating activities 703,358 502,889
Cash flows from investing activities RETHELENESRE
Purchases of property, plant and equipment  BEE#)% 5 L& (175,984) (104,951)
Purchases of intangible assets BERTEE (47,608) (12,551)
Purchases of financial assets at BERATERABRS
fair value through profit or loss EREE 3.3(a) (230,500) (255,000)
Investment in a joint venture R—RaEbENRE (4,475) (2,746)
Investment in an associate R—KEE R RIRIRE (27,424) -
Investment in an associate measured R—RKEARBEAEEHLZS)
at fair value through profit or loss FFABRMEE ARIRE 3.3(a) (16,900) -
Cash acquired from business combination ¥BEHESNES 1,590 -
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets at BB IZ AT EFF ABZA
fair value through profit or loss SREEFTSRUA 281,653 256,981
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and HEME - BFE RREU R
equipment, intangible assets EEEFS R 2,713 -
Net cash used in investing activities RETEBFTARSFEE (216,935) (118,267)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
CASH FLOWS

MERERER

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31ALEE

2020 2019
20204 2019%F
Note RMB’ 000 RMB'000
Wizt ARBT AEBTT
Cash flows from financing activities MELTBHELNESRE
Payment of lease liabilities HEBENR 14 (147,995) (75,773)
Dividends paid ERRE (377,580) (80,000)
Payment for listing expenses Bl FEREN (154,902) (272)
Capital injection from the shareholders RARBIREFE
of the Company 398,375 168,554
Deemed distribution to the then RIEDIRTERBKRRIAEE
shareholders for purchasing %
the Listing Business (4,566) (168,093)
Proceeds from issuance of ordinary BATE B FTSIE
shares 24 5,070,481 -
Proceeds from issuance of convertible FE 4T A EE A A fE B2 ST AR Y
redeemable preferred shares T8 708 32 86,561 -
Net cash generated from/(used in) RMEFBME (A ReFHE
financing activities 4,870,374 (155,584)
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents BRERBELZEYLINTE 5,356,797 229,038
Cash and cash equivalents at FINESRBRSEEY
beginning of the year 324,614 96,802
Exchange losses on cash and Re kB eEBYHNERLESR
cash equivalents (1,176) (1,226)
Cash and cash equivalents at end of FROESREASEEY
the year 5,680,235 324,614
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GENERAL INFORMATION

Pop Mart International Group Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated
in the Cayman Islands on 9 May 2019 as an exempted company with
limited liability under the Companies Law (Cap. 22, Law 3 of 1961 as
consolidated and revised) of the Cayman Islands. The address of the
Company's registered office is 3-212 Governors Square, 23 Lime Tree Bay
Avenue, P.O. Box 30746, Seven Mile Beach, Grand Cayman, KY1-1203,

Cayman Islands.

The Company is an investment holding company and its subsidiaries
are principally engaged in the product design and development and
sale of pop toys in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC") and certain
overseas countries and regions. The ultimate holding company of the
Company is GWF Holding Limited (formerly known as Grant Wang
Holding Limited), which is controlled by Mr. Wang Ning and his spouse,
Ms. Yang Tao.

On 11 December 2020, the Company has successfully listed on
the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“the
“Stock Exchange”) and made an offering of 135,715,200 new ordinary
shares at a price of HKD38.5 per share. Additionally, the Company
issued and allotted 20,357,200 ordinary shares on 15 December 2020
pursuant to the full exercise of the over-allotment option as disclosed
in the announcement of the Company dated 15 December 2020.
The gross proceeds received by the Company was approximately
HKD6,008,787,000 (equivalent to approximately RMB5,070,481,000).

Pursuant to a written resolution of all shareholders of the Company (the
“Shareholders”) passed on 23 November 2020, conditional upon the
share premium account of the Company being credit as a result of the
issuance of new shares pursuant to the global offering, the directors
of the Company (the “Director”) were authorized to capitalize an
amount of USD112,128 towards paying up in full at par of 1,121,278,635
ordinary shares of USD0.0001 par value each for allotment and issue to
the persons whose names appear on the register of members of the
Company at the close of business on the business day preceding 11

December 2020 (“Capitalization Issue”).

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR

—REH
WABKEEEEARAR ([ARF])
R2019F5 AR REHSHBE R RNEE22
Z (1961 FEIFIE - IR E RIEET)
FEHETMKXLAEREERAA - K
NElFEMHEROHIEA3-212 Governors
Square, 23 Lime Tree Bay Avenue, P.O. Box
30746, Seven Mile Beach, Grand Cayman, KY1-
1203, Cayman Islands ©

KRR ABKEERAR  EHMBAREE
RPZEARLIME ([FE]) REFTEH
B R K b & ¢ 25 08 I L Y B 5B B B
BENHE o ARRRAIER D E BGWF
Holding Limited (AT Grant Wang Holding
Limited) * B E R TS RERERBESE
TSI o

R2020F 124118 - RABKINES B
ERGHBMR AR ([BRAT]) ERET
R ER385 B THIERIRE2 85 135,715,200
RREF L@ - o WA RARBEA
2020F 12 RSB RHFRI#HTE - ARARN
2020%F 12 415 B gt BT (L iR SR B AR E T
97 N B0 E520,357,200 % AR o AN A AIAT
I B BT 15 SR IE B RE 4 /36,008,787,0008 7T
(FEERHARHES5,070,481,0007T) °

RIBEARA2ERE ([ARF]) B 20204F
MAZE@BNEERZRE  EA2FR
MaEREBEEREERITHRMES
HIEMBERT  ERARARES([EF))
FEiBK 112,128 KT BAEE AT IR E A R H
2020512 AN BRI — B2 % B & RS
REZBYARRIBRRAMAA TR KE
TE£1,121,278635 R ARSI AR GKRE
180.0001 £ T MR ([ EAR(EEEST]) ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2.1

POP MART

GENERAL INFORMATION (continued)

These consolidated financial statements are presented in Renminbi

("RMB"), unless otherwise stated.

These consolidated financial statements have been approved for issue
by the Board of Directors on 26 March 2021.

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES

This note provides a list of the significant accounting policies adopted
in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements. These
policies have been consistently applied to all the year presented, unless
otherwise stated. The financial statements are for the Group consisting

of the Company and its subsidiaries.

Basis of preparation

(i) Compliance with IFRS and HKCO

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been
prepared in accordance with all applicable International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRS") issued by International Accounting
Standards Board (IASB") and the disclosure requirements of the

Hong Kong Companies Ordinance ("HKCO") Cap. 622.

(ii) Historical cost convention

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under
the historical cost convention, as modified by the revaluation of
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss which are carried

at fair value.

POP MART INTERNATIONAL GROUP LIMITED 2554 EIF e BA R A R

2.1
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)
(iii) New and amended standards adopted by the Group

The Group has applied the following standards and amendments
for the first time for their annual reporting period commencing 1
January 2020:

Definition of Material — amendments to IAS 1 and IAS 8

Definition of a Business — amendments to IFRS 3

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform — amendments to IFRS 9, IAS
39 and IFRS 7
Revised Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting

The Group also elected to adopt the following amendments early:

COVID-19-Related Rent Concessions — amendments to IFRS 16

The amendments listed above did not have any impact on the
amounts recognised in prior periods and are not expected to
significantly affect the current or future periods, except for the

Amendment to IFRS 16 set out in Note 2.2 below.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

2 EXSHEESRE 4w
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HIFAERESRIFHENESE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2
POLICIES (continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued) 2.1

(iv) New standards, amendments and revised conceptual
framework not yet adopted

The following new accounting standards and interpretations have
been published that are not mandatory for 31 December 2020
reporting periods and have not been early adopted by the Group.

New standards, interpretations and amendments

HETER - REBREET

EASTHHERE »)

REEXE (8)

(iv) BARERAMBFTET R ~ BT R
1ERT = HESR
THFEI L ER R RED EEM
B %2020 12 A31 B EHIRR
BIAER - B EEREEIRFHER -

Effective date
= =Rt

Amendments to IAS 1 - Classification of Liabilities as Current and Non-current

1 January 2023

REst RIS IRER] - BRENBRRIEIERY 2023%F1 A H
Amendments to IAS 16 — Property, plant and equipment: proceeds before intended use 1 January 2022
Bl @ st ERIE165RIER] — W5 - W Mk - BUE BE BT PTIS 5B 20224F1 A H
Amendments to IAS 37 — Onerous contracts — costs of fulfilling a contract 1 January 2022
Rt ERIEITRIER] — EEEL — BITAKNEAR 20221 A1H
Amendments to IFRS 3 — Update reference to the Conceptual framework 1 January 2022
B 81 i S MRS 3578 7] — S| BBTRIER S E 20224F1 A H

Annual improvements 2018-2020 cycle (IFRS 1, IFRS 9, IFRS 16 and IAS 41)

1 January 2022

2018 F £ 2020 F AEIMFE e (BIBR BTG TR S 2ERISE 1557 ~ BIPR I IS RS 2RI 955 - 202281 818

R TS S R 165% R BIRR & 5T ERISE 41 5%)
IFRS 17 — Insurance Contracts
B B B S 2RI 1758 — RIRE 4
Amendments to IFRS 10 and IAS 28 - Sale or contribution of assets
R EERIE 105k MBS RIS 285/ EFT — HEHEABE

The Group has already commenced an assessment of the impact of
these new or revised standards and amendments. According to the
preliminary assessment made by the Group, no significant impact
on the Group's financial statements is expected when they become

effective.

POP MARTJ POP MART INTERNATIONAL GROUP LIMITED j&ai5 5Bl = mA R A 5
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2

2.2

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Changes in accounting policies

The Group has early adopted Amendment to IFRS 16 — COVID-19-Related
Rent Concessions retrospectively from 1 January 2020. The amendment
provides an optional practical expedient allowing lessees to elect not
to assess whether a rent concession related to COVID-19 is a lease
modification. Lessees adopting this election may account for qualifying
rent concessions in the same way as they would if they were not lease
modifications. The practical expedient only applies to rent concessions
occurring as a direct consequence of the COVID-19 pandemic and only

if all of the following conditions are met:

the change in lease payments results in revised consideration
for the lease that is substantially the same as, or less than, the

consideration for the lease immediately preceding the change;

any reduction in lease payments affects only payments originally

due on or before 30 June 2021; and

there is no substantive change to other terms and conditions of the

lease.

The Group has applied the practical expedient to all qualifying COVID-
19-related rent concessions. Rent concessions totaling approximately
RMB7,229,000 have been accounted for as negative variable lease
payments and recognised in distribution and selling expenses and
general and administrative expenses in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income, with a corresponding
adjustment to the lease liability. There is no impact on the opening

balance of equity at 1 January 2020.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.3 Summary of significant accounting policies
(i) Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities) over
which the Group has control. The Group controls an entity when
the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from
its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power to direct the activities of the entity.
Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on which control
is transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated from the date

that control ceases.

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised gains on
transactions between group companies are eliminated. Unrealised
losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence
of an impairment of the transferred asset. Accounting policies
of subsidiaries have been changed where necessary to ensure

consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

Non-controlling interests in the results and equity of subsidiaries
are shown separately in the consolidated statement of profit of loss
and other comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity

and balance sheet respectively.

Subsidiary controlled through Contractual Arrangements

There is an entity controlled by the Group under Contractual
Arrangements. The Group does not have legal ownership in
equity of the structured entity. Nevertheless, under Contractual
Arrangement entered into with the Registered Shareholders of
the structured entity, the Company and its other legally owned
subsidiaries controlled the structured entity by way of controlling
the voting rights, governing its financial and operating policies,
appointing or removing the majority of members of its controlling
authorities, and casting the majority of votes at meetings of
such authorities. Accordingly, the Group has rights to exercise
power over the structured entity, receives variable returns from
involvement in the structured entity. As a result, it is presented as a

controlled structured entity of the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 EX®

POLICIES (continued)

FTEREE 2)

2.3 Principles of consolidation (continued) 23 IREARERR (&)
(i) Joint arrangements (i) BERH

Under IFRS 11 Joint Arrangements investments in joint
arrangements are classified as either joint operations or joint
ventures. The classification depends on the contractual rights and
obligations of each investor, rather than the legal structure of the
joint arrangement. The Group has assessed the nature of its joint

arrangements and determined them to be joint ventures.

m;%w&&%ﬁ,ﬁu
o AERHENRESBERBERD
&é\**ﬁ% EEOBRNIBRIEER
BEMNAOENEEME (MERZERY
HERERE) ME - AEEDFEES
BREBMNE  UHZEARLHE

PR ER

EREERE -
Joint ventures BEPE
Interests in joint ventures are accounted for using the equity REERENERVBEKANES
method (see (iv) below), after initially being recognised at cost in BEEAEXRERE  SRAEZZEAR

the consolidated balance sheet.

(iii) Associates

Associates are all entities over which the Group has significant
influence but not control or joint control. This is generally the
case where the Group holds between 20% and 50% of the voting
rights. Investments in associates are accounted for using the
equity method of accounting (see (iv) below), after initially being

recognised at cost.

(iii)

(BRTX(v) °

BtE N

HENRIEAREHEGERTEN
MEEhEERERHENTEE
B aEERNAEERFE20%E50%
FORME - REEE DB E VIR IR K
AERE - FRAEGHEARET
X(iv)) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.3 Principles of consolidation (continued)
(iv) Equity method

Under the equity method of accounting, the investments are
initially recognised at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the
Group's share of the post-acquisition profits or losses of the investee
in profit or loss, and the Group's share of movements in other
comprehensive income of the investee in other comprehensive
income. Dividends received or receivable from joint ventures are

recognised as a reduction in the carrying amount of the investment.

Where the Group’s share of losses in an equity-accounted
investment equals or exceeds its interest in the entity, including
any other unsecured long-term receivables, the Group does not
recognise further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made

payments on behalf of the other entity.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its joint
ventures are eliminated to the extent of the Group's interest in
these entities. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the asset
transferred. Accounting policies of equity-accounted investees have
been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the

policies adopted by the Group.

The carrying amount of equity-accounted investments is tested for

impairment in accordance with the policy described in Note 2.10.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 EASHHBEMHME &)

POLICIES (continued)
23 HmEARER (#&)

2.3 Principles of consolidation (continued)

(v) Changes in ownership interests

The group treats transactions with non-controlling interests
that do not result in a loss of control as transactions with equity
owners of the Group. A change in ownership interest results in an
adjustment between the carrying amounts of the controlling and
non-controlling interests to reflect their relative interests in the
subsidiary. Any difference between the amount of the adjustment
to non-controlling interests and any consideration paid or received
is recognised in a separate reserve within equity attributable to

owners of the Group.

When the Group ceases to consolidate or equity account for an
investment because of a loss of control, joint control or significant
influence, any retained interest in the entity is remeasured to its
fair value with the change in carrying amount recognised in profit
or loss. This fair value becomes the initial carrying amount for the
purposes of subsequently accounting for the retained interest
as an associate, joint venture or financial asset. In addition, any
amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income in
respect of that entity are accounted for as if the Group had directly
disposed of the related assets or liabilities. This may mean that
amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income are
reclassified to profit or loss or transferred to another category of

equity as specified/permitted by applicable IFRSs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.4 Business combinations

(a)

POP MART

Business combination under common control

Business combinations under common control refers to
combinations where combining entities are controlled by the same
parties before and after the combination and that control is not

transitory.

The acquirer measures both the consideration paid and the net
assets obtained at their carrying amounts. The difference between
the carrying amount of the net assets and carrying amount of
consideration paid is recorded in reserve. All direct transaction
cost attributable to the business combination is recorded in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income. However, the handling fees, commissions and other
expenses incurred for the issuance of equity instruments or
bonds for the business combination are recorded in the initial

measurement of the equity instruments and bonds respectively.

Business combination not under common control

The acquisition method of accounting is used to account for
business combinations not under common control, regardless
of whether equity instruments or other assets are acquired.
The consideration transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary

comprises the:

fair values of the assets transferred

liabilities incurred to the former owners of the acquired

business

equity interests issued by the Group

fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a contingent

consideration arrangement, and

fair value of any pre-existing equity interest in the subsidiary
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 EASHHBEMHME &)

POLICIES (continued)
24 50t (&)
(b) IEHEIEFITHERSH (&)

2.4 Business combinations (continued)

(b) Business combination not under common control

(continued)

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities
assumed in a business combination are, with limited exceptions,
measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date. The
Group recognises any non-controlling interest in the acquired
entity on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis either at fair value or at
the non- controlling interest’s proportionate share of the acquired

entity’s net identifiable assets.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

The excess of the:

consideration transferred,

amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquired entity,

and

acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest in the

acquired entity

over the fair value of the net identifiable assets acquired is recorded
as goodwill. If those amounts are less than the fair value of the
net identifiable assets of the business acquired, the difference is

recognised directly in profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.

Where settlement of any part of cash consideration is deferred, the
amounts payable in the future are discounted to their present value
as at the date of exchange. The discount rate used is the entity’s
incremental borrowing rate, being the rate at which a similar
borrowing could be obtained from an independent financier under
comparable terms and conditions. Contingent consideration is
classified either as equity or a financial liability. Amounts classified
as a financial liability are subsequently remeasured to fair value with

changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.4 Business combinations (continued)

(b) Business combination not under common control
(continued)

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition
date carrying value of the acquirer’s previously held equity interest
in the acquiree is remeasured to fair value at the acquisition
date. Any gains or losses arising from such remeasurement are

recognised in profit or loss.

2.5 Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less impairment.
Cost includes direct attributable costs of investment. The results of
subsidiaries are accounted for by the Group on the basis of dividend

received and receivables.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is required upon
receiving a dividend from these investments if the dividend exceeds the
total comprehensive income of the subsidiary in the period the dividend
is declared or if the carrying amount of the investment in the separate
financial statements exceeds the carrying amount in the financial

information of the investee’s net assets including goodwill.

2.6 Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the
internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision-makers
("CODM"). The CODM, who is responsible for allocating resources and
assessing performance of the operating segments, has been identified

as executive director of the Group.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.7 Foreign currency translation

(i)

(i)

Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s
entities are measured using the currency of the primary economic
environment in which the entity operates (“the functional
currency”). The functional currency of the Company is United
States Dollars ("USD") and the functional currency of the companies
outside of PRC is USD, Hong Kong Dollars (‘HKD") or South Korea
Won ("KRW"). The consolidated financial information is presented in
Renminbi ("RMB"), which is the Company's and Group's presentation

currency.

Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional
currency using the exchange rates at the dates of the transactions.
Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of
such transactions and from the translation of monetary assets and
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at year end exchange
rates are generally recognised in profit or loss. They are deferred in
equity if they relate to qualifying cash flow hedges and qualifying
net investment hedges or are attributable to part of the net

investment in a foreign operation.

Foreign exchange gains and losses that relate to borrowings are
presented in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income within “finance expenses — net”.
All other foreign exchange gains and losses are presented in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive

income within “Other gains/(losses)-net".

Non-monetary items that are measured at fair value in a foreign
currency are translated using the exchange rates at the date when
the fair value was determined. Translation differences on assets and
liabilities carried at fair value are reported as part of the fair value
gain or loss. For example, translation differences on non-monetary
assets and liabilities such as equities held at fair value through profit
or loss are recognised in profit or loss as part of the fair value gain

or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.7 Foreign currency translation (continued)
(iii) Group companies

The results and financial position of foreign operations (none of
which has the currency of a hyperinflationary economy) that have
a functional currency different from the presentation currency are

translated into the presentation currency as follows:

assets and liabilities for each balance sheet presented are

translated at the closing rate at the date of that balance sheet

income and expenses for each statement of comprehensive
income are translated at average exchange rates (unless this is
not a reasonable approximation of the cumulative effect of the
rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in which case income
and expenses are translated at the dates of the transactions),

and

all resulting exchange differences are recognised in other

comprehensive income.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation
of any net investment in foreign entities, and of borrowings
and other financial instruments designated as hedges of such
investments, are recognised in other comprehensive income. When
a foreign operation is sold or any borrowings forming part of the
net investment are repaid, the associated exchange differences are

reclassified to profit or loss, as part of the gain or loss on sale.
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2

2.8

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in progress, are
stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment.
Historical cost includes expenditures that are directly attributable to the

acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or
recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable
that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the
Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying
amount of the replaced part is derecognised. All other repairs and
maintenance are charged in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income during the financial period in which

they are incurred.

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment is calculated using the
straight-line method to allocate their cost, net of their residual values,

over their estimated useful lives, as follows:

Roboshop machines 5 years
Moulds 1.5-3 years
Equipment and others 5 years

Leasehold improvement  Shorter of remaining lease term or useful life

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if

appropriate, at each balance sheet date.

An asset's carrying amount is written down immediately to its
recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater than its

estimated recoverable amount.

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the
proceeds with the carrying amount and are recognised within “Other
gains/(losses)-net” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and

other comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.9 Intangible assets
(i) Goodwill

Goodwill is measured as described in note 2.4. Goodwill on
acquisitions of subsidiaries is included in intangible assets.
Goodwill is not amortised but it is tested for impairment annually,
or more frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate
that it might be impaired and is carried at cost less accumulated
impairment losses. Gains and losses on the disposal of an entity

include the carrying amount of goodwill relating to the entity sold.

Goodwill is allocated to cash-generating units for the purpose of
impairment testing. The allocation is made to those cash-generating
units or groups of cash-generating units that are expected to
benefit from the business combination in which the goodwill arose.
The units or groups of units are identified at the lowest level at
which goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes,

being the operating segments.

(ii) Software

Acquired software are capitalised on the basis of the costs incurred

to acquire and bring to use the specific software.

(iii

=

Intellectual property rights (“IP Rights”)

Acquired IP rights are capitalised on the basis of the costs incurred
to acquire. They have a finite useful life and are subsequently
carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and impairment
losses. Variable payments in relation to purchase of IP rights that
depend on sales are recognised in profit or loss in the period in

which the condition that triggers those payments occurs.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.9 Intangible assets (continued)

(iv) Licensed intellectual properties (“Licensed IPs”)

License rights are stated at historical cost less accumulated
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. The historical
costs of license rights are measured at the present values of the
fixed minimum payments at the date of purchase of the respective
license rights. Variable payments in relation to license rights that
depend on sales are recognised in profit or loss in the period in

which the condition that triggers those payments occurs.

Research and development costs

Research cost is recognised in profit or loss in the period in which
it is incurred. Development cost is capitalised only if all of the

following conditions are satisfied:

it is technically feasible to complete the software so that it will

be available for use

management intends to complete the software and use or sell
it

there is an ability to use or sell the software

it can be demonstrated how the software will generate

probable future economic benefits

adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete
the development and to use or sell the software are available,

and

the expenditure attributable to the software during its

development can be reliably measured.

Other development costs that do not meet those criteria are

expensed as incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.9 Intangible assets (continued)
(vi) Amortisation methods and periods

The Group amortises intangible assets with a limited useful life

using the straight-line method over the following periods:

Software 5 years
IP rights 10 years
Licensed IPs 2-10 years

The Group estimates the useful life of the IP rights and Licensed IPs
based on the estimated period during which such assets can bring
economic benefit to the Group. The Group estimates the expected
lifecycle of major IPs will be more than 10 years. Among the rights
relating to each of the acquired IP rights, trademark has a term of
validity of 10 years and is subject to renewal after its expiration,
and patents for each IP are valid for 10 years from the date of
application. For acquired IP rights, the useful lives are determined
based on the shorter of the expected lifecycle of the IPs, and 10
years, being the term of validity of the major rights of the IP rights.
For licensed IPs, the useful lives are determined based on shorter
of the expected lifecycle of the IPs, and contractual term of the

respective license agreements (Note 4(b)).

2.10 Impairment of non-financial assets

Intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life are not subject to
amortisation and are tested annually for impairment, or more frequently
if events or changes in circumstances indicate that they might be
impaired. Other assets are tested for impairment whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not
be recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by
which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The
recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs of
disposal and value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment,
assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately
identifiable cash inflows which are largely independent of the cash
inflows from other assets or groups of assets (cash-generating units).
Non-financial assets other than goodwill that suffered an impairment
are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at the end of each

reporting period.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.11 Investments and other financial assets

(a)

Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets in the following

measurement categories:

those to be measured subsequently at fair value (either
through other comprehensive income (“OCI"), or through profit

or loss), and

those to be measured at amortised cost.

The classification depends on the Group's business model for
managing the financial assets and the contractual terms of the cash

flows.

For assets measured at fair value, gains and losses will either
be recorded in profit or loss or OCI. For investments in equity
instruments that are not held for trading, this will depend on
whether the Group has made an irrevocable election at the time of
initial recognition to account for the equity investment at fair value

through other comprehensive income ("FVOCI").

The Group reclassifies debt investments when and only when its

business model for managing those assets changes.

Recognition and derecognition

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised
on trade-date, the date on which the Group commits to purchase
or sell the asset. Financial assets are derecognised when the rights
to receive cash flows from the financial assets have expired or have
been transferred and the Group has transferred substantially all the

risks and rewards of ownership.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.11 Investments and other financial assets (continued)
(c) Measurement

At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial asset at its fair
value plus, in the case of a financial asset not at fair value through
profit or loss, transaction costs that are directly attributable to the
acquisition of the financial asset. Transaction costs of financial assets
carried at fair value through profit or loss (‘FVPL") are expensed in

profit or loss.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered in their
entirety when determining whether their cash flows are solely

payment of principal and interest.

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on the
Group's business model for managing the asset and the cash flow
characteristics of the asset. There are two measurement categories

into which the Group classifies its debt instruments:

Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection of
contractual cash flows where those cash flows represent solely
payments of principal and interest are measured at amortised
cost. A gain or loss on a debt investment that is subsequently
measured at amortised cost and is not part of a hedging
relationship is recognised in the consolidated statement of
profit of loss and other comprehensive income when the
asset is derecognised or impaired. Interest income from
these financial assets is included in interest income using the
effective interest rate method. Impairment losses are presented
as separate line item in consolidated statement of profit or loss

and other comprehensive income.

Fair value through profit or loss: Assets that do not meet
the criteria for amortised cost or financial assets at fair value
through other comprehensive income are measured at fair
value through profit or loss. A gain or loss on a debt investment
that is subsequently measured at fair value through profit or
loss and is not part of a hedging relationship is recognised in
profit or loss and presented net in the consolidated statement
of profit of loss and other comprehensive income within “Other

gains/(losses)-net” in the period in which it arises.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.11 Investments and other financial assets (continued)

(c)

Measurement (continued)
Equity instruments

The Group subsequently measures all equity instruments at fair
value. Where the Group’s management has elected to present fair
value gains and losses on equity instruments in OCl, there is no
subsequent reclassification of fair value gains and losses to profit
or loss following the derecognition of the investment. Dividends
from such investments continue to be recognised in profit or loss
as other gains, net when the Group's right to receive payments is
established.

Changes in the fair value of financial assets at FVPL are recognised
in “Other gains/(losses)-net” in consolidated statement of profit or
loss and other comprehensive income as applicable. Impairment
losses (and reversal of impairment losses) on equity investments
measured at FVOC| are not reported separately from other changes

in fair value.

Impairment

The Group assesses on a forward looking basis the expected credit
losses associated with its debt instruments carried at amortised
cost. The impairment methodology applied depends on whether

there has been a significant increase in credit risk.

For trade receivables, the Group applies the simplified approach
permitted by IFRS 9, which requires expected lifetime losses to be
recognised from initial recognition of the receivables, see Note
3.1(b) for details.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.12 Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in
the balance sheet when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the
recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis
or realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. The legally
enforceable right must not be contingent on future events and must be
enforceable in the normal course of business and in the event of default,

insolvency or bankruptcy of the Group or the counterparty.

2.13 Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost
is determined using the weighted average method. Costs of purchased
inventory are determined after deducting rebates and discounts. It
excludes borrowing costs. Net realisable value is the estimated selling
price in the ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of

completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

2.14 Trade receivables

Trade receivables are amounts due from customers for goods sold or
services performed in the ordinary course of business. If collection of
trade and other receivables is expected in one year or less (or in the
normal operating cycle of the business if longer), they are classified as

current assets. If not, they are presented as non-current assets.

Trade receivables are recognised initially at the amount of consideration
that is unconditional unless they contain significant financing
components, when they are recognised at fair value. The Group holds
the trade receivables with the objective to collect the contractual cash
flows and therefore measures them subsequently at amortised cost

using the effective interest method.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

2.15 Cash and cash equivalents

In the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents
includes cash in hand, deposits held at call with banks and other
short-term highly liquid investments with original maturities of three

months or less.

2.16 Share capital and shares held for share award scheme

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issuance of new shares are

shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

Shares held for the share award scheme are disclosed as “Shares held
for Share Award Scheme” and deducted from equity until the shares are

vested or cancelled.

2.17 Trade payables

These amounts represent liabilities for goods and services provided
to the Group prior to the end of financial year which are unpaid.
The amounts are unsecured and are usually paid within 180 days of
recognition. Trade payables are presented as current liabilities unless
payment is not due within 12 months after the reporting period. They
are recognised initially at their fair value and subsequently measured at

amortised cost using the effective interest method.

2.18 Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when the Group has received
considerations from the customers before the control of the goods

transferred or the services rendered.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.19 Convertible Redeemable preferred shares

Preferred shares issued by the Company are redeemable upon
occurrence of certain future events. These instruments are also attached
with a conversion option. Details of the convertible redeemable

preferred shares issued by the Company are given in Note 32.

The Group designated the convertible redeemable preferred shares as
financial liabilities at FVPL. They are initially recognised at fair value. Any
directly attributable transaction costs are recognised at finance costs in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income. The component of fair value changes relating to the Company's
own credit risk is recognised in OCI. Amounts recorded in OCl related to
credit risk are not subject to recycling in profit or loss but are transferred
to retained earnings when realised. Fair value changes relating to market

risk are recognised in profit or loss.

Convertible redeemable preferred shares are classified as non-current
liabilities unless the holders can demand the Company to redeem the
convertible redeemable preferred shares within 12 months after the end

of the reporting period.

2.20 Current and deferred income tax

The income tax expense or credit for the period is the tax payable on
the current period’s taxable income, based on the applicable income tax
rate for each jurisdiction, adjusted by changes in deferred tax assets and

liabilities attributable to temporary differences and to unused tax losses.

(a) Current income tax

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the
tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet
date in the countries where the Group and its subsidiaries operate
and generate taxable income. Management periodically evaluates
positions taken in tax returns with respect to situations in which
applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation. It establishes
provisions where appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to

be paid to the tax authorities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 2 EASHHBEMHME &)

POLICIES (continued)
220 BVEA R IEAE FT 1S H% (48)
(b) IEFEPTISHL

2.20 Current and deferred income tax (continued)

(b) Deferred income tax

Deferred income tax is provided in full, using the liability method,
on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of assets
and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the consolidated
financial statements. However, deferred tax liabilities are not
recognised if they arise from the initial recognition of goodwill.
Deferred income tax is also not accounted for if it arises from initial
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction other than a
business combination that at the time of the transaction affects
neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred income tax
is determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period and are
expected to apply when the related deferred income tax asset is

realised or the deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred tax assets are recognised only if it is probable that future
taxable amounts will be available to utilise those temporary

differences and losses.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not recognised for temporary
differences between the carrying amount and tax bases of
investments in foreign operations where the Group is able to
control the timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and
it is probable that the differences will not reverse in the foreseeable

future.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally
enforceable right to offset current tax assets and liabilities and
when the deferred tax balances relate to the same taxation
authority. Current tax assets and tax liabilities are offset where the
entity has a legally enforceable right to offset and intends either to
settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liability

simultaneously.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.20 Current and deferred income tax (continued)
(b) Deferred income tax (continued)

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except to the
extent that it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive
income or directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also recognised

in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, respectively.

2.21 Employee benefits
(@) Short-term obligations

Liabilities for wages and salaries that are expected to be settled
wholly within 12 months after the end of the period in which the
employees render the related service are recognised in respect of
employees’ services up to the end of the reporting period and are
measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities
are settled. The liabilities are presented as current employee benefit

obligations in the balance sheet.

(b) Pension, housing funds, medical insurances and other social
insurances

In accordance with the rules and regulations in the PRC, the Group
has arranged for its PRC employees to join defined contribution
plans, including pension, medical, housing and other welfare
benefits, recognised by the PRC government. According to the
relevant regulations, the monthly contributions that should be
borne by the PRC subsidiaries of the Company are calculated based
on percentages of the total salary of employees, subject to a certain
ceiling. The assets of these plans are held separately from those of

the Group in independent funds managed by the PRC government.

The Group has no further payment obligations once the above
contributions have been paid. The Group’s contributions to these
plans are charged in the consolidated statement of profit or loss

and other comprehensive income as incurred.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

2.22 Share-based payments

Share-based compensation benefits are provided to employees via
share award scheme. Information relating to the schemes is set out
in Note 27. The fair value of the services received in exchange for the
grant of the restricted shares is recognised as an expense. The total
amount to be expensed is determined by reference to the fair value
of the restricted shares granted as at grant date, including any market
performance conditions, excluding the impacts of any service and
non-market performance vesting conditions as well as including any
non-vesting conditions, when applicable. The total amount expensed is
recognised over the vesting period, which is the period over which all of

the specified vesting conditions are to be satisfied.

At the end of each reporting period, the Group revises its estimates of
the number of shares that are expected to vest based on the non-market
vesting conditions. It recognises the impact of the revision of original
estimates, if any, in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income with a corresponding adjustment to

equity.

The proceeds received net of any directly attributable transaction costs
are credited to share capital (nominal value) and share premium when

the shares are exercised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.23 Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or
receivable, and represents amounts receivables for goods supplied or
serviced provided, stated net of discounts and the relevant business

taxes or value added taxes.

(a) Sale of goods - retail store sales and roboshop sales

The Group operates a chain of retail stores and roboshop machines
for selling pop toys. Revenue from sales of goods are recognised
when the control of the product has transferred to the customer.
There was no right of return for the sales to the end customer.
Retail sales are usually settled in cash, by credit/debit cards or

through online payment platforms.

Despite that a majority of roboshop machines are directly operated
by the Group, certain roboshop machines are operated by third
party roboshop partners where the Group grants roboshop partners
the right to operate roboshop machines for selling pop toys for
a period of two years. Roboshop partner acts as an agent of the
Group rather than the principal in the transaction since roboshop
partner is not primarily responsible for fulfilling the promise to
provide the pop toys to the customers, does not take inventory risk
and has no pricing latitude. Hence roboshop partners do not obtain
the control of goods before they are transferred to the customer.
Revenue is recognised when control of the products has transferred
to the customer, and the commissions to roboshop partners is

charged to “distribution and selling expenses”.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.23 Revenue recognition (continued)

(b) Sale of goods - online sales

Pop toys are also sold through self-operated online platform or
other third-party e-commercial platform and revenue is recognised
when the control of the products has transferred to the customer,
which is the point of acceptance by the customers. Revenue from
these sales are recognised based on the price, net of the estimated
sales discounts at the time of sale. Transactions are settled in
cash, by credit/debit cards or through online payment platforms.
The commissions to the third party e-commercial platform is an
incremental cost to obtaining a contract. The Group apply the
practical expedient to expense the commissions as incurred as the

expected amortisation period is one year or less.

Sale of goods — customer loyalty programme

The Group operates a loyalty programme where retail and online
customers accumulate points for purchases made which entitle
them to discounts on future purchases. A contract liability for the
award points is recognised at the time of the sale. Revenue from
the award points is recognised when the points are redeemed or
when they expire. During the year ended 2020, the points expire at
the end of each six months from the date on which the initial sales
occurs. During the year ended 2019, all of the points expire at the

end of the year during which the initial sales occurs.

A contract liability is recognised until the points are redeemed
or expired. As at 31 December 2020, the Group have 436,060,000

outstanding award points (as at 31 December 2019: nil).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.23 Revenue recognition (continued)
(d) Sales of goods — wholesale

Revenue are recognised when control of the products has
transferred, being when products are delivered to the wholesaler,
the wholesaler has full discretion over the channel and price to sell
the products, and there is no unfulfilled obligation that could affect
the wholesaler's acceptance of the products. Delivery occurs when
the products have been shipped to the specified location, the risks
of obsolescence and loss have been transferred to the wholesaler,
and either the wholesaler has accepted the products in accordance
with the sales contract, the acceptance provisions have lapsed, or
the Group has objective evidence that all criteria for acceptance

have been satisfied.

As receivable is recognised when the goods are delivered as this is
the point in time that the consideration is unconditional because

only the passage of time is required before the payment is due.

(e) Revenue from conventions

The Group holds conventions that enable the Group and third-
party brand owners to sell pop toys to the customers. Revenue
from holding conventions includes selling convention tickets,
commission income and sales of the Group's products. For tickets
sold, revenue is recognised in the accounting period in which
the services are rendered. For commission income, revenue is
recognised upon sales of goods by the relevant brand owners.
For sales of goods, revenue is recognised when the control of the

products has transferred to the customer, see Note 2.23(a) above.

(f) License fee income

The Group licenses characters to third parties on relevant products
for a period. The income is recognised ratably in the contractual

period.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (continued)

2.24 Leases

Leases are recognised as a right-of-use asset and a corresponding
liability at the date at which the leased asset is available for use by the

Group.

Contracts may contain both lease and non-lease components. The Group
allocates the consideration in the contract to the lease and non-lease
components based on their relative stand-alone prices. However, for
leases of real estate for which the Group is a lessee, it has elected not
to separate lease and non-lease components and instead accounts for

these as a single lease component.

Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide
range of different terms and conditions. The lease agreements do not
impose any covenants other than the security interests in the leased
assets that are held by the lessor. Leased assets may not be used as

security for borrowing purposes.

Assets and liabilities arising from a lease are initially measured on a
present value basis. Lease liabilities include the net present value of the

following lease payments:

fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments), less any

lease incentives receivable

variable lease payment that are based on an index or a rate, initially

measured using the index or rate as at the commencement date

amounts expected to be payable by the Group under residual value

guarantees

the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is reasonably

certain to exercise that option, and

payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease term

reflects the Group exercising that option.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.24 Leases (continued)

Lease payments to be made under reasonably certain extension options

are also included in the measurement of the liability.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in
the lease. If that rate cannot be readily determined, which is generally
the case for leases in the Group, the lessee's incremental borrowing rate
is used, being the rate that the individual lessee would have to pay to
borrow the funds necessary to obtain an asset of similar value to the
right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment with similar terms,

security and conditions.
To determine the incremental borrowing rate, the Group:

uses a build-up approach that starts with a risk-free interest rate
adjusted for credit risk for leases held by the Group, which does not

have recent third-party financing, and

makes adjustments specific to the lease, e.g. term, country, currency

and security.

If a readily observable amortising loan rate is available to the individual
lessee (through recent financing or market data) which has a similar
payment profile to the lease, then the group entities use that rate as a

starting point to determine the incremental borrowing rate.

The Group is exposed to potential future increases in variable lease
payments based on an index or rate, which are not included in the lease
liability until they take effect. When adjustments to lease payments
based on an index or rate take effect, the lease liability is reassessed and

adjusted against the right-of-use asset.

Lease payments are allocated between principal and finance cost. The
finance cost is charged to profit or loss over the lease period so as to
produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of

the liability for each period.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.24 Leases (continued)

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost comprising the following:
the amount of the initial measurement of lease liability

any lease payments made at or before the commencement date

less any lease incentives received
any initial direct costs, and
restoration costs.

Right-of-use assets are generally depreciated over the shorter of the
asset’s useful life and the lease term on a straight-line basis. If the Group
is reasonably certain to exercise a purchase option, the right-of-use asset

is depreciated over the underlying asset’s useful life.

Payments associated with short-term leases of equipment and vehicles
and all leases of low-value assets are recognised on a straight-line basis
as an expense in profit or loss. Short-term leases are leases with a lease

term of 12 months or less.

(@) Variable lease payments

Some property leases contain variable payment terms that are
linked to sales generated from a store. For certain stores including
fixed and variable rental payment terms, the lease payments are on
the basis of variable payment terms with percentages ranging from
9% to 18% of sales. Variable payment terms are used for a variety
of reasons, including minimising the fixed costs base for newly
established stores. Variable lease payments that depend on sales
are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which the condition

that triggers those payments occurs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.24 Leases (continued)
(b) Modification of lease

A lease liability is remeasured upon a change in the lease
term, changes in an index or rate used to determine the lease
payments or reassessment of exercise of a purchase option. The
corresponding adjustment is made to the related right-of-use

assets.

2.25 Government grants

Grants from the government are recognised at their fair value where
there is a reasonable assurance that the grant will be received, and the

Group will comply with all attached conditions.

Government grants relating to expenses are deferred and recognised in
the profit or loss or deducted against related expenses over the period
necessary to match them with the expenses that they are intended to

compensate.

Government grants relating to costs are deferred and recognised in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income over the period necessary to match them with the costs that

they are intended to compensate.

2.26 Interest income

Interest income from financial assets at FVPL is included in the “Other

gains/(losses)-net".

Interest income is presented as finance income where it is earned from
financial assets that are held for cash management purposes, see Note 8

below.
Interest income is presented as finance income where it is earned from

financial assets that are held for cash management purposes, see Note 8

below. Any other interest income is included in other income.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (continued)

2.26 Interest income (continued)

Interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to
the gross carrying amount of a financial asset except for financial assets
that subsequently become credit-impaired. For credit-impaired financial
assets the effective interest rate is applied to the net carrying amount of

the financial asset (after deduction of the loss allowance).

2.27 Dividends

Provision is made for the amount of any dividend declared, being
appropriately authorised and no longer at the discretion of the entity, on
or before the end of the reporting period but not distributed at the end
of the reporting period.

2.28 Earnings per share
(i) Basic earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing:

the profit attributable to owners of the Company, excluding

any costs of servicing equity other than ordinary shares

by the weighted average number of ordinary shares
outstanding during the financial year, adjusted for bonus
elements in ordinary shares issued during the year and

excluding treasury shares.

(ii) Diluted earnings per share

Diluted earnings per share adjusts the figures used in the

determination of basic earnings per share to take into account:

the after income tax effect of interest and other financing costs

associated with dilutive potential ordinary shares, and

the weighted average number of additional ordinary shares
that would have been outstanding assuming the conversion of

all dilutive potential ordinary shares.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 3 BERERE
3.1 IEBEE

3.1 Financial risk factors

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks, primarily
the credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group's overall risk management
programme focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and

seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group's financial

performance.

Risk
E B

Exposure arising from

B A EER

AEENEFDEAARSERBRAR
EREHARERDELAR - AEEY
ERAREEHUSERGRMBHTY
TR + Sk i A 52 L 1 22 48 0
THEE

fFEREK -

Measurement

FFEAR

Market risk — foreign
exchange

M5 Rk — SME

Credit risk

=ERR

Liquidity risk

REE TR

(@) Market risk

(i) Foreign exchange risk

Financial assets and liabilities denominated in foreign

currency different from its functional currency.

NEEIN g BT RMINEHENEREEREE -

Cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, financial assets
at FVPL, trade receivables and other receivables.

ReRFSFEY  IBRHHEL  BAFEFAERZD
TRIEE - B 5 RUGRIE R A b YR -

Financial liabilities
TRIAE

Cash flow forecasting
sensitivity analysis

R mETAERM DT

Aging analysis credit

ratings
Rk DITIEEFTAR

Rolling cash flow forecasts
EEHEmETEA

(a) MmZEM

The Group's businesses are principally conducted in RMB,

which is exposed to foreign currency risk with respect to

transactions denominated in currencies other than RMB.

Foreign exchange risk arises from recognised assets and

liabilities and net investments in foreign operations. The Group

did not enter into any forward contract to hedge its exposure

to foreign currency risk for the year ended 31 December 2020
and 2019.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBmMRMET
3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 HKEBERE @)
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 3.1 BiEEEE (&)
(@) Market risk (continued) (@) miZERE (£&)
(i) Foreign exchange risk (continued) (i) SMNERS (&
Exposure [ fx st 2
The Group's exposure to foreign currency risk as 31 December AREEM2020F 12 431 HRYHNEE
2020, expressed in RMB was as follows: RO (AARBTIR) 0T
31 December 2020 31 December 2019
20206 12H31H 201912 A31H
uUsD HKD usD HKD
E BT ET BT
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000 RMB’000 RMB'000

ARBTRT AR%ETR | ARBTT ARETR

Cash and cash equivalents RekBALEEY 4,605 2,383,429 289 -

Trade receivables B 5 WA - - 469 -

License fees payables ERREE (5,574) (7,167) - -

Sensitivity BRRE

As shown in the table above, the Group is primarily exposed to MERATR  AEBTFZEEBRET

changes in USD/RMB and HKD/RMB exchange rates. HARMEIE SR BT A RIETE &
=4

Impact on post tax profit
HERBRBEFHOE
For the year ended 31 December

BZ12A31ALEE

2020 2019
20204 20194F
RMB’ 000 RMB' 000

ARBTR ARETT

USD/RMB exchange rate — increase 10% ETHAREEE — FF10% (73) 57
USD/RMB exchange rate — decrease 10% =70 H ARBIER — TfE10% 73 (57)
HKD/RMB exchange rate — increase 10% BILAAREER — FF10% 178,220 -
HKD/RMB exchange rate — decrease 10% /&0 ARIER — TFE10% (178,220) -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR M

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)
(b) Credit risk

Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalent, financial assets at
FVPL as well as credit exposures to wholesale and retail customers

including outstanding trade and other receivables.

(i) Risk management

Credit risk is managed on group basis, except for credit risk
relating to accounts receivable balances. Each local entity is
responsible for managing and analysing the credit risk for each
of their new clients before standard payment and delivery
terms and conditions are offered. The Group's credit sales
are only made to customers with appropriate credit history.
The Group has no significant concentration of credit risk. The
carrying amounts of cash and bank balances, financial assets
at FVPL, trade receivables and other receivables represent the
Group's maximum exposure to credit risk in relation to financial

assets.

As at 31 December 2020 and 2019, all the bank deposits
are deposited in or managed by state-owned or reputable
national commercial banks which are all high-credit-quality
financial institutions without significant credit risk. The WMPs
invested by the Group are short-term investments which are
redeemable within six months. The expected rate of return is
provided and periodically updated by the banks on a quarterly
or more frequent basis. Hence, management considers that
there is no significant credit risk for the WMPs invested by the
Group.

For retail and online sales, trade receivables mainly include
credit card receivables and receivables from third-party
payment platform receivables. The management of the Group
believes the credit risk is limited because the deposits in transit
was held by high-credit-quality financial institutions or other
third parties. Trade receivables from retail and online sales

were not significant, so the credit risk inherent in such trade

receivables is low.

AE:P2 POP MART |  POP MART INTERNATIONAL GROUP LIMITED SaiB 3545 IR S BA R A A

BRRER &)
BREREZ (&)
b) EERK

EERBRERELRAEEFEY K
RPEFABRENEREEARRA
HERTEFFNEERR 8K
EENE S MEAMEWKIER -

(i)

R &

EERBIERAREEER - EHREH
JEWR R AR E B BBRRIN - &
B EREA BN RERENRER
MERRIGHREERSITES B
MEPHEERR - AEEERS
BEERFEERBZEPETR
o AEEHEARAEXREERR
£ B RIRITHER - BATE
FFABRNEREE  BEHEKK
IE'L‘A&E@FEW?XIEZEEEEB%
AEERCHAERENRRESR
B

20209 2 2019F 12 318 + AT
BRITERDERRE AR EEE
WEBEERERT(HAYTESEX
EERENSEEEZN SR
B)REEE - AEEREME
MEmARARNEARANER & E
HRE - (RITRFENFE RBEEN
EAERHTEHFEHNTBHRHE -
Eit - BEEBRAAEERENIE
MEMITEEREERR

REERERHENS - BHRK
FETZEMEARBURIENS
=R REEIR - AEEE
EBEERREERRER - REAA/KE
BEFHREEERNSRBER
HitbE£ =148 - RATERER
%%m%%%%%ﬁﬁxéﬁ'l
WHEBESRUIARSEER
BIK -



3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(b) Credit risk (continued)

(i)

(ii)

Risk management (continued)

For trade receivables due from wholesalers, the management
assesses the credit risk quality of the wholesalers based on
their financial positions, past experience, expected loss rates
based on the payment profiles of sales and other factors. The
Group has policies in place to ensure credit terms are granted
to reliable wholesalers. The Group's historical experience in
collection of receivables falls within recorded allowances and
the directors are of the opinion that adequate provision for
uncollectible receivables has been made.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group has two types of financial assets that are subject to
IFRS 9's new expected credit loss model.

trade receivables, and
other receivables

While cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash are
also subject to the impairment requirements of IFRS 9, the
identified impairment loss was immaterial.

Trade receivables

The Group applies the IFRS 9 simplified approach to measure
expected credit losses which uses a lifetime expected loss
allowance for all account receivables. To measure the expected
credit losses, account receivables have been grouped based on
shared credit risk characteristics and the days past due.

The expected loss rates are based on the payment profiles
of sales over a period and the corresponding historical credit
losses experienced within this period. The historical loss rates
are adjusted to reflect current and forward-looking information
on macroeconomic factors affecting the ability of the
customers to settle the receivables.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 HKEBERE @)
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 3.1 BiREEEE (&)
(b) Credit risk (continued) (b) EER (&)
(i) Impairment of financial assets (continued) (i) TEIEERE (&)
Trade receivables (continued) B S EWGRIE (&)
On that basis, the loss allowance as at 31 December 2020 and THER U THEAETE S
2019 was determined as follows for trade receivables : FEUL FRTEFR 20204F N 20194 12 A
31 BER RSB -
31 December 2020 2020512 A31H
Over

Provision on collective basis 0-90 days 91-180 days 180 days Total
RERBEERE 0Z90Xk 91ZE180Kk 180KRELL #st
Lifetime expected credit ZHIEHEE AR

loss rate 0.97% 10.87% 100.00% 2.81%
Gross carrying amount HEREE 78,118 1,095 1,386 80,599
Loss allowance gt (760) (119) (1,386) (2,265)
31 December 2019 2019412 A31H

Over

Provision on collective basis 0-90 days  91-180 days 180 days Total
REBEERE 0ZE90RK  91E180K 180K A HEt
Lifetime expected credit ZHIFEHEEEIER

loss rate 0.14% 6.47% 100.00% 6.04%
Gross carrying amount RERE(E 42,224 3,711 2,634 48,569
Loss allowance EStE R (59) (240) (2,634) (2,933)

Trade receivables are written off when there is no reasonable

expectation of recovery. Indicators that there is no reasonable

expectation of recovery include, amongst others, the failure of

a debtor to engage in a repayment plan with the Group, and

a failure to make contractual payments for a period of greater

than 180 days past due.

Impairment losses on trade receivables are presented as

net impairment losses within operating profit. Subsequent

recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited

against the same line item.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

A BTSRRI
3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 BIBERERE @)
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 3.1 BiRMEE (&)
(b) Credit risk (continued) (b) FERK (&)
(ii) Impairment of financial assets (continued) (i) TEIEERE (&)
Other receivables o fth & YR 1E
Other receivables mainly include deposits for lease. The HtEWHEEZREHEERS -
management of the Group makes periodic collective AEFERETHRBERELEED
assessments as well as individual assessment on the 8 N2 1T A GRS H A FEUGRIB RO AT
recoverability of other receivables based on historical U o] 14 3 77 8 — &1 1 LA K2 {R 51 5F
settlement records and past experiences. The Group measures e AEEFREAOBE([EL
credit risk using Probability of Default (‘PD"), Exposure at MR Z2HRBHO ([ZLHRE
Default (‘"EAD") and Loss Given Default (‘LGD"). This is similar gk 0 ) RERBAE ([ENIE
to the approach used for the purposes of measuring Expected KEDT2EERR - EHBERE
Credit Loss (‘ECL") under IFRS 9. RS EREFIE A 2R

FEEEBER((RBREEEBER]D MA
TR -

Other receivables that are not credit-impaired on initial - TR R AFEEREN
recognition are classified in ‘Stage 1" and have their credit Hih e R IBR DR [ER
risk continuously monitored by the Group. The expected TEASEeRBEEZERE
credit loss is measured on a 12-month basis. ERk - EAEEEIBIZI2E
RAEAEE -
If a significant increase in credit risk (specifically, when - R %ﬂﬁi‘ﬁﬁwfﬁ%fﬁﬁﬁ
the debtor is more than 1 day past due on its contractual ARG (AEME - BE
payments) since initial recognition is identified, the BAMENONE @Hﬂ KA
financial instrument is moved to ‘Stage 2’ but is not yet ) SRmIAEBEIBER
deemed to be credit-impaired. The expected credit loss is 2] BINARERAEEBEREER
measured on lifetime basis. BE - EHEEEEREER
BERE LTS
If the financial instrument is credit-impaired (specifically, - MemIAZ4AEERER
when the debtor is more than 90 days past due on its BME  BEEBANEGHONK
contractual payments), the financial instrument is then @ﬁﬁ%%u\i) CHlemMTIA
moved to ‘Stage 3’ The expected credit loss is measured WRE[RE3] - BEEER
on lifetime basis. BREEFEAEEHSE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

EABBRERME

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 BEREE 2

3.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 3.1 IBEAMEZE (&)
(b) Credit risk (continued) (b) EERMR (#&)

(ii) Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Other receivables (continued)

In view of the history of cooperation with the debtors and
collection from them, the management of the Group believes
that all of the Group's other receivables are classified in Stage 1
as at 31 December 2020 and 2019, and the credit risk inherent
in the Group’s outstanding other receivables is not significant.
The average loss rate applied as at the 31 December 2020 and
2019 were 1.37% and 1.63% respectively.

Net impairment losses on financial assets recognised in profit

(i) EMEERE (&)

HAtb U IR (&)

ERBTLEEEASERRER
AW AEBERERE A%
E AT A H b EUGRIE R 2020F &
2019 12 A31 AN EARE -
AR ERERE 2 KA B IER
BREERBILTERKX - K2020
FR2019F128318  FHEIE
RSB A1.37% 8% 1.63% e

or loss
Year ended 31 December
BZ12AALEE
2020 2019
20204 20194
RMB’ 000 RMB'000
ARBT AEBTTT
Impairment losses: REEE :
Impairment losses on trade receivables B 5 EUWGRIBR EE 18 - 2,723
Impairment losses on other receivables H At FE U R IB R (B B 18 270 363
Reversal of previous impairment losses on (Bl 5¢ 5l & 5 & WG IE R E E 18
trade receivables (668) -
Net impairment losses on financial assets & Bl & R E &5 18 F 5 (398) 3,086
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

EABMBRERME
3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 BEREE 2
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 3.1 IBEAMEZE (&)

(c) Liquidity risk (0 REEZREMK

The Group aims to maintain sufficient cash and cash equivalents.
Due to the dynamic nature of the underlying business, the Group's
finance department maintains flexibility in funding by maintaining

adequate cash and cash equivalents.

Cash flow forecasting is performed by the finance department of
the Group. The finance department of the Group monitors rolling
forecasts of the Group's liquidity requirements to ensure it has
sufficient cash to meet operational needs as well as the liabilities to

other parties.

The table below analyses the Group's financial liabilities into
relevant maturity groupings based on the remaining period at the
balance sheet date to the contractual maturity date. The amounts

disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows.

FREEGEHFBEANRERRES
By AR EEERBNSEEE - &
SENMBREEETREANET N
ReFEMRERESNTRNE -

ReRETRR AL EY B EBET -
REBUBHERAEERPESH
REPRB TN - ARREEEHHE
SR MBELERTKAREEMITH A

& o

TREBEEBZANIBEOR &
HIR  SAEENSRAERREH
B MEETON - RPBEENS
HRAWARBARERE -
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 BIBERERE @)
3.1 Financial risk factors (continued) 3.1 BiRMEE (&)
(c) Liquidity risk (continued) () REBESER (&)
Between Between Total
Less than 1and 2and  Morethan contractual Carrying
1 year 2 years 5 years 5years  cash flows amount
RHRE
PR-F -ZWE WEEFE  EFNUL  RELE EEE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTR ARBTR ARWMTT AR¥TR AR%TR AR%T:R
As at 31 December 2020 2020512 A31H
Trade payables B SENFE 115,804 = = = 115,804 115,804
License fees payables ENEEE 58,880 14,100 19,150 5,134 97,264 86,814
Other payables (excluding ~ EtERFE(TRETLE
wages, salaries and e RAMESRINNAK
other employee benefit ERTiE)
and tax payables) 131,520 - - - 131,520 131,520
Lease liabilities HEaE 154,947 103,316 49,434 - 307,697 291,774
Total st 461,151 117,416 68,584 5,134 652,285 625,912
As at 31 December 2019 20195124318
Trade payables Ao ENFE 49,406 - - - 49,406 49,406
License fees payables [ENEEE 15,177 1318 - - 16,495 16,495
Other payables (excluding ~ EtERFE (TRELE
wages, salaries and FeREMESRMULR
other employee benefit [ERTIE)
and tax payables) 78,576 - - - 78,576 78,576
Lease liabilities HERRE 98,576 70,142 24,474 - 193,192 183,398
Total st 241,735 71,460 24,474 - 337,669 327,875
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3
3.2

3.3

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
Capital management

The Group's objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern in order to provide
returns for owners of the Group and to maintain an optimal capital

structure to enhance owners’ value in the long term.

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. This ratio
is calculated as net debt divided by total capital. Net debt is calculated
as total borrowings less cash and cash equivalents. Total capital is
calculated as ‘equity’ as shown in the balance sheet plus net debt. As at
31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019, the Group has no net debt.

Fair value estimation

This section explains the judgements and estimates made in
determining the fair values of the financial instruments that are
recognised and measured at fair value in the financial statements.
To provide an indication about the reliability of the inputs used in
determining fair value, the Group has classified its financial instruments
into the three levels prescribed under the accounting standards. An

explanation of each level follows underneath the table.

(@) Financial assets and liabilities
(i) Fair value hierarchy

This section explains the judgements and estimates made in
determining the fair values of the financial instruments that
are recognised and measured at fair value in the financial
statements. To provide an indication about the reliability of the
inputs used in determining fair value, the group has classified
its financial instruments into the three levels prescribed under
the accounting standards. An explanation of each level follows

underneath the table.

3.3

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

BERER &)

EREE
REBEIREER Y B A5G E R
MEEH NEAXREEHEAS ARHEER
WRERENEAEREEEE ANE
A {E -

REERRERNBERETEER o Zb X
REBFERALESHE - BB FER
BREEREZRERREEBYE - 2
EeREEBBRMT I #al NERKFRE
FHE o 722020512 A31H X 2019512 A 31
B REBEWEERFEHE -

ATAEE

REHBEENMBHRR AR A FERER
NFAENESR T A 2 FERPTEHE &
fhEt - RELEERATFEMARAZEY
AIEMER  AEBEDRESFERE
KEERMTADBER=ZFE - BRBRZHHA
WTRAR ©

@) THEERERE
(i) ~-FEER

AE MR E N IR AR AT
BERERALENERTIAEZAFE
B FTIEH BT R fdEt - RISHEER
FEAMBBAZBN A SELER
AEBDRESTENREHES
BITENBER=E BERZFH
WTRRAR ©
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
3.3 Fair value estimation (continued)
(a) Financial assets and liabilities (continued)

(i) Fair value hierarchy (continued)

3 MBEREE®)
3.3 AFEME (&)
() ERMEERERE (4)
() 2N-FIlEEBR (&)

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
B fE#%2 =R et
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
ARBTT AR®BTR AR¥BTR AR%®TR
As at 31 December 2020 72020412 A31H
Financial assets at fair value  IZAF{EFT ABZH
through profit or loss SHEE
- Investment in an associate  — —HIZAFEFTTA
measured at FVTPL BB SN RIRE - - 16,900 16,900
As at 31 December 2019 201912 431 H
Financial assets at fair value A F{EzF ABZH
through profit or loss EHEE
~ Investment in Wealth — B EM
Management Product ([28fEm])
("WMPs") "E - - 50,000 50,000
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

MEEEEE 2
3.3 AFEME (&)

() ERMEERERE (4)
N FEER (&)

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3
3.3 Fair value estimation (continued)
(a) Financial assets and liabilities (continued)

(i) Fair value hierarchy (continued) (i)

The Group analyses the financial instruments carried at fair
value by valuation method. The different levels have been

defined as follow:

Level 1: The fair value of financial instruments traded in active
markets (such as publicly traded derivatives, and equity
securities) is based on quoted market prices at the end of the
reporting period. The quoted market price used for financial
assets held by the Group is the current bid price. These

instruments are included in level 1.

Level 2: The fair value of financial instruments that are not
traded in an active market (for example, over-the-counter
derivatives) is determined using valuation techniques which
maximise the use of observable market data and rely as
little as possible on entity-specific estimates. If all significant
inputs required to fair value an instrument are observable, the

instrument is included in level 2.

Level 3: If one or more of the significant inputs is not based on
observable market data, the instrument is included in level 3.

This is the case for unlisted equity securities and WMPs.

REBRBEETEDITARFE
FIRNERMTA - TRNEREE
W

B LEEMSEENSRT
B (ARG ZITETARBKA
BHE) ZRTFEDERHREHARD
MEME - AEEFENSHMEE
FERAMNTSREAEMEANE - Z
STHINAEZFIF -

B2 WHRERTEEENE
BMIA(WBIMTETR) ZAF
BENRAMERNEE @ Z5EE
ool 2 215 A AT B R T A5 B T AR
DIRRBR BB E (T o WEtHE
TEZAFEMFENEHERBA
IR AR B REE - AIZTAY
AE&2m -

[E4R3 : IN—IBK ZIAE N A Y
B FEARIE AT B R TS SRS L -
Al TASABHIF - FE LMK
REHFRIBVERBRZERR -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.3 Fair value estimation (continued)

(a) Financial assets and liabilities (continued)

(ii) Fair value measurements using significant unobservable

POP MART

inputs (Level 3)

The fair value assessment methods and related key

assumptions and judgements adopted by the Group's

management is income approach (specifically, discounted cash

flow method): Uses valuation techniques to convert future

amounts to a present amount.

The following table presents the changes in level 3 items for
the periods ended 31 December 2020 and 31 December 2019:

3 MKARERE®)
3.3 A EMREE (&)

(@) THEEREE (&)

(i) EHEAXT i BB B 15
ETRFENE (BR3)
REEERBRMO DT EFES
EIARABBM E B RR R HE T

WAL (B8

= BBERERE

&) RABERMTERREEE
BmAHE-

TRINFEHRIEB REE2020F
128318 %20194%12 A31H IFH
BESE-EE

Associate
measured at
fair value

through profit

or loss WMPs Total
BRAFETA
BRTEN
i LN B EMR #Et
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
AR®T T AR¥T AR¥T T
Opening balance at MA2020F1 A1 BN ENERE
1 January 2020 = 50,000 50,000
Purchase of financial assets BARA T EFABEZN
at FVPL TREE 16,900 230,500 247,400
Disposal of financial assets BEZAFEFABEN
at FVPL TRIEE = (280,500) (280,500)
Closing balance at R2020F12 A31 BN ERE &
31 December 2020 16,900 - 16,900

*includes unrealised gains
recognised in profit or loss
attributable to balances held at

the end of the reporting period

*BENBEPERNRE AR
FrA R EIE KRB RIS
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBmMRMET
3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 MERRERE @)
3.3 Fair value estimation (continued) 3.3 A EMREE (&)
(a) Financial assets and liabilities (continued) Q) EMEEREE (&)
(ii) Fair value measurements using significant unobservable (i) EHEXT A BRI A B 15
inputs (Level 3) (continued) HEITAFEFE (BR3) ()
Associate
measured at fair
value through
profit or loss WMPs Total
BAFERTA
BmitEN
/NG| RO EE o 5T
RMB"000 RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBTTT  ARBTTT ARBET T

Opening balance at M2019F1 A1 BN ENEREE

1 January 2019 - 50,303 50,303
Purchase of financial assets BARQTERTAERN

at FVPL TREE - 255,000 255,000
Disposal of financial assets BEZAFEFABEN

at FVPL TRIEE - (255,303) (255,303)
Closing balance at R2019F12 A31 BN ERE &

31 December 2019 - 50,000 50,000
*includes unrealised gains * BIERNE PR S IR
recognised in profit or loss R B R EIR R B IR

attributable to balances held at

the end of the reporting period - - _
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 3 REREE @
3.3 Fair value estimation (continued) 3.3 AFEMREF (#&)
(a) Financial assets and liabilities (continued) Q) EMEEREE (&)
(iii) Valuation inputs and relationships to fair value (iii) 12 18 8y A 2045 R 82 23 FE £
EE
Fair value Range of inputs
NYE BAgEER
As at 31 December As at 31 December
M2A318 M2A318
2020 2019 2020 2019 Relationship of unobservable
2020%F 2019 Significant unobservable 2020F 2019% inputs to fair value
Description RMB’ 000 RMB'000  inputs TABERABBHATE
i ARMTR | AEXTR EXATUERGAUE HE#
Investment in an associate 16,900 - Weighted average cost of 18.00% N/A The higher the WACC, the lower
measured at fair value through capital (WACC) TNER  thefair value
profit o loss (a) MEFHERHA MEEHERRAEE -
RATEG ARSI 2NN RTEHE
—FHERANREQ
Terminal growth rate 3.00% N/A~ The higher the terminal growth
REER® TEA  rate, the higher the fair value
REEREYS  ATEES
Revenue growth rate 8.60%-175.4% N/A  The higher the revenue growth
BABRZ TEA  rate, the higher the fair value
BARRZES  ATEER
Investment in WMPs (b) - 50,000 Expected rate of return/ - | 3.55%-3.65% The higher the expected rate
EHERRE®D discount rate of return, the higher the
BHRRE /BB fair value of the WMPs
EROHREER -
BHERNLTESS
The higher the discount rate,
the lower the fair value
of the WMPs
FER I
BHERN A TESE
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3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

3.3 Fair value estimation (continued)

(a) Financial assets and liabilities (continued)

(iv) Valuation inputs and relationships to fair value

(continued)

(a)

For investment in an associate measured at fair value
through profit or loss, as the investment is not traded in
an active market, its fair values is determined by using
valuation techniques and is within level 3 of the fair value
hierarchy. The investment is primarily valued based on
cash flow discounted method. There is no significant
change in fair value of the unlisted investment during the
year ended 31 December 2020.

All of these WMPs are sponsored and managed by
state-owned or reputable national commercial banks in
the PRC. These WMPs are short-term investments which
are denominated in RMB and redeemable within one year.
The expected rate of return of the WMPs range from 3.55%
to 3.65% per annum as at 31 December 2019, which are
updated by the banks periodically on a quarterly or more
frequent basis. Management uses the expected rate of
return for approximation for both cash flow assessment
and the discount rate in evaluating the fair values of the
WMPs.

4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGMENTS

Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are based on

historical experience and other factors, including expectations of future

events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future.

The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal

the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a

significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts

of assets and liabilities within the next financial year are discussed

below.

3

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

BRRER &)

3.3 A EMREE (&)

(@) THEEREE (&)

(iv) 15 1E 8 A B 95 K 8222 F(EHT
R (%)

@ HRIEATEFAEHTEN
R—REERARHEE - HR
TEWINERTIZESE - &
AFETRAEERMNEE
VWEAFEEMRI - HEEXTE
RESRMBEEMHE HE
2020F12A31BIEFE - 3
FTRENAFETESAE
& o

(b) FIEZSEVEDIHFEHEH
EREBENEHEEERT
BRRER - ZFRMERY
BUARETEL AR —FA
BEOIMEHERE - BEEMD
TEEIFLEI R ER 2019512
A31BNF355%E3.65% * Jb
MIRITE IR FE S E AR
EVELETE R o BIRE R TG IR
M ERA A T EREATERE
HEEBEERERETE R
ALIR K o

4 BARERTEE R AR

BARBEEESRLAMAZ (BREEH
BRTHARAREHELBEBRAIEZEH)
Fr BRI b AT R

AEBEBRKEL ARG RKRR - BA
PR ZFEAEAELEARERER
IR o B EARE LA A2 G BN T M BF
ERAHEERBBEZREEFELEKRS
BZ A RBRARET -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

POP MART

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND
JUDGMENTS (continued)

Impairment provision for inventories

The estimation of impairment provision for inventories involves
significant management judgment based on the consideration of
key factors such as aging profile, future sales projection, estimated
future selling prices and selling expenses of the respective inventories.
Management reassesses these estimations of impairment provision for

inventories at each balance sheet date.

Useful lives of Licensed IPs and IP rights

The Group has Licensed IPs and IP rights that are primarily used to
design and sell pop toys. The Group estimates the useful life of these
Licensed IPs and IP rights to be 2-10 years based on the contract and
expected economic benefit. However, the actual useful life may be
shorter or longer than management’s estimate, depending on the
market competition. Periodic review could result in a change in useful

lives and therefore amortisation expense in future periods.

Current and deferred income taxes

There are certain transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax
determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of business. The
Group recognises liabilities based on estimates of whether additional
taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is
different from the amounts that were initially recorded, such differences
will be reflected in the income tax expense and deferred tax provisions
in the period in which such determination is made. In addition, the
realisation of future income tax assets is dependent on the Group's
ability to generate sufficient taxable income in future years to utilise
income tax benefits and tax loss carry-forwards. Deviations of future
profitability from estimates or in the income tax rate would result in
adjustments to the value of future income tax assets and liabilities that

could have a significant effect on the income tax expenses.

Dividends derived from the Company's subsidiaries in mainland China
to foreign investors are subject to withholding tax at the rate of 10%.
The Group regularly assesses its needs to make distributions out of its
subsidiaries in mainland China. In this regard, withholding tax will be
provided in the period in which dividends are distributed or on the
undistributed profits to the extent they are expected to be distributed in

future.

POP MART INTERNATIONAL GROUP LIMITED 2554 EIF e BA R A R
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REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

Management determines the operating segments based on the reports
reviewed by the CODM that are used to make strategic decisions. The
Group's revenue, expenses, assets, liabilities and capital expenditure are
primarily attributable to the sales of pop toys to external customers,
which are considered as one segment. The Group’s principal market is
the PRC and its sales to overseas customers contributed to less than
10% of the total revenue. Accordingly, no geographical information is

presented.

Breakdown of revenue by business lines is as follows:

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

Wz K o3 BB E #

ERERBEIELERKE
FEBBOR RO E RIEERL 2
@E’UH&/ RX - BE-BfE
TEHEERAINGEE P HE
%&Zﬁi‘% 1 EDE - AEERE
B HABIEFEFPHNHERERMTE 2 H&z
B10% ° Bt - SWARZFIHIHE RS o

REBRE DM RPANT

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31ALEE

2020 2019
2020%F 20194
RMB’ 000 RMB' 000

AR®TT ARETT

Revenue from contracts with customers EFE&EHWE

Revenue from retail store sales TEIRHE W 1,002,054 739,690
Revenue from online sales 2 FEE R 951,875 539,201
Revenue from roboshop sales M2 AT IS SHE WS 328,679 248,554
Revenue from wholesales = 207,386 110,467
Revenue from conventions Eels 23,477 45522
Total 5t 2,513,471 1,683,434
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 5 WERTHER &
(continued)
Year ended 31 December
BZ12A31HLEE
2020 2019
20204 20194
RMB’ 000 RMB"000
AR®T R ARBTT
Revenue g
Point-in-time eSSk 2,505,509 1,671,554
Over-time (i) R—EBR R () 7,962 11,880
Total 5t 2,513,471 1,683,434
Year ended 31 December
HE12A31BLLFEE
2020 2019
2020 20194F
RMB' 000 RMB"000
AR¥T T AR®ETF T
Revenue g
Revenue recognised on a gross basis RREEERRY 2,511,843 1,669,838
Revenue recognised on a net basis (ii) 1 5 58 AL AE R SR M (i) 1,628 13,596
Total HEET 2,513,471 1,683,434

(i)  All original contracts are for periods of one year or less or are billed based on
time incurred. As permitted under IFRS 15, the transaction price allocated to

these unsatisfied contracts is not disclosed.

(i)  Certain revenue generated from consignment sales of third-party brand
products in the Group's retail store and at the conventions hosted by the
Group is recognised on a net basis when the Group acts as an agent in the
transactions and does not take inventory risk or have latitude in establishing

prices for the products.

For the years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019, no revenue derived

from transactions with a single customer represent 10% or more of the

Group's total revenue.

AT POP MART |  POP MART INTERNATIONAL GROUP LIMITED SaiB 3545 IR S BAA R A A
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6 EXPENSES BY NATURE

6 EMEITHNAEX

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31ALEE

2020 2019
2020F 20194F
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
ARET ARBTT
Cost of inventories included in cost of sales SEABERANFER AR 748,452 488,035
Employee benefit expenses (Note 33) EE TR (MisE33) 242,963 155,494
Depreciation of right-of-use assets (Note 14) EREEENE (Mit14) 142,940 70,324
Transportation and logistics expenses g RV 110,061 39,325
Advertising and marketing expenses & K iR 92,171 53,832
E-commerce platform service charges BERTaRBE 81,262 28,841
Depreciation on property, plant and M - BEREETE (ME12)
equipment (Note 12) 66,682 29,580
Design and license fees BEtREREE 62,721 48,406
Listing expenses Baiileib-a 44,024 16,538
Expenses relating to short-term leases and Rt ABEEENHEHEE &
variable leases not included in lease liabilities RIS RN 43,620 55,208
Amortisation of intangible assets (Note 13) | EEEE (ME13) 36,221 8,799
Taxes and surcharges e ki neE 20,634 16,400
Convention cost RgA 18,408 16,720
Expense relating to re-designation of ordinary EMETEBRAEBEREBMY
shares to preferred shares (Note 32) (BI5E32) 16,910 -
Commissions to roboshop partners TR FHEBABIESIERENAS 13,179 19,116
Cost of moulds with useful lives within one year IR & —F RAE ALK 7,460 4,565
Auditor's remuneration 1% AN B & 3,150 -
— Audit services — B IR 3,000 -
- Non-audit services — EEAH RS 150 -
Impairment of inventory FERE 2,095 1,710
Others Hit 76,446 46,494
Total waEst 1,829,399 1,099,387
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

7 OTHER INCOME

Hg A

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31ALEE

2020 2019

20204 20194

RMB’' 000 RMB'000

AR¥T T AREFTT

Government grants (i) B ERG () 26,412 4,417
License fee income BEBWA 18,695 12,103
Others Hth 313 493
Total HBET 45,420 17,013

(i)  The amounts represent government grants related to income which are
received from the local government for the contribution to the local
economic growth. These grants are recognised in consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income upon the receipt. There are
no unfulfilled conditions or contingencies relating to these grants.

8 FINANCE EXPENSES — NET

() EHESBRBH  SREHEEERE
HER B BRI OBAFRE - %%
AR RN R A B E M AR EIRER
HERR o B B R A B RO RER IR

HARFEIR

PR

o

— R

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31ALEE

2020 2019
20204 2019%F
RMB’ 000 RMB'000
AR¥T T AEBTTT
Finance income /T ON
— Interest income — FEMA (1,953) (424)
Finance expenses BB
— Interest expenses on lease liabilities —HEBEFERZ (MiE14b))
(Note 14(b)) 10,946 5813
Finance expenses-net BB — B 8,993 5,389
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INCOME TAX EXPENSE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

9 PGB

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31ALEE

2020 2019

20204 20194

RMB’' 000 RMB'000

AR¥T T ARBETTT

Current income tax BREAPRIS 75 190,959 155,710
- Hong Kong profits tax — EENEH 4,104 3,091
— The mainland China corporate income tax — RBIRBER TSR 186,855 152,619
Deferred income tax (Note 17) BIEFRSEL (BEE17) (6,868) (8,453)
Income tax expense i 184,091 147,257

Cayman Island and BVI Income Tax

The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted
company with limited liability under the Companies Law of the Cayman
Islands and is not subject to the Cayman Island income tax pursuant to
the current laws of the Cayman Islands. The group entity incorporated or
registered under the Business Companies Act of BVI are exempted from

BVI income tax pursuant to the current laws of the BVI.

Hong Kong Profits Tax

Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime, the first HK$2 million of
profits of the qualifying group entities will be taxed at 8.25%, and profits
above HKS$2 million will be taxed at 16.5%. The profits of the group
entities not qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates regime will
continue to be taxed at a flat rate 16.5%. Hong Kong profits tax has been
provided at the rate of 16.5% on the Group's estimated assessable profit
for the year ended 31 December 2020 (2019: 16.5%).

(a)

MEHRBRRBERTSMEN

ARRREHERESRARENHERETE
ML RERRERAR  REFNSHS
BITER  ARARBAGWNHSESHE
B REXRBERTERITER  RIEX
BB SR R RDARE M A L3
SEERERNCBMNEBERTEMEN

HBNEH

BEMBHFNEHRENE  SEREE
EROE 28 BB T M iEiks. 250 =
B M2E S8BT EAEFIBIZ16.5%
B R o TREMBHFIEH XS
ENEEERNRNGEERR —HX
16.5%H - BZ=2020F 12831 BILFE
REE DRI ERT R AR 16.5%H B X
SHRE BT ETIRME (20195 1 16.5%) °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

POP MART

INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued)

Mainland China Corporated Income Tax (“CIT")

The income tax provision of the Group in respect of operations in
the mainland China has been calculated at the tax rate of 25% on the
estimated assessable profit for the years ended 31 December 2020 (the
year ended 31 December 2019: 25%), based on the existing legislation,

interpretations and practices in respect thereof.

A group entity has been granted certain tax concessions to small
scale entities by tax authorities in the mainland China whereby the
subsidiaries operating in the respective jurisdictions are entitled to tax

concessions.

Mainland China Withholding Tax (“WHT")

According to the applicable mainland China tax regulations, dividends
distributed by a company established in the mainland China to a foreign
investor with respect to profit derived after 1 January 2008 are generally
subject to a 10% WHT. If a foreign investor incorporated in Hong Kong
meets the conditions and requirements under the double taxation treaty
arrangement entered into between the mainland China and Hong Kong,

the relevant withholding tax rate will be 5%.

As at 31 December 2020, the aggregate undistributed earnings of
the Group's subsidiaries incorporated in the mainland China are
RMB935,668,000 (as at 31 December 2019: RMB424,149,000). In the
opinion of the directors, it is not probable that these subsidiaries will
distribute such earnings in the foreseeable future, and that the Company
has the ability to control the timing of the distribution from these
subsidiaries. Accordingly, despite an assessable temporary difference on
such retained earnings exists, no deferred income tax liability has been

recognised in the consolidated financial statements.

POP MART INTERNATIONAL GROUP LIMITED 2554 EIF e BA R A R

9
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REERPEREEBNAEHBERE
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9 INCOME TAX EXPENSE (continued) 9

(d) PRC Withholding Tax ("WHT") (continued) (d)

The reconciliation between the Group's actual tax charges and the
amount which is calculated based on the statutory income tax rate of

25% in the mainland China is as follows:

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

FrEHMAX &)
hE R FEINEL ([FEHIRL ) ()

REBENERBUE B BB TP B AEE
TE PSR R 25%aT H /)& 58 2 B 1 BR 1A
T

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31ALEE

2020 2019
2020 2019%F
RMB’ 000 RMB"000
ARBT ARBEFT
Profit before income tax % BT 1S EL A T 707,403 598,375
Tax calculated at applicable tax rates of 25% RERBER 5% ERITIE 176,851 149,594
Tax loss for which no deferred income tax asset  RIERIELFTSHEEMNTHIEERE
is recognised 1,246 271
Share of profit of investments accounted DR EREREARNIEE S F
for using equity method (968) (1,243)
Expenses not deductible for taxation purposes(i) AT H1FFI 32 (1) 7,653 228
Impact of different tax rate TRBENTE (691) (1,593)
Taxation charge BUkE R 184,091 147,257

(i)  During the year ended 31 December 2020, expenses not deductible for
taxation purposes mainly include the expense relating to re-designation of
ordinary shares to preferred shares of RMB16,910,000 (Note 32) and the fair
value changes of convertible redeemable preferred shares of RMB6,260,000
(Note 32), both of which are recognised in the Company's consolidated
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income and are not
deductible for taxation purposes.

() EZE2020F12A3BLEFE - FAHBKMALX
FERERENETEBRAELREHEN
A AR16,910,0007T (MizE32) KAl
AT fE BB S AR ) A A E E) A R ¥6,260,000
70 (Mi3E32) » REMBEBHRA ARG EIEE
REMEEHRAERZE T -
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

10 DIVIDENDS 10 K&
Year ended 31 December
HE12A31BLLFEE
2020 2019
20204 20194
RMB’ 000 RMB' 000
AR¥T T AR®ETF T
Proposed final dividend of RMB 14.94 cents R R HAAR B AR X AR

(2019: nil) per ordinary share AR# 14945 (2019 : &) 209,402 -

Pursuant to a resolution passed on 26 March 2021, the board of directors
of the Company proposed a final dividend of RMB14.94 cents per
ordinary share of the Company, amounting to RMB209,402,000 for the
year ended 31 December 2020 from the Company’s share premium.
The final dividend is subject to the approval of the shareholders of the
Company at the forthcoming annual general meeting to be held on 1
June 2021.

The proposed dividend is not reflected as a dividend payable in
the consolidated financial statements, but will be reflected as an
appropriation of distributable reserves for the year ending 31 December
2021.

POP MARTJ POP MART INTERNATIONAL GROUP LIMITED j&ai5 5Bl = mA R A 5

BIER2021F3A260 A BBHIRBER * A
RAESFEZNAR RN BB IR
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11 EARNINGS PER SHARE

Following the completion of the Capitalization Issue on 11 December

2020 as disclosed in Note 1, the weighted average

shares for the purpose of basic and diluted earnings per share for the

years ended 31 December 2020 and 2019 has been retrospectively

adjusted.

(a) Basic earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit attributable

to owners of the Group by the weighted average

shares in issue less shares held for Restricted Share Award Scheme

during the year ended 31 December 2020 and 2019.

11 BRER
R P FR £ 20204E 12 A 11 BETHE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

number of ordinary TAEEEITEAE - SREIE 20205 20195

(a) BREXEF

RANALFESRERNRESRNNE
BRI BHFRE -

FREARBAIZEZ2020F &2019F12A8

number of ordinary 31HIEFE - NEBHES AEEER BRI

BT B O HE 15 BUR LR il 1 A £
BEERANRND 2 ERE -

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31ALEE

2020 2019
2020F 20194
Profit attributable to owners of the Company KAEHE ANEMR R A
(RMB'000) (ANR¥EFTT) 523,505 451,118
Weighted average number of ordinary shares in B 217 & 38 8% hNAE F 192K
issue less shares held for Restricted Share TR IR B0 B R B FT#
Award Scheme (Thousands) &1n 2z Z= (FR%) 1,194,709 1,154,563
Basic earnings per share BREREF]
(expressed in RMB per share) (AEBRARBITERT) 0.44 0.39
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

HAERERME
11 EARNINGS PER SHARE (continued) 11 8RERN &)
(b) Dilute earnings per share (b) BREERER

For the year ended 31 December 2020, diluted earnings per share is
calculated based on the profit for the year attributable to owners of
the Company after adjustment for fair value changes on redeemable
and convertible preferred shares and the weighted average number of
ordinary shares outstanding after adjustment for assumed conversion
of all dilutive potential ordinary shares. There were no dilutive potential

ordinary shares for the year ended 31 December 2019.

HE2000F12A31ALFE - SKkES
BT THIRHR A L F] fE 0] Ko AT R B SR R 2
FEEZHFAEERQARHEE ABGFNRG
B WAREZFEAEEZENELL @
[ i R B AT NS BARE INAE T
BHETE - HZE2019F 12A3BIEFE -
Wi B EE BB L ER -

Year ended 31 December

BZ12ARALEE

2020 2019
20204 20194F
Profit attributable to owners of the Company RRAEER ANFEME T
(RMB'000) (AR®TT) 523,505 451,118
Adjustment for fair value changes on redeemable 5t 0] & [B] K 0] #4208 % I A F{E
and convertible preferred shares (RMB'000) ZERFAE(ARETT) 6,260 -
Profit used to determine diluted earnings AREESREE R
per share (RMB'000) wA (ARBTIT) 529,765 451,118
Weighted average number of ordinary shares in B2 377 & @A HNHEF 19 EUR
issue less shares held for Restricted Share Award 2[R #lIR& 19D 2@ 5T 21 4
Scheme (in thousands) Wetn 2 7= (FHR) 1,194,709 1,154,563
Adjustment for assumed conversion of convertible iR 3% 8% #a A] #2{6 7] E [0
redeemable preferred shares (in thousands) BT (FRKR) 16,514 -
Weighted average number of shares for diluted & A& #55 2 7| B 15 hn i
earnings per shares (in thousands) FHE(FR) 1,211,223 1,154,563
Dilute earnings per share BhiEE RN
(expressed in RMB per share) (ABRAREITER) 0.44 0.39
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12 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

12Y%  BERRE

Roboshop Equipment Leasehold
machines Moulds  and others improvement Total
WeE ARE
ERK BE RERHEM HERE Mgt
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
ARBTRT AR%Tn AR¥Tr AR%BTn AR¥Tx
As at 31 December 2019 R2019%F12831H
Cost B 42,429 35,747 13,824 61,212 153,212
Accumulated depreciation ZEiE (4,759) (9,758) (2,514) (30,265) (47,296)
Impairment BE - (2,357) - - (2,357)
Net book amount REFE 37,670 23,632 11,310 30,947 103,559
Year ended 31 December HZ2020F12H31BLEE
2020
Opening net book amount FHEREFE 37,670 23,632 11,310 30,947 103,559
Additions NE 23,681 72,929 6,277 99,938 202,825
Acquisition of a subsidiary Wi — KB AR - - 605 - 605
Depreciation charge heEEHA (9,708) (19,862) (2,724) (34,388) (66,682)
Disposal HE - (1,824) (150) (23) (1,997)
Currency translation ERBMEERE
difference - - 15 - 15
Closing net book amount FRIEEFE 51,643 74,875 158383 96,474 238,325
As at 31 December 2020 720206 12831H
Cost PR 66,110 95,187 20,494 146,944 328,735
Accumulated depreciation ZEE (14,467) (20,312) (5,161) (50,470) (90,410)
Net book amount REFE 51,643 74,875 15,333 96,474 238,325
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

12 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued) 12 9% - BERKZE#)
Roboshop Equipment Leasehold
machines Moulds and others improvement Total
e NG
EEK BE  REREM MEXE fmEt
RMB' 000 RMB'000 RMB’ 000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARBTT ARBTT ARBTT ARETR
As at 31 December 2018 720185 12831H
Cost B 15,032 7,208 4,956 26,673 53,869
Accumulated depreciation ZEiE (983) (1,208) (1,073) (14,731) (17,995)
Net book amount REFE 14,049 6,000 3,883 11,942 35,874

Year ended 31 December HZE2019512831BLEE

2019

Opening net book amount FUEmFE 14,049 6,000 3,883 11,942 35,874
Additions NE 27,660 28,540 9,136 34,539 99,875
Depreciation charge HEEBMA (3,908) (8,551) (1,587) (15,534) (29,580)
Impairment HE - (2,357) - - (2,357)
Disposal HE (131) - (122) - (253)
Closing net book amount FAREEFE 37,670 23,632 11,310 30,947 103,559
As at 31 December 2019 #2019 12831H

Cost BN 42,429 35,747 13,824 61,212 153,212
Accumulated depreciation ZEE 4,759) (9,758) (2,514) (30,265) (47,296)
Impairment HE - (2,357) - - (2,357)
Net book amount REFE 37,670 23,632 11310 30,947 103,559

P13 POP MART |  POP MART INTERNATIONAL GROUP LIMITED @i 4sEpr S EAR A &




12 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

(@) Depreciation on property, plant and equipment has been
charged to the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other

comprehensive income as follows:

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

12 %  WERSRE®)

@ ME BEARBHECEFAER
REMZEWRERME - TR

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31ALEE

2020 2019

2020 2019%F

RMB’ 000 RMB'000

ARBT ARBETTT

Cost of sales S B 19,862 8,551
Distribution and selling expenses LI RIEERE 44,953 19,279
General and administrative expenses —MRITE R X 1,867 1,750
66,682 29,580
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

POP MART

13 INTANGIBLE ASSETS

13 BEFEE

Licensed IPs
(Note a) IP rights Software Goodwill Total
REP
(KizEa) IPER g HE #at
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB’000  RMB’'000  RMB'000
ARETRT AR®BTR AR¥TR AR®TR AR%Txn
At 31 December 2019 R2019%F12A831H
Cost %N 25,060 5,561 2,586 - 33,207
Accumulated amortisation Bt (12,554) (834) (912) - (14,300)
Impairment B (287) - - - (287)
Closing net book amount RERE 12,219 4,727 1,674 - 18,620
Year ended 31 December 2020 #HZE2020F12A31BLEE
Opening net book amount FNEMFE 12,219 4,727 1,674 = 18,620
Additions NE 95,420 13,864 1,030 113 110,427
Amortisation charge BHER (28,050) (7,501) (670) = (36,221)
Currency translation difference B HE =5 (94) - - (1) (95)
Closing net book amount FAREHEFE 79,495 11,090 2,034 112 92,731
At 31 December 2020 ®2020%12831H
Cost AR 120,481 19,425 3,616 112 143,634
Accumulated amortisation ERE ¥ (40,699) (8,335) (1,582) - (50,616)
Impairment A (287) - - = (287)
Closing net book amount FREEFE 79,495 11,090 2,034 112 92,731
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBmMRMET
13 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued) 13BEEE ©)
Licensed IPs
(Note a) [P rights Software Goodwill Total
XEIP

(Mizxa) IPEERE ;i (kS fmEt
RMB' 000 RMB' 000 RMB' 000 RMB' 000 RMB' 000
ARETFT ARETFT ARETT ARETRT ARETT

At 31 December 2018 R2018%F12A831H
Cost B 15,672 5,561 1,909 - 23,142
Accumulated amortisation BRI (4,818) (278) (405) - (5,501)
Closing net book amount FREEFE 10,854 5,283 1,504 - 17,641

Year ended 31 December 2019 20194 12H831H
Opening net book amount FHEREFE 10,854 5,283 1,504 - 17,641
Additions NE 9,388 - 677 - 10,065
Amortisation charge BHER (7,736) (556) (507) - (8,799)
Impairment A (287) - - - (287)
Closing net book amount FREEFE 12,219 4,727 1,674 - 18,620

At 31 December 2019 R2019%F12A31H
Cost %N 25,060 5,561 2,586 - 33,207
Accumulated amortisation R 1 (12,554) (834) (912) - (14,300)
Impairment A (287) - - - (287)
Closing net book amount FAREEFE 12,219 4,727 1,674 - 18,620
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MBEHRME

13 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

Notes:

(@) The amounts represent the exclusive and non-exclusive license rights
obtained by the Group in accordance with the respective license
agreements. Upon initial recognition, the Licensed IPs are recognised at
the present values of the fixed minimum payments with the corresponding

amounts recognised as license fees payables (Note 29).

(b)  Amortisation of intangible assets has been charged to the consolidated

statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as follows:

13BEEE (&)
st -

@ EHSEEAKEREBEEBREDZNEH
BREIFBRERE - RYIEHERIL - REP
ZEFESEMRNRERR  HESEER
RENEESE (FEE29) °

b) BREERHCEFABEELEMEZERE
FHB - ITAUR

E\

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31BLLEE

2020 2019

2020F 20194

RMB’ 000 RMB'000

AR¥ TR ARETTT

Cost of sales SHER A 35,551 7,736
Distribution and selling expenses IR EE RS - 556
General and administrative expenses —RRITH X 670 507
36,221 8,799

14 LEASES

(@) Amounts recognised in the balance sheet

The balance sheet shows the following amounts relating to leases:

14 A€
() BEEBRABEI 2L
BEAERITATERSEHNEE

As at December

POP MART

M12A31H
2020 2019
2020 20194
RMB’ 000 RMB'000
AR®FT T AREFTT
Right-of-use assets ERAEEE
Offices and warehouses MRAENEE 42,902 48,554
Retail stores TEE 244,897 130,384
287,799 178,938
Lease liabilities HEAE
Current mED 144,724 92,586
Non-current ERE 147,050 90,812
291,774 183,398

POP MART INTERNATIONAL GROUP LIMITED 2554 EIF e BA R A R



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FREMBRRMET
14 LEASES (continued) 14 8 (#)
(a) Amounts recognised in the balance sheet (continued) (a) BEEBRABIZSE (&)
Movements on the Group's right-of-use assets are as follow: AEEFEHREEENEZHWT :

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31ALEE

2020 2019
2020F 20194F
RMB' 000 RMB'000
AR¥T AR®ET T
At 1 January ®1A1H
Cost %N 306,204 134,946
Accumulated depreciation Ritine (127,266) (64,130)
Opening net book amount FOREFE 178,938 70,816
Year ended 31 December BZ12A3HLEE
Opening net book amount FYREFE 178,938 70,816
Additions NE 252,556 183,534
Depreciation charge EEH (142,940) (70,324)
Disposal s (755) (5,088)
Closing net book amount FRREFE 287,799 178,938
At 31 December M12A31H
Cost KR 452,745 306,204
Accumulated depreciation ZEHinE (164,946) (127,266)
Closing net book amount FAREREFE 287,799 178,938
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

14 LEASES (continued) 14
(b) Amounts recognised in the statement of profit or loss and (b)

other comprehensive income

The consolidated financial statements show the following amounts

relating to leases:

HE 2
BRREMEERSREIZS8E

RAEMBHRERIIIATEREEFHNEE -

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31ALEE

2020 2019
2020 2019%F
RMB’ 000 RMB"000
ARBT ARBEFT
Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets ERREENEEZER
Offices and warehouses MAERBE 21,793 17,344
Retail stores =85 121,147 52,980
142,940 70,324
Interest expenses (Note 8) FEFZ (MI7ES) 10,946 5,813
Expense relating to short-term leases REHEEZBEMAE GTAZER
(included in distribution and selling expenses HEBRSIURITHEREX)
and administrative expenses) 8,335 5,631
Expense relating to variable lease payments not KRt AHEE BRI ERENKZ
included in lease liabilities (included in BRARAS GEAKHERIEERS)
distribution and selling expenses) 35,285 49,577
The cash outflow for leases as operating activities THEEAKL L FEH 2R E R 40,027 50,519
The cash outflow for leases as financing activites MHEFARE TS 2R LR 147,995 75,773

A 10% increase in sales across all stores in the Group with such variable
lease contracts would increase total lease payments by approximately
RMB9,612,994 for the year ended 31 December 2020 (for the year ended
31 December 2019: RMB9,406,000).

POP MARTJ POP MART INTERNATIONAL GROUP LIMITED j&ai5 5Bl = mA R A 5

HZ2020F 1283 BILEFE - AEEKH
BRZENEHEANZMAMENIHEEE
R10%  BEREMFREEZMHARE
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(a) Subsidiaries

15 INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES

The Group's principal subsidiaries at 31 December 2020 are set out

below. The country of incorporation or registration is also their principal

place of business.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBHRRME

15 R B A RNRE
a) EAH

REEP2020F12A31 BN EEH B AR
AT o EMAYKEBELERNARS
HEZSEEHE -

Ownership interest held

Ownership interest

by the Group held by non-controlling
interests
AEERENES FERBESR
ERd RERER

Country/place and date of Authorised 31 December At31 December — prncinal activites/
Company name establishment/incorporation  Kind of legal entity capital #12A318 r12AnA place of operation Note

A/ ERAIEs/ 00 | 09| 00 | 2009
NAER BERBE EEEREY ERRA | 00F | 00F | 0% | 9F  IEEE/BERE i
Directly held
EBEAR
Pop Mart (BV) Holding Limited The British Virgin Islands (BVI, ~ Limited liability company USD30,000 100% 100% - = Investment holding/BVI
Pop Mart (8V) Holding Limited 10 May 2019 BRERAR S0000%T RERR/ XB4REE

ZBERES 09E5A108
Indirectly held
HiEhE
Pop Mart (Hong Kong) Holding Limited  Hong Kong, 27 May 2019 Limited liability company HKD1 100% 100% - - Investment holding/Hong Kong
(Pop Mart Hong Kong) BB 0955 A0E BREMAT BT RERR /&%
Pop Mart (Hong Kong) Holding Limited
('Pop Mart Hong Kong)
Beijing Pop Mart Cultural & The PRC, 20 October 2010 Limited liabilty company RMB115456,278 100% 100% - - Design and sales of pop toys/
Creative Corp, Ltd. B 0I0E10ANAE BREFLT NRE115436.2787 ThePRC
(‘Bejing Pop Mart) R REERTA /RE
IRBVEE X AERRAT
([Fmeass))
Beijing Paqu Technology Co, Ltd. The PRC, 21 April 2016 Limited liability company RMB1,000,000 100% 100% - - Technology development/
KREANFERAT hE - 01654811B BRELLR ARE10000007T The PRC

RIEEE /HE

Tianjin Pop Mart Cultural The PRC, 29 November 2016 Limited liability company RMB5,000,000 100% 100% - - Sa\esofpoptoysﬁhePRC
Communication Co, Ltd. SE 0165118 9A BRERLA RS 0000007 KEETRE/HE
RERER X BRERAT
Shanghai Pagu Commerce Co, Ltd. The PRC, 21 September 2017 Limited liability company RMB2,000,000 100% 100% - - Sales of pop toys/The PRC
LEERRAARAT RE - 01759A11R AREELA ARE200000T BERRRA/ 18
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

15 INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

(a) Subsidiaries (continued)

15 RTBATINKRE (&)
a) MEBAT (&)

Ownership interestheld ~ Ownership interest

by the Group held by non-controlling

interests
AEERENES FERRERR
ERn RERER
Country/place and date of Authorised 31 December At31 December — prncinal activites/
Company name establishment/incorporation ~ Kind of legal entity capital #12A318 r12AnA place of operation Note
A/ 2RALE%,/ 00 | 09| 00 | 2009
NAER BEREE EEEREL ERRA | 00F | 00F | 0% | 09F  IEEE/BERE i
Indirectly held
BiER
Beijing Pop Mart Trading Co, Ltd. The PRC, 11 October 2017 Limited liability company RMB5,000,000 100% 100% - - Salesof pop toys/The PRC
IRBUERREERAT HE - 07510A11A BRELLR ARES 0000007 HEERAA /hE
Pop Mart Hong Kong Limited Hong Kong, 27 January 2017 Limited fiability company HKD1,000,000 100% 100% - - Overseas operations and sales
BUESERERAA B 07F1A0E BRERAT 100000070 of
pop toys/Hong Kong
B EEREEHIE/
BR
Beijing Pop Mart International The PRC, 26 April 2019 Limited fiability company RMB1,000,000 100% 100% - - Overseas operations and sales
Trading Co, Ltd. BE - 20194 AR BRERLT ARE 10000007 of
IREEEERE AR AR pop toys/The PRC
B EERHERTA/ B
Beijing Paquhuyu Technology Co, Ltd.  The PRC, 8 March 2016 Limited liability company RMB10,000000 - - - - Intemet technology services/
KREAERPEARAT R 01653 A8R BREHAT ARE100000007C The PRC
ERERITRE /28
Shenzhen Pop Mart Trading Co, Ltd. ~ The PRC, 31 October 2017 Limited liability company RMB1,000000 100% 100% - - Sa\es of pop toys/The PRC
MIEAEEEFERAR B8 017510A318 AREFAR ARE10000007 sEdinA /e
Chengdu Pop Mart Trading Co, Ltd. ~ The PRC, 22 November 2017 Limited liability company RMB1,000,000 100% 100% - - Sales of pop toys/The PRC
RARRERESERAT RE - 017511 ARA ERELAT ARE10000007T EERTE/hE
Chongeing Paqu Trading Co, Ltd. The PRC, 23 November 2017 Limited liability company RMB1,000000 100% 100% - - Salesof pop toys/The PRC
EREAZSERLT B8 17F11 53R BREFELT ARE10000007C BEHRAE/hE
Bejing Paqu Trading Co, Ltd. The PRC, 29 December 2017 Limited liability company RMB1,000,000 100% 100% - - Sales of pop toys/The PRC
FREREHERAT 8 01751/ 1A BRERA ARE1 000007 HEdRA/ T8
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

15 RTBATINKRE (&)
@) MBAT (4)

Ownership interest held

15 INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
(a) Subsidiaries (continued)

Ownership interest

by the Group held by non-controlling
interests
AEERENES FERRERR
ERn RERER
Country/place and date of Authorised 31 December At31 December — prncinal activites/
Company name establishment/incorporation ~ Kind of legal entity capital #12A318 r12AnA place of operation Note
A/ 2RALE%,/ 00 | 09| 00 | 2009
NAER BEREE EEEREL ERRA | 00F | 00F | 0% | 09F  IEEE/BERE i
Indirectly held
BiEE
Shenyang Pagu Trading Co, Ltd. The PRC, 1 March 2018 Limited liability company RMB,000,000 100% 100% - - Sales of pop toys/The PRC
EBRAEEERLA SR 01853818 BRERRA ARE1 000007 HERRIA/ T8
Zhengzhou Pop Mart Trading Co, Ltd. ~ The PRC, 4 April 2018 Limited liability company RMB1,000,000 100% 100% - - Sales of pop toys/The PRC
IMEERES AR HE - 01854 4R ERELAT AEEB10000007T HERTRE/FE
Qingdao Pop Mart Trading Co, Ltd. ~ The PRC, 17 April 2018 Limited liability company RMB1,000,000 100% 100% - - Sales of pop toys/The PRC
ERNEREZARLT S8 01854 F 178 FRELA NRE1 0000007 HEHRAL /hE
Jiangyi Paqu Trading Co, Ltd. The PRC, 1 May 2020 Limited liability company RMB2,000,000 100% - - Ma  Salesof pop toys/The PRC
IEEEZSERLT RE - 00%5A1 ARERAR ARE20000007C TER  BEHARRA/ 08
Changchun Pop Mart Trading Co, Ltd. ~ The PRC, 15 April 2020 Limited liability company RMB,000,000 100% - - na  Sales of pop toys/The PRC
RENEREAERAT RE - 00F4R158 EREFAT ARE10000007T TR BERRA/E
Fuzhou Paqu Trading Co, Ltd. The PRC, 25 March 2020 Limited liability company RMB1,000,000 100% - - na Sales of pop toys/The PRC
EMEEEAERAT hE - 01753A258 EREALE ARE10000007T TER  BERTRA/
Haerbin Paqu Trading Co, Ltd. The PRC, 10 April 2020 Limited liability company RMB1,000,000 100% - - na Sales of pop toys/The PRC
REREAREERLT BB 0054A108 BREEAT AR 0000007 TER  BEHERRA/ 28
Tianjin Paqu Cultural Media Co, Ltd. -~ The PRC, 27 March 2020 Limited liability company RMB5,000,000 100% - - Ma  Salesof pop toys/The PRC
REEEEERRAT RE - 00E3AE BREELT ARES 0000007 AR BERinE/ 8
Xiamen Paqu Trading Co, Ltd. The PRC, 14 April 2020 Limited liability company RMB1,000,000 100% - - na  Sales of pop toys/The PRC
EFEASZRRAA RE - 00F4A14R BREELT ARE1 0000007 TER HEERRA/ 18
Wuhan Pop Mart Trading Co, Ltd. The PRC, 17 December 2019 Limited liability company RMBT,000,000 100% 100% - - Sales of pop toys/The PRC
RERERERERAT B8 0195 12817R BRREAT NRH10000007 HEHRAR /HE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

15 RTBATINKRE (&)
@) MBAT (4)

Ownership interest held

15 INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
(a) Subsidiaries (continued)

Ownership interest

218

POP MART

by the Group held by non-controlling
interests
AEERENES FEREERE
ERR RERER
Country/place and date of Authorised 31 December At31 December — prncinal actvites/
Company name establishment/incorporation ~ Kind of legal entity capital #12A38 r12AnA place of operation Note
A/ ERAIER/ 00 | 09| 00 | 2009
NAER BEREE EEEREL ERRA | 00F | 00F | 0% | 09F  IEEE/BEwE i
Indirectly held
BiEE
Guangzhou Pop Mart Trading Co, Ltd.  The PRC, 06 May 2020 Limited liability company RMB1,000000 100% - - nfa Sales of pop toys/The PRC
EMBABRERERAT hE - 0055 A6R AREHEAT ARE100000070 TER  BERRRA/ /4
Dalian Pop Mart Trading Co, Ltd. The PRC, 13 April 2020 Limited liability company RMB1,000000 100% - - nfa Salesof pop toys/The PRC
RERIERERARAT R 00548 13R BREEAT ARE1,00000070 TER  HERRRA/4
Shandong Paqu Trading Co, Ltd. The PRC, 24 October 2019 Limited liability company RMB1,000,000 100% 100% - - Sales of pop toys/The PRC
REEE HERAT BB 0195107 1A BREFELE ARE1 0000007 BEERAA /haE
Guiyang Pop Mart Trading Co, Ltd. The PRC, 10 January 2020 Limited liability company RMB1,000000 100% - - Ma  Salesof pop toys/The PRC
EBRAEREAEAERAT  RE 00F1A108 BREEAT ARE1,0000007 TER  HERRRA/4
Xian Pop Mart Trading Co, Ltd. The PRC, 25 December 2019 Limited liability company RMB1,000,000 100% - - Ma  Salesof pop toys/The PRC
BROREREFARART RE 0195126258 BREELE ARE1 0000007 TER  BEERRA/ 08
Changsha Paqu Trading Co, Ltd. The PRC, 02 January 2020 Limited liability company RMB1,000000 100% - - Ma  Salesof pop toys/The PRC
ROEEEEARLA B8 00%1 A28 BREELE ARE1 0000007 TER  BEHARRA/ 28
Taiyuan Pop Mart Trading Co, Ltd. The PRC, 23 March 2020 Limited liability company RMB1,000,000 100% - - Ma  Salesof pop toys/The PRC
RRBERERERAT RE 00E3A R BRRHEAT NRH10000007 TER  BEHRRA/ 28
Yunnan Paqu Trading Co, Ltd. The PRC, 4 September 2020 Limited liability company RMB1,000,000 100% - - a  Salesof pop toys/The PRC
ERRAESARLT 8 0059F4A ERERLA NRE1 0000007 TER EERRA/ 48
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15 INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

(a)

Subsidiaries (continued)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

15 RTBATINKRE (&)
@) MBAT (4)

Ownership interestheld ~ Ownership interest

by the Group held by non-controlling
interests
ARBRENER FERRERR
BRE JBRRRE
Country/place and date of Authorised 31 December At31 December — prncinal activites/
Company name establishment/incorporation ~ Kind of legal entity capital #12A318 r12AnA place of operation Note
A/ ERATER/ 00 | 09| 00 | 2009

NAER BEREE EEEREL ERRA | 00F | 00F | 0% | 09F  IEEE/BERE i

Indirectly held

BHEER

Foshan Pop Mart Paqu Trading Co, Ltd. ~ The PRC, 7 December 2020 Limited liability company RMB1,000000 100% - - nfa Sales of pop toys/The PRC

BUEREEEERRAA B8 00E12878 BREFELE ARE1 0000007 TER  BEARRA/ 08

Pop Mart Korea Co, Ltd. South Korea, 11 July 2019 Limited liability company KRW1,500,000 80% - 20% - Sales of pop toys/The PRC

(Pap Mart Kore3) &8 2019577118 EREADLA 15000008 BEEANE /w2

Pop Mart Korea Co, Ltd.

(Pop Mart Korea)

(i) InJanuary 2020, the Group injected addition capital into Pop Mart Korea from 0] %2020?151 A REE FETJ Pop Mart Korea/x
with a cash consideration of KRW7,500,000,000 (equivalent to approximately AFEINE® - IBENREA7,500,000,00088 F
RMB4,524,000) and thereby the Group's equity interests in Pop Mart Korea (FBERHARKE4,524,0007T) - T%ﬁt C R
increased from 60% to 80%, which became a non-wholly owned subsidiary X Pop Mart Korea B % 4 F60%3% 2 80% *
of Group since then. Pop Mart Korea B It BAAREBEHIEEZE W

BRa e

(i) None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at the end of the (i) %A A fol PR /BB 2 AR F R B 1T (A (75 7
year. %2 °

Non-controlling interests (b) FiEpIER

The total non-controlling interests as at 31 December 2020 amounted
to RMB1,628,000 (As at 31 December 2019: nil). No subsidiary has

non-controlling interests that are material to the Group.

2020128318  IFEREZTAEARE
1,628,0007C (720198128318 + &) - #f

= [
s

Bk

BARGAHAREEEANNIFER

o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

POP MART

16 INVESTMENT IN JOINT VENTURES 16 EAEDEARNKRE

2020 2019

20204 20194

RMB’ 000 RMB'000

ARBT ARBEFTT

Opening balance as at 1 January B AT BRFYIREE 22,101 11,798

Additional investments FIMEE 29,241 5333
Derecognition resulting from business ¥TEA FEBRRIEER

combination (2,374) -

Elimination of profit i hingl (2,863) -

Share of profit for the year 15 F R T 6,736 4,970

Currency translation difference HEBBREEE (2,461) -

Ending balance as at 31 December R12A31 BNERARE 50,380 22,101

Details of the Group's joint ventures and associate as at 31 December

20209 %2019 12 A31H » REEHES

2020 and 2019 are as follows: EEERBERNTFBOTAR
% of ownership Carrying amounts of
interest the investment
Place of business) T AEERNES L REBAEE
country of As at 31 December Nature ofthe Measurement As 3t 31 December
Company name incorporation R12A318 Principal activities relationship  method 128318
BEY 2020 2019 2020 2019
RAER ERALER 20205 | 20196 FEEK BENE HE-0:3 20205 | 2019F
Nanjing Golden Eagle Pop The PRC 52% 52%  Sales of pop toys Joint Venture  Equity method | 19,443 17,140
Mart Co, Ltd. H HEBRITE REhE Eak
(‘"Nanjing Pop Mart") (a)
HREERERERAA
(ARERER] @
Pop Mart Korea (b) Seoul, South Korea n/a 60%  Sales of pop toys Joint Venture  n/a n/a 2374
Pop Mart Korea (b) HEER TER HEMRIA RELE TER TER
POP MART SOUTH ASIA PTE.LTD.  Singapore 50% 50%  Sales of pop toys Joint Venture  Equity method 2,790 2,587
(‘Singapore Pop’) (c) AT HERRMA BEhE Ban
POP MART SOUTH ASIA PTE. LTD.
(['Singapore PopJ) ()
Pop Mart Japan, Inc. ('Japan Pop’)  Japan 60% 0%  Sales of pop toys Joint Venture  Equity Method 975 -
Pop Mart Japan, Inc. =R HEBRIE aEhE Bk
(TJapan Popl)
How2work Limited (d) Hong Kong 25% 0%  Design and sales of pop toys  Associate Equity method | 27,172 -
How2work Limited (d) 55 REREEHRITE A=YNS] Enk

POP MART INTERNATIONAL GROUP LIMITED 2554 EIF e BA R A R



16 INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE
EQUITY METHOD (continued)

(a)

Although the Group holds 52% equity interests of Nanjing Pop Mart, in
accordance with the articles of association, certain policies over its relevant
activities (defined as activities of the investee that significantly affect the
investee’s returns under IFRS 10) are required to be resolved at the general
meetings with unanimous vote by both of the two shareholders of Nanjing
Pop Mart. As a result, the Group exercises joint control over Nanjing Pop
Mart and considers it as a joint venture in accordance with IFRS 11 “Joint
arrangements”.

On 12 April 2019, Pop Mart Korea was established by the Group and a third-
party investor. The Group's total initial commitment to Pop Mart Korea was
KRW 450,000,000, representing 60% equity interests of Pop Mart Korea. The
Group can appoint 3 out of 5 directors of the board of directors of Pop Mart
Korea. In accordance with the shareholders' agreement ("SHA") of Pop Mart
Korea, certain policies over its relevant activities (defined as activities of the
investee that significantly affect the investee’s returns under IFRS 10) are
required to be resolved at the general meetings with unanimous vote by
all members entitled to attend and vote at the general meetings, or at the
board meetings shall require the approval of more than two-thirds of the
directors. As a result, the Group exercises joint control over Pop Mart Korea
and considers it as a joint venture, since its incorporation, in accordance with
IFRS 11 “Joint arrangements”.

In January 2020, the Group injected addition capital into Pop Mart Korea
with a cash consideration of KRW7,500,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
RMB4,524,000) and thereby the Group's equity interests in Pop Mart Korea
increased from 60% to 80%. According to the supplemental agreement to
the SHA of Pop Mart Korea dated 1 January 2020, certain policies over its
relevant activities at general meetings shall be approved by more than two
thirds of the voting rights at the general meeting, or at the board meetings
shall require the approval of more than fifty percent of the directors.
Therefore, the Group obtained control over Pop Mart Korea by virtue of its
unilateral power to determine all the policies over its relevant activities. As a
result, Pop Mart Korea became a non-wholly owned subsidiary of the Group
since then.

On 18 June 2019, Singapore Pop was established by the Group and a
third-party investor. The Group's total commitment to Singapore Pop was
SGD 500,000, which had been paid in full as at 31 December 2020.

Pursuant to the investment agreement dated December 2019 and the
respective supplemental agreement dated April 2020, the Company agrees
to acquire 25% equity interest in How2work Limited from a third party with
the consideration of HKD30,000,000. The above transaction was completed
in June 2020.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

16 FAEREARNKRE &

(a)

BEAREESARRUAIBEFH 5% -
BIRFEKERZAA - AR (RER
B E RIS 10 E R R EIRE TH
CRAEEAFENRRET EH) ET
BERAERERERE EmBE RSB FHZM
FRREFA-BURRED R - Bk - K
SEEERBIHITRARZEHE - TR
BRI B R EERE SR R HE ]
HERaEh%E -

20194128 AEBRE=FKREE
R T Pop Mart Korea © AREEE ¥ Pop Mart
Korea ) ¥) 44 A& # %8 /450,000,000 82 [ -
{Pop Mart Korea#)60% % 1 o ZN S B A Z T
Pop Mart Korea B E @ AREFHFH=F o
RiEPop Mart KoreaWI B Wik ([ IR 1
&) HABRED) (IRRE R B 5 R4 2R
FI0ORTEBERERREFTNEREBEEARY
ZHRREFEY) WETHERERKRREXR
CrAERAREERREAGITANG LIERK
FIEKERN—BRZEZR  HEREZESS
FrESBA= S —EEME - Bt
BB R EERE 115 [ AR H] -
B Pop Mart Koreask filt A 28 + A& E ¥{Pop
Mart KoreafTfEHFEHIEW R H B &0
=,

BR20206 10 AEBEURESKE
7,500,000,000 %% B (FHE R £ A R ¥ 4,524,000
JT) [AlPop Mart Korea)E AFESNE & + A LA
£ E R Pop Mart KoreaH)AXHE H60% 1 1 E
80% ° 1R 4& B H3A2020% 1 A1 HH&Pop Mart
KorealR SR 177 FO## 7o 13 #% + Pop Mart Korea
RIRRE ARG EEBEBME TBESRERRKRE
ARG LEBSBB=Hz —REEIE - A
RESTEER L EGBRYEESMIE
At - AEBEZEBRTEPop Mart Koreafd
BB FT B BUR ) B2 E ) NS ¥fPop
Mart Korea®J#Z 4 o E Lt + Pop Mart Korea
BEREKAAEBNIEZENBAR -

R2019F6 180  AEBERE=HKESE
FX3Z T Singapore Pop ° AN @ ¥} Singapore
Pop YA ME 4258 A 500,000 8T M T * ER
2020412 A31 BEE A ©

BRIEBHAE2019F 12 AN ERERBEHA
2020F 4 AN BB TR - ARRIRER
H1E30,000,00078 T 1A 88 = J5 YL How2work
Limited M) 25% &4 o Ll 5B 1202046
ASER °
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

16 INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE
EQUITY METHOD (continued)

(i) Summarised balance sheets of a material joint venture

16 FAEREZARNKRE @)

() EXGELENEEEBERHE

Nanjing Pop Mart

POP MART

[EEEiahiak: L=
As at 31 December
MR12A31H
2020 2019
2020 20194F
RMB’' 000 RMB'000
AR®T AREFT
Current assets REEE
Cash and cash equivalents ReMReEEY 12,941 20,609
Other current assets HEMREEE 33,604 14,337
Total current assets WREEE 46,545 34,946
Non-current assets FERBEE 63,177 14,571
Current liabilities RBEE
Financial liabilities (excluding trade and cRBE(TEEES R
other payables) E At FEATFRIE) 40,107 3,567
Other current liabilities EtREas 18,197 16,574
Total current liabilities wWREaE 58,304 20,141
Non-current liabilities EREBERE 18,849 4,201
Net assets EEFE 32,569 25,175

POP MART INTERNATIONAL GROUP LIMITED 2554 EIF e BA R A R




16 INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE

(i)

EQUITY METHOD (continued)

Summarised balance sheets of a material joint venture
(continued)

Reconciliation of above summarized financial information presented to

carrying amounts of the Group's share of interests in the joint venture:

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
EABMBRERME
16 FEFAREREARNWIKRE (&)

() EXGECENEEEGEREE (&)

EX2FNMBBENBERAAEEDHE
BEEREEMNRIESRNAT

Nanjing Pop Mart

ARG
As at 31 December
R12A31H
2020 2019
2020F 2019%F
RMB’ 000 RMB"000
ARBT ARBEFTT
Opening net assets FUEEFE 25,175 14,902
Profit for the year FRNmRF 7,394 10,273
Other comprehensive income HEM2mkes = -
Dividends paid or declared BIRNHEE RS - -
Closing net assets FREEFE 32,569 25,175
Group's share in % REEFFEEDT 52% 52%
Group's share in amounts REEFESEE 16,936 13,091
Goodwill kS 4,049 4,049
Elimination of unrealised profit 5 AR IR R (1,542) -
Carrying amount FRE{E 19,443 17,140
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

16 INVESTMENTS ACCOUNTED FOR USING THE
EQUITY METHOD (continued)

(i) Summarised statements of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income of a material joint venture

RHE

16 FAEREZARNKRE @)

(i) EXSELENEERAtEEKE

Nanjing Pop Mart
MBS
Year ended 31 December

BZ12AALEE

2020 2019

20204 20194

RMB' 000 RMB'000

AR®T T ARBEFTT

Revenue s 147,491 112,995

Depreciation and amortisation e K8 (14,558) (6,165)

Other cost and expenses HAbR A RS (122,134) (93,112)

Income tax expense FTiS i (3,405) (3,445)
Profit and total comprehensive income FREARZHEBREE

for the year 7,394 10,273

Dividends received from joint venture WEE2hENKRE = -

(iii) Individually immaterial joint ventures and associate

The information below reflects the amounts presented in the financial
statements of the joint ventures and an associate after alignment with
accounting policies of the Group.

(iii) ER R EANSERERBE QT
A TERHR R EA KB F R BORAE—
HENABELERBERRPBERERFT
TRHVEEE

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31ALEE

2020 2019
2020 2019%F
RMB’ 000 RMB'000
AR%T T ARBETT
Aggregate carrying amount of individually &R NE KRB E A RIWRERE
immaterial associates 30,937 2,587
Aggregate amounts of the Group's share of profit  ZNEE B2k & (A& F1 48 58
for the year
Profit/(loss) for the year FREF (EE) 2,891 (372)
Other comprehensive loss for the year FREAMEEETE (2,461) -
Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the year FRNEEKE S (EE) 858 430 (372)

POP MART
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17 DEFERRED INCOME TAX

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

17 IEEFRBH

As at 31 December

MR12A31H
2020 2019
2020 20194
RMB’ 000 RMB"000
ARET T AREFTT

Deferred income tax assets: FIEFTSTHAEE

- to be recovered within 12 months — ¥R 1218 A kel 12,752 10,575
— to be recovered after more than 12 months — ¥R ERE1 218 A & Uk [a 10,335 5,644
23,087 16,219

Deferred tax assets

The balance of deferred tax assets comprises temporary differences

attributable to:

(a) BIEFFEHEE

BREfENEEAHEREREEZE  H

iy
DA
/.

BER

As at 31 December

M®12A31H
2020 2019
20204 20194
RMB’ 000 RMB'000
AR¥T AREFT
Lease liabilities HEBE 72,802 45,849
Tax losses HIisEE 12,088 6,666
Accrued expenses fERTFX 8,180 3,911
Impairment loss BEEE 1,967 2,132
Total deferred tax assets EEBIEEEHAE 95,037 58,558
Set-off of deferred tax liabilities in relation to THEREEERE
right-of-use assets (b) RIEFIEE & () (71,950) (42,339)
Net deferred tax assets EEBIEEEFE 23,087 16,219
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

17 DEFERRED INCOME TAX (continued)
(a) Deferred tax assets (continued)

The movement is deferred income tax assets during the period, without
taking into consideration the offsetting of the balances within the same

tax jurisdiction, is as following:

17 EEFREH (&)
(a) IEILEFAEREE (&)
RET AR —FRIE A AR R A &R T iH1E

Impairment Lease Accrued

loss  Taxlosses liabilities expenses Total

HEERE - HEFR HEEE - EHHEX #st

RMB’000 RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000 RMB’000 RMB’000

ARBTRT AR¥TR ARBTR AR®TR AR¥TR

As at 1 January 2020 72020F1 818 2,132 6,666 45,849 3,911 58,558
Credited to the consolidated statement 4R A 1Bz M EM
of profit or loss and other ZERERTA

comprehensive income (165) 5,422 26,953 4,269 36,479

As at 31 December 2020 72020F12A31H 1,967 12,088 72,802 8,180 95,037

As at 1 January 2019 R2019F1H18 272 4329 18,739 1,303 24,643
Credited to the consolidated statement 4R A 1Bz M EM
of profit or loss and other ZEBERTA

comprehensive income 1,860 2,337 27,110 2,608 33,915

As at 31 December 2019 72019F12831H 2,132 6,666 45,849 3911 58,558

As at 31 December 2020, the tax losses which can be carried forward
against future taxable income that has not been recognised as deferred

income tax assets is nil (as at 31 December 2019: nil).

POP MART
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17 DEFERRED INCOME TAX (continued)

(b) Deferred tax liabilities

The balance of deferred tax liabilities comprises temporary differences

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

17 EEFREH (&)

(b)

ELFREHER

BEERBEAHREREREER  HBER

attributable to: A
As at 31 December
MW12A31H
2020 2019
2020 20194
RMB’ 000 RMB'000
AR¥T T AREFTT
Right-of-use assets EREEE 71,950 42,339
Set off of deferred tax assets in relation to MEAEERERCHIBEE
right-of-use assets (71,950) (42,339)
Net deferred tax liabilities EEBEEEFE - -

The movement in deferred income tax liabilities during the year ended

31 December 2020 is as follows:

BERFENEFHNT

HZE2020F12 831 BILFE - BITEFER

Right-of-use assets

EREEE

RMB’000

AR®ET T

As at 1 January 2020 7202041818 42,339
Debited to the consolidated statement of profit or loss and RErEEm R H M

other comprehensive income 2 RN 29,611

As at 31 December 2020 7A2020512H31H 71,950

As at 1 January 2019 ®2019F1A1H 16,877

Debited to the consolidated statement of profit or loss and RErEBm R E M 25,462
other comprehensive income EHEKEK IR

As at 31 December 2019 72019%12A31H 42,339
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

18 TRADE RECEIVABLES

18 EZ WA

As at 31 December

M12A31H
2020 2019
20205 20194F
RMB’ 000 RMB' 000

AR¥®TT ARETT

Trade receivables (a) E 5 EWGRIA ()

— Third parties —%=H 61,311 43,817
— Related parties (Note 36(e)) — B 77 (FsE36(e)) 19,288 4,752
Subtotal NEE 80,599 48,569
Less: provision for impairment (b) W BB (b) (2,265) (2,933)
Total trade receivables ESREWRIEHAE 78,334 45,636

(@) For trade receivables from retail store sales, roboshop sales and
online sales, the amounts are usually settled in cash, by credit/
debit cards or through online payment platforms. For wholesale
transactions, trade receivables are settled within the credit terms as
agreed in sales contracts. The majority of these wholesalers are with
credit terms of 30 to 90 days. Certain customers with good history
and long-term relationship are extended preferential credit terms of

up to 180 days.

POP MARTJ POP MART INTERNATIONAL GROUP LIMITED j&ai5 5Bl = mA R A 5

HRRETEEHE BEARPEHE
G FHENEZERKRFEME © #%
EXEBEURS ERAFfBREF
SBBREINTEEE - BALHER
SmME  BIEBARERBEEENH
THEEHRREE - KBz EHE
AEEEHAI0E0K - BERITE
P RRABENETEPEE&Z180
ROLEREEEER -



18 TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

(a)

(continued)
An aging analysis of the trade receivables based on invoice date is

as follows:

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

18 EZ EWRAIE (&)

(a)

(&

REZAHNE ZERZTENER S
M :

As at 31 December

M12H31H
2020 2019
20205 20194F
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
AR¥T T AREET T
Within 3 months 3@ A AA 67,736 42,224
3 months to 6 months 3ME A E6(EA 11,477 3,711
Over 6 months 618 A A £ 1,386 2,634
Total et 80,599 48,569

The Group applies the IFRS 9 simplified approach to measure
expected credit losses which use a lifetime expected loss allowance
for all trade receivables. Note 3.1 provides for details about the

calculation of the allowance.

Information about the impairment of trade receivables and the
Group exposure to credit risk, foreign currency risk and interest rate

risk can be found in Note 3.1.

Movements in allowance for impairment of trade receivables is as

follows:

(b)

REBR AR HREERFRE
e A EEHEEER  ZHEBE
EERBEYMmAEZRKRKALERS
HiFaE R EE - M3 REBRE
BETERRHS

BB 5 BUGRANBER R A EE
mEROEERR - SMNER R R A X

w2 BR - B2HME -

EHREFTRNREREBEZSNT

Year ended 31 December

BZ12AALEE

2020 2019

20205 20194F

RMB’ 000 RMB'000

ARBT ARBFT

As at 1 January ®1A1H 2,933 210
(Reversal of)/provision for impairment AR (B, B

allowance (668) 2,723

As at 31 December R12A31H 2,265 2,933
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

18 TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

(c) Trade receivables are denominated in the following currencies:

18 EZ EWRAIE (&)
(© BHREKHIEA TS EEEHE -

As at 31 December

M12A31H
2020 2019
2020 20194
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
AR®ET T AREETF T
RMB AR #E 77,430 38,441
KRW g2 [E 470 -
HKD BT 434 7,167
usb ETT = 28
78,334 45,636

(d) All trade receivables’ carrying amounts approximate fair values.

(d) FTEESRUGRIANRE(ESEAF

B -
=k
19 OTHER RECEIVABLES 19 Hth EW IR
As at 31 December
MW12A31H
2020 2019
2020 20194
RMB’ 000 RMB'000
AR®T AREFTT
Deposits for lease HEZS 83,778 53,495
Capital injection receivables JEE FEWGRIE - 4,568
Others Hh 8,262 2,622
Less: allowance for impairment of other R EL R R IE 2 R E
receivables (1,259) (989)
Total @t 90,781 59,696
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19 OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

Movements in allowance for impairment of other receivables is as

follows:

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

19 HiuEWRRIE (&)
U BB E A R BT -

Year ended 31 December

BZ12AALEE

2020 2019
20204 20194
RMB’ 000 RMB"000
AR®T ARBET T
As at 1 January ®1A1H 989 626
Provision for impairment allowance RE R 270 363
As at 31 December M12A31H 1,259 989
As at 31 December 2020 and 2019, the fair values of other receivables R20204F K 2019F 12 A31 8 » EfbEU K
approximated their carrying amounts. BERATFEEARIERS
20 INVENTORIES 20 78
As at 31 December
M®12A31H
2020 2019
20205 20194
RMB’ 000 RMB'000
AR®T T ARBT T
Merchandise (a) 4 an(a) 229,431 98,269
Less: provision for impairment (b) W BB (b) (4,062) (1,967)
Total HEt 225,369 96,302
(@) The cost of goods recognised as cost of sales amounted to approximately (@) HZE2020F K2019F12A31BILFE @ #
RMB748,452,000 and RMB488,035,000, for the years ended 31 December REBHEERTNERLEDBNABARE
2020 and 2019, respectively. 748,452,0007T K& A R 488,035,0007T °
(b) Provision for impairment was recognised for the amount by which the (b) MEEZEmMEBHEVERFENSERE

carrying amount of inventories exceeds its net realisable value and was
recorded in “cost of sales” in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income. The provision for impairment of inventory
amount to RMB2,095,000 and RMB1,710,000, for the years ended 31
December 2020 and 2019, respectively.

RBEEE it AGABEEREMEZEK
mEA[SEERA] - BZE20204 K2019F
NANBILFE  FEREBEIIAAR
#2,095,0007T 2 A #E1,710,0007T °
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21 PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER CURRENT ASSETS

21 AREREMABEE

As at 31 December

R12A31H
2020 2019
20204 2019%F
RMB’ 000 RMB'000
AR¥T T ARBEFT
Prepayments for inventories BNEFEEHRE 88,939 98,240
Prepayments for design fees TEfTERET B RIA 56,215 20,499
Prepayments for advertising and BNESEETSE
marketing expense 10,959 6,300
Prepayment for property, plant and equipment AW - BE REEHIE 6,177 10,443
Prepayments for short-term leases B ERIE 5,795 3,055
Deductible value-added input tax AT R G (B 2 TE A 1,450 1,050
Prepayment for listing expenses TEfS LA RIE - 2,530
Deferred listing expense B TR - 1,694
Others Hit 14,560 6,985
184,095 150,796
Less: non-current portion W EmENE S (6,177) (10,443)
Prepayments and other current assets — AENREREMURBEE -
current portion REIB S 177,918 140,353
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22 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

2 BAFEFABENEREE

As at 31 December

M12A31H
2020 2019
2020 20194
RMB’' 000 RMB'000
AR¥T AREFTT
Current assets REEE
— Investments in Wealth Management Products ~ — B2 2R IFHEERITEITH
issued by reputable commercial banks B ERKE = 50,000
Non-current assets I RBEE
— Investment in an associate measured at fair —BAREAEFEEEED
value through profit or loss (a) FFABRMEE R RIRE @) 16,900 -
Total #st 16,900 50,000
(@) On 24 July 2020 and 27 July 2020, Beijing Pop Mart entered into a share (@) P2020%F7HA24R K%202067H278 bR

transfer agreement and an investment agreement with an independent third
party, respectively, for the purpose of acquiring approximately 10% equity
interest in the target company.

The acquisition was completed in September 2020 with total consideration
of RMB16,900,000, upon which the Group has significant influence on the
target company, consequently, this investment has been classified as an
associate.

The Group has the right to require and demand the target company to
redeem all of the shares held by the Group at guaranteed predetermined
amount upon redemption events which are out of control of the target
company. Hence this investment is accounted for as debt instruments and is
recognised as financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss.

eV 5 R BB L 3 = 05 3 BIRT LA 17 ¥ R

BRI E R E - AKBREREL10%A
1 -
W EIRMN2020F9 AN - BRE/AR

#16,900,0007C * EBAEEHBEEZAFA
BERFEN  HAt - RERECHEA—
ER NI

AEBEARRERERBREARNER SR
RTMEBBRARMESER) LREHTR
EDRRBOARSEFENMMARD - Bt
ZREWRREB LA » WHERR/RAT
EFf2AREHHAZHESNEREE -
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22 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH

PROFIT OR LOSS (continued)

(b)  Amounts recognised in profit or loss

2 BRAFEFABZENERMEE
(%)
(0 HEHEROLE

Year ended 31 December

HZE12A31ALEE

2020 2019
20204 20194
RMB’' 000 RMB’ 000
ARBTT AREFT
Fair value change on financial assets BATEFABENEREEDN
at FVPL NEEEH) 1,153 1,678
23 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 3 RERBFECEEY
As at 31 December
M®12A31H
2020 2019
2020 20194
RMB’' 000 RMB'000
AR¥T AREFT
Cash at banks and cash in hand RITRELFERS
Denominated in FHEEE
- UsD — &7t 2,587,475 12,586
- HKD — BT 2,463,315 24,181
- RMB — AR 630,376 287,847
~ KRW PR E 2,332 -
Less: DA
Restricted cash SRR HIIE &
- pledged for letter of credits — BHEAEEERR (3,263) -
Cash and cash equivalents ReRESZEEY 5,680,235 324,614

The conversion of RMB denominated balances into foreign currencies

and the remittance of such foreign currencies denominated bank

balances and cash out of the PRC are subject to relevant rules and

regulations of foreign exchange control promulgated by the PRC

government.

POP MART
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

24 R
RARERBELELROFBOT :

24 SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the Company’s ordinary shares and preferred shares are as

follows:

Nominal Nominal Nominal Nominal
Number of value of valueof  Number of value of value of
ordinary ordinary ordinary preferred preferred preferred
shares shares shares shares shares shares
EER¥E EEREE LEREE BXRHE BAREE ErREE
USD'000 RMB'000 USD'000 RMB'000
TEn AR®Trn TEn  ARETR
At 9 May 2019 (date of incorporation) ®2019%589R (FMALAH) - - - - - -
Issuance of shares in connection with the  SLEAMARTREETRG ()
reorganisation to the shareholders of the
Company (a) 115,456,278 12 82 - - -
At 31 December 2019 120195124318 115,456,278 12 8 - - -
Asat 1 January 2020 R202051 818 115,456,278 12 82 - - -
Issuance of ordinary shares to the then MERRRETERRD)
shareholders (b) 6,076,646 1 4 - - -
Issuance of preferred shares (c) BIRERE - - - 610,718 = =
Re-designation of ordinary shares to ENEELARATERTER
convertible redeemable preferred shares ()~ B5TRR(0) (3,664,310) - (3) 3,664,310 - 3
Conversion of convertible redeemable BaERERELRELRA
preferred shares into ordinary shares (c) LiER© 4,275,028 - 3 (4,275,028) - 3)
Issuance of ordinary shares under Restricted 1R R B IR { 2@t 81247
Share Award Scheme (d) EER) 2,442,873 = 2 = = =
Capitalisation issue (¢) BRMET(E) 1,121,278,635 112 733 = - =
Issuance of ordinary shares upon Global AREEBRETERR
Offering (f) 135,715,200 14 89 - - -
Issuance of ordinary shares upon exercise ~ TARARRIEET(E R BIT
of over-allotment option (f) LR 20,357,200 2 13 - - -
At 31 December 2020 720205128318 1,401,937,550 141 923 - -
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24 SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

(@)

POP MART

The Company was incorporated on 9 May 2019 with an authorised share
capital of US$50,000 divided into 500,000,000 ordinary shares of US$0.0001
each.

From May 2019 to September 2019, the Company issued an aggregated of
115,456,278 ordinary shares to the shareholders for a total consideration of
USD24,516,000 (equivalent to approximately RMB173,122,000), including
USD12,000 (equivalent to approximately RMB82,000) recorded in share
capital and USD24,504,000 (equivalent to approximately RMB173,040,000) in
share premium respectively.

On 31 October 2019, the Company entered into a share subscription
agreement with certain shareholders in respect of the issuance of 6,076,646
shares for a total consideration of USD55,809,000. The issuance of shares was
completed in March and April 2020, and the total consideration of USD56
million (equivalent to approximately RMB393,805,000) had been received,
including USD608 (equivalent to approximately RMB4,000) recorded in share
capital and USD55,808,000 (equivalent to approximately RMB393,801,000) in
share premium respectively.

Pursuant to the resolution of the extraordinary general meeting of
the shareholders of the Company on 31 January 2020, the authorised
share capital of the Company of USD50,000, which originally consists of
500,000,000 ordinary shares of USD0.0001 par value each, was varied and
reclassified by dividing the 500,000,000 shares as follows:

(i) 495,724,972 ordinary shares of USD0.0001 par value each, of which
111,791,968 shares are issued; and

(i) 4,275,028 preferred shares (‘Series A Preferred Shares”) re-designated
and re-classified from ordinary shares at the par value of US$0.0001
each on a one-for-one basis, which include 3,664,310 shares
re-designated and re-classified from ordinary shares in issue and
610,718 shares re-designated and re-classified from authorised but
unissued ordinary shares.

The re-designation of 3,664,310 existing ordinary shares were
accounted for as repurchase of ordinary shares and issuance of
convertible redeemable preferred shares to the respective shareholders,
recorded as a debit to share capital of USD366 (equivalent to
approximately RMB3,000 as rounded to the nearest thousand) to reflect
the repurchase of ordinary shares. The difference between the par
value and fair value of 3,664,310 ordinary shares was RMB499,658,000,
recorded as a debit to share premium in the consolidated statement of
changes in equity for the year ended 31 December 2020.

(i) On 20 June 2020, all of the 4,275,028 Series A Preferred Shares were
converted into ordinary shares of the Company. The fair value of the
Series A Preferred Shares before conversion were USD88,408,000
(equivalent to RMB626,925,000), of which an amount of USD428
(equivalent to approximately RMB3,000 as rounded to the nearest
thousand) was recorded in share capital and the remaining amount of
RMB626,922,000 was recorded in share premium in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity for the year ended 31 December 2020.

POP MART INTERNATIONAL GROUP LIMITED B3545EIM S BAR 2 &

24 B (&

(@)

AARIR2019F 5 AoB MK - AERA
/50,0003 7T * 9 A500,000,000 % Z X EE
0.0001 ETTH) @A -

B2019F5 AE2019F9A8 + AR AIMPKE
BEITA 115,456,278 E B - BREA
24,516,000% 7T (FHE R K AR 173,122,000
JL)  BIEEFABRAM®12,000E T (HE
RAAREES2,000T) Rt ARMD EHE W
24,504,000% 7T (AEE R AR 173,040,000
JT) °

2019108318 © AREIFEEETT6,076,646
Bk tn LS TR AT T R R % - 4
REASEEERTT - BRNEITE R 20203
ARk4AREK  REWEILRES5809,000%
TC (FEE R AR393,8050007T) + B3E:T
ABEA#608E T (FHE R & AR 4,0007T)
st AR A7 % (B 955,808,000 7T (FHE R4
AR #393,801,0007T) °

BAEARRFRER2020F1 A31BETH
REBINAGHRER - ARBRETER
850,000 7T (JR 5 82 15500,000,000 8 &
AR TE{E0.0001 XM EBIR) DRBED A
500,000,000 A% A&7 M &4 R EF H AT -

(i) 495,724,972 % BRME(E0.0001 F LA L
A - HP111,791,9688 2 31T ¢ &

(i) H—RB—REEKTREE0.0001
EXMEBRETEECRENS>EAR
4,275,028 IRIBEM& (TARFIEEAR]) -
PREEETEBREFNEERETS
H13,664,310AR A% 0 K& BYEEBARET
TRIRENETERENDEM610,718
&A% ©

EHEE 3,664,310/ 38 A L @AIZMA
EREREBE L BERRBEITAERA
EEELERALR - 218 AT 3663
T (FERHARKE3 0007 » HEERE
SEITHTRIEN) JA S ik B 0] 2 3@ A%
3,664 310 EBROBMEENTEZ
R ZET A AR 499,658,000 © IRE
E2020F 12 A3 1 AL FEERGRAER
BBREARMDGEEBEIR -

(i) M 2020F 6208 © &#4,275,028
BARIBARERARNQR LB
B o MEEHAT - ARFIEEBROAQF
5/588,408,000E T (HER AR
626,925,0007T) *© EAP & 584283 7T (18
ERHARES000T  HBREHER
WFRE) RBARAERBTEEBAR
#626,922,000 TR B ZE 2020412 A 31
Bt FEGAERESHR AN HE
ABR ©



24 SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

(d)

On 24 July 2020, the board of directors of the Company approved to issue
2,442,873 ordinary shares of the Company to the Share Award Trust for
nil consideration in related to Post-IPO Share Award Scheme. The above
issuance of shares was completed on 28 July 2020, and the shares held by
the Share Award Trust will be recorded as “Shares held for Share Award
Scheme” and deducted from share premium until the RSU are vested or
cancelled. The shares under the Post-IPO Share Award Scheme have been
adjusted to 24,428,730 after the capitalisation issue on 11 December 2020.

Capitalisation issue

As disclosed in Note 1, 1,121,278,635 ordinary shares of USD0.0001 par value
each were issued and USD112,128 (equivalent to RMB733,372) were credited
to share capital, of which 21,985,857 ordinary shares (representing share
capital RMB14,380) were held for share award scheme (Note 25).

Issuance of new ordinary shares to public upon global offering

As disclosed in Note 1, the total gross proceeds from the global offering
were approximately HKD6,008,787,000 (equivalent to approximately
RMB5,070,481,000), of which USD15,607 (equivalent to approximately
RMB102,079) was credited to share capital, HKD6,008,666,000 (equivalent to
approximately RMB5,070,379,000) was credited to share premium. The share
issuance costs relating to the global offering amounted to RMB154,902,000
were recorded in share premium.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

24 B (&

(d)

R2020F7 8248 » ARRIERESHEUS
REMBRD BENEFTE1T2,442,873 AR F]
TR BN E R ARSI EEEE
MEBEER - FlRHEITER202067A4
28HFERK - Rt ERENEFER B RIRG 1558
R, ZEFEFENRG ] - WRERG
BEFNG  EEZBRHIRG BN FENE
$H5 o A2020F 12 B 1M BEARLEITE - BX
NABEERDEBTETOROEEEH
B 504,428,7300% ©

BEARLE#TT

WM FIAMEE  ARAB BT
1,121,278,635 % SRR E{E0.0001 E T L 8@
B - WH112,128 T (FHER ARKET733,372
TO) ETARAE - HPp iR D RE 8 E
21,985,857 IR E @R ((ERRA AR 14,380
7) (FF&E25) °

RERBEERRDRALETHEBR

WM E VI HE  2HRBEERMSRAL
4 56,008,787,0008 T (HEROAR
#5,070,481,0007T) + H A 15,607% T (18
ERHARK102,0797T) Bt ARAK -
M6,008,666,000%8 T (FHERHARE
5,070,379,0007C) BT AR R E o EEIREE
EBBNRGBEITERA B ARE154,902,000
TC 0 BEFARG HE ©
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25 SHARES HELD FOR SHARE AWARD SCHEME

25 B RAFEFEHRS

As at As at As at As at
31 December | 31 December | 31 December | 31 December
2020 2019 2020 2019
720205 R 20194 72020 F 20194
12A31H 12A318 128318 12A31H
Shares Shares RMB’000 RMB'000
& Eah) AR¥TRT | AREBTR
Shares held for share award scheme TR 0 S EDET B FTE
of US$0.0001 each FRR0.0001 ETHRH 24,428,730 - 16 -

These shares are held by the Group’s Share Award Trust for the purpose

of issuing shares under the Group's Share Award Scheme (see Note

27(b) for further information). Under the Post-IPO Share Award Scheme,

the Company issued 2,442,873 ordinary shares of the Company to the

Share Award Trust for nil consideration in 2020. The shares under the
Post-IPO Share Award Scheme have been changed to 24,428,730 after

the capitalisation issue on 11 December 2020 (see Note 24(d) for further

information).

AEEHRMHEEETFENZERN B
B ARIBBEAS B/ RD EEE EIZTRG
(E—HHBRKE27(0)) - RIBE XA
BERRMDIEEGE - RATR2020F A
TRE MR EENS5E3172,442,873 /A
Bl o B 2020F 12811 BEARLEST
% BRARABERKRGEBFE TR
DEEDE 524428730 GE—FHER

M EF24(d)) ©

Number

of shares RMB’ 000
Details E3r ROE AR¥TR
Balance at 1 January 2019 201961 A1 BRV &R - -
Shares vested under share award scheme RBR A 12BN BB BRI R - -
Balance at 31 December 2019 2019512 A31 B & - -
Shares issued to share award scheme BT TR S EDRT & M AR 15 2,442,873 2
Capitalisation issue BR{B%TT 21,985,857 14
Balance at 31 December 2020 2020912 A31 HR &8 24,428,730 16

POP MART
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
HREMBRERM T
26 OTHER RESERVES 26 Hthf#
(a) Other reserves movement of the Group (a) NEEMEMFHEES
Share-based
Share Capital Statutory  Translation payment
premium reserves reserves reserves reserves Total
DY
BERN
RpEE ERfE EE B RS st

RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
ARBTR ARBTR ARBTR ARMTR ARMTR ARET:R

As at 1 January 2020 R2020%1818 7,500,381 (7,382,159) 50,506 903 - 169,631
Currency translation difference EHBEES - - - (38,901) = (38,901)
Profit appropriation to statutory reserves (i BRRETERE T = = 7,221 = = 7,221
Re-designation of ordinary shares to convertible  EFET L BR AT E#

redeemable preferred shares (Note 24(c)) MEEELR (HF24(0) (499,658) - - - = (499,658)
Issuance of ordinary shares to the then MERRRETLRR

shareolders (Note 24(v) GEZZO) 393,801 - - - - 393,801
Conversion of convertible redeemable preferred 1 ] EHA ] B A B LRSS

shares into ordinary shares (Note 24(c)) BERR (54(0) 626,922 - - - - 626,922
Capitalisation issue (Note 24(e)) BA BT (i 246e) (719) = = - - (719)
Issuance of new ordinary shares (Note 24(7)  BFTRF &Mk (H&t24(0) 4,409,110 - - - - 4,409,110
Issuance of ordinary shares upon exercise of ~ TAEER IEIEITHE (B %17

over-allotment option (Note 24(f) Lk (FriEo4m) 661,269 - - - - 661,269
Share issuance costs (Note 24(f)) BB AR (Bi3E4() (154,902) = = = = (154,902)
Dividends declared EIie (384,659) - = = - (384,659)
Balance at 31 December 2020 2020512831 R E 12,551,545 (7,382,159) 57,727 (37,998) - 5189115
As at 1 January 2019 #2019%1518 - 120113 10426 - 892 131431
Currency translation difference EHHEES - - - 903 - 903
Profit appropriation to statutory reserves (i) BRE AT EEZEN) - - 40,080 - - 40,080
Capital injection from the shareholders ARARFEE (Fii40)

of the Company (Note 24(a)) 173,040 - - - - 173,040
Deemed distribution to the then BETEAMRER

shareholders of Beijing Pop Mart to ERBRER

give effect to the Reorganisation (i) EERRHDIE() 7,327,341 (7,500,000) - - - (172,659)
Share-based compensation expenses AR IR BEB R IR %

(Note 27) (M327) - - - - 1,467 1,467
Shares vested under the Share RERG REHAEBARN

Award Scheme - (2272) - - (2359) (4,631)
Balance at 31 December 2019 #2019 12831 BI&H 7500381 (7382,159) 50,506 903 - 169,631
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

26 HitfEE &)
a) REBYEMEEERE (2)

26 OTHER RESERVES (continued)

(@) Other reserves movement of the Group (continued)

(i) Statutory reserves

In accordance with the relevant laws and regulations of the PRC,
when distributing the net profit of each year, the Group shall set
aside 10% of its profit after income tax (based on the PRC statutory
financial statements and after offsetting accumulated losses from
prior years) for the statutory surplus reserve fund (except where the
reserve balance has reached 50% of the paid-in capital).

Statutory reserve can be used to make up for the loss or increase

the paid-in capital after approval from the appropriate authorities.

(ii) On 2 August 2019, Pop Mart Hong Kong entered into a share
transfer agreement with all the then shareholders of Beijing Pop
Mart, pursuant to which Pop Mart Hong Kong agreed to acquire
all the issued share capital of Beijing Pop Mart from the then
shareholders of Beijing Pop Mart at the total cash consideration of
RMB172,659,200. The cash consideration of RMB172,659,200 was
treated as deemed distributions as it was paid out of the Group to
the then shareholders of Beijing Pop Mart.

27 SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION

(a) Share Award Scheme

For the purpose of the share award (“Share Award Scheme”), Beijing Pop
Mart Investment Enterprise (L.P.) (‘Pop Mart Partnership”) was established
as a limited partnership in the PRC on 29 October 2015. The objective of
the Share Award Scheme is to encourage and retain selected grantees
including directors and employees of the Group, to work with the Group
and to provide additional incentive for them to enhance performance
goals and to enable the Group to recruit high-caliber employees and

attract human resources that are valuable to the Group.

The general partner of Pop Mart Partnership is Mr. Wang Ning and each
of the selected grantees is a limited partner. The relevant activities
of Pop Mart Partnership (such as acquiring and holding shares under
the Share Award Scheme during the vesting period and transfer the
awarded shares to employees on vesting) are conducted on behalf of
the Group and for the benefit of the Group's employees. The Group is
able to direct the relevant activities of Pop Mart Partnership and benefit
from such activities. As a result, Pop Mart Partnership is consolidated in
the Group’s financial statements.

POP MARTJ POP MART INTERNATIONAL GROUP LIMITED j&ai5 5Bl = mA R A 5

(i) SEERE
BIE R B ERERERNMEE D
& FELFR  RERPBUEEVB
HEWFRAEFHRETEIER A5
EEREREBR TS BB E FE) 10%1ER
FEERBHEES (EREEHREEIE
BUE R 50%BIBR SN o

BEGIEEREMR ZERETH
RMEERIENEHER -

(i) 720198 A2H ' Pop Mart Hong Kong
B RIS E R A RRRT L
[ h 8% - B bPop Mart Hong
Kong Rl & A 4t 708 0 35 155 & B 8 B
R aRB N2 e &7k
N BEeREA/ARK172,659,200
T o REREARME172,6592007TE 1E
%ﬁ{’ﬁ PRERE AARENREREH
Mt R IR E R AR SRR AT o

27 DARRAD B B 1 9 R BN
) B17 St )

RERKRD ZE ([RKHEEEE]) - bR
WABRHRERE (BREE) (ARIEHE
A1) R2015F10 A28 EFBEKZEE
REBEE - RHEEF S 2B KT 5E
REBEEARA (BEASENEERE
B)NAREIIE  WAKSREEIIN
BASB(CEEBIZ « U RFEAREBEHRB
HeBE=zmEEBRRSIUAEEABEE
BWANER -
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BREABRARERAEBA - BABHFE
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BEHhTREE) DREAKEERSAEH
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27 SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION (continued)

(a) Share Award Scheme (continued)

For the purpose of granting awarded shares to selected grantees, Pop
Mart Partnership either makes capital injection into Beijing Pop Mart or
purchases shares of Beijing Pop Mart from other shareholders with funds
contributed by its general partner and limited partners. Upon granting
of awarded shares, the selected grantees are entitled to subscribe for the
respective equity interest in Pop Mart Partnership at the price specified
in the contracts (the "Subscription Price”). If an employee leaves the
Group during the vesting period, the Group has an obligation to
repurchase the unvested shares and can reallocate such shares to other

employees.

The awarded shares are recognised by the Group as follows:

(i)  The fair value of awarded shares, based on the difference between
the market value of the shares of Beijing Pop Mart on the grant
date and the Subscription Price, is charged as employee benefit
expenses in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income over the respective vesting periods of 36

months since the grant date of the awarded shares; and

(i) To reflect the repurchase obligation in relation to unvested shares,
the Group recognise a debit to “Shares held for Share Award
Scheme” at the amount of the Subscription Price for each of the
awarded shares on the grant date, which is transferred to capital

reserves upon vesting of the respective shares.

During the years end 31 December 2020, the fair value of awarded
shares recognised in the statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income is nil (2019: RMB1,467,000). During the years end

31 December 2020, there is no new shares granted.
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EABBRERME
27 SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION (continued) 27 IR BERNEM =)
(@) Share Award Scheme (continued) (a) BRIPEEETE (&)

Movements in the awarded shares are as follow:

RER M EBHIT

Years ended at 31 December

BZ12A31ALEE

2020 2019
20205 2019%F

Average Average
fair value Number of fair value Number of
per share shares per share shares

SBFY ST
AFE R0 & E NFE avard=
(RMB) (Thousands) (RMB)  (Thousands)
(AR¥T) (FR) | (AR®ET) (Fh)
Opening balance as at 1 January M1 AT BREDERR - - 5.77 357
Granted B = - - -
Lapsed KK - - - -
Exercised 17 - - _ _
Vested b= - - 5.77 (357)
Ending balance as at 31 December  A12 A31 B WER &k - - - -

(b) Post-IPO Share Award Scheme (b) BRABBEEZRMDREEFS

For the purpose of the restrictive share unit (the "RSU") long term
incentive plan (the “Post-IPO Share Award Scheme”), Pop Mart Partner
Limited (the “Share Award Trust”) was established to hold and administer
the RSU before they are vested and transferred to the participants. The
purpose of the Post-IPO Share Award Scheme is to align the interests
of selected participants’ with those of the Group and to encourage and
retain selected participants to make contributions to the long-term
growth and profits of the Group. As the financial and operational policies
of the Share Award Trust are governed by the Group, and the Group
benefits from the Share Award Trust's activities, the Share Award Trust
is consolidated in the Group’s financial statements as a special purpose

entity.
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27 SHARE-BASED COMPENSATION (continued)

(b) Post-IPO Share Award Scheme (continued)

The aggregate number of shares underlying all grants (the “RSU") made
pursuant to the Post-IPO Share Award Scheme (excluding the shares
which have been forfeited in accordance with the Post-IPO Share Award
Scheme) will not exceed 10% shares without shareholders’ approval
subject to an annual limited of 5% of the total number of issued shares

at the relevant time.

On 24 July 2020, the board of directors of the Company approved to
issue 2,442,873 ordinary shares of the company to the Share Award
Trust for nil consideration in related to Post-IPO Share Award Scheme.
The above issuance of shares was completed on 28 July 2020, and the
RSU held by the Share Award Trust will be recorded as “Shares held
for Share Award Scheme” and deducted from equity until the RSU are
vested or cancelled. The shares under the Post-IPO Share Award Scheme
have been changed to 24,428,730 after the capitalisation issue on 11
December 2020 (see Note 24(e) and Note 25 for further information).

During the year ended 31 December 2020, no shares were granted to

selected participants under the Post-IPO Share Award Scheme.

Pursuant to the Post-IPO Share Award Scheme, on 4 January 2021, the
Group granted 2,805,853 RSUs to the selected participants in respect
of their service to the Group. As of the date of approval of these
financial statements, all of these RSUs will be vested in tranches from
the grant date over a specific service period, on the condition that
these employees are remained in service and achieve performance
requirements. Once the vesting conditions of the respective RSUs are
met, the RSUs are considered duly and validly issued to the selected
participants, and free of restrictions on transfer. The fair value of the
shares granted was determined based on the market value of the
Company’s shares at the grant date, which will be charged to the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive

income of the Group over the respective vesting period.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

28 BEZEARE

As at 31 December

28 TRADE PAYABLES

R12A831H
2020 2019
2020F 20194F
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
ARET ARBTT
Merchandise payables 72 G ST 5RIE 115,804 49,406

The credit terms of merchandise payables granted by the suppliers are

usually current to 180 days. At 31 December 2020 and 2019, the aging

analysis of the merchandise payables based on invoice date were as

HEFETFTHRRENKENEERBS
BEEAZ 180K ° FA20204F 2019412 A 31
B ERZEZAHNERENRENERER

follow: ST :
As at 31 December
M12H31H
2020 2019
2020 20194F
RMB’ 000 RMB' 000
AR®T R ARBETF T
Within 30 days 30 KA 31,355 23,605
30 to 90 days 30E290K 44,736 11,652
90 to 180 days 90E 180K 20,604 5,028
Over 180 days 180K E 19,109 9,121
115,804 49,406

pZ:7 2 POP MART |  POP MART INTERNATIONAL GROUP LIMITED @i 4sEpr S EAR A &




29 LICENSE FEES PAYABLES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

29 BAEEE

As at 31 December

R12A831H
2020 2019
20204 20194
RMB’ 000 RMB’000
ARET ARBTT
License fees payables ENEES 86,814 16,495
Less: non-current portion R FERNERER (27,934) (1318)
Current portion BIERER 5 58,880 15177

As disclosed in Note 13(a), the Group entered into various license
agreements with artists to obtain exclusive and non-exclusive Licensed
IPs. Pursuant to the license agreements, fixed minimum payments are
payable in tranches during the contracted term while variable payments
that depend on sales are payable in the period in which the condition

that triggers those payments occurs.

BN EE13(a) T IRER - AR B EE
RelUATEERSE  UBRSBRK
FFBREMEIP - RIBZ W - BER
BENREARAGOBAD B AIMER
5 E RO R] B R A N B B R T B
BB S AT o
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29 LICENSE FEES PAYABLES (continued)

29 ERIREE #)

Movement in license fees payables during the year is analysed as follows: ENEEERTFANESOMOT :
RMB’000
ARBT T
As at 1 January 2020 720201 H1H 16,495
Additions NE 149,735
Payment of license fees SR ES (79,322)
Adjustment for exchange difference FEH ZRRAR (94)
As at 31 December 2020 M2020512A31H 86,814
As at 1 January 2019 R2019F1A1H 7,181
Additions NE 57,794
Payment of license fees TEEE (48,480)
As at 31 December 2019 R2019F12A31H 16,495
As at 31 December
R12A831H
2020 2019
2020F 20194F
RMB’ 000 RMB"000
AR®T T ARBTT
Analysis of license fees payables: FENEIEBE DT -
Non-current IERE 27,934 1318
— the second to fifth year —EZEFERF 27,934 1,318
— more than five years —RFLE - -
Current BN HA 58,880 15177

The license fees payables are mainly denominated in RMB, USD and HKD.

The maturity profile of the Group's license fees based on contractual

undiscounted cash flows is disclosed in Note 3.1(c).
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30 OTHER PAYABLES

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

30 HAiuE(SFIE

As at 31 December

R12A318

2020 2019

2020F 20194F

RMB’ 000 RMB’000

ARET ARBTT

Wages, salaries and other employee benefits I&  #FeKkEMEEREN 42,218 31,968

Accrual expenses FEETFIZ 31,599 11,492

Other tax payables FERT B Ath B IE 28,559 11,506

Payable for leasehold improvement ENREEREHIE 27,123 2,741

Payables for listing fees FER =R IE 25,716 3,511

Payables for short-term and variable rental ETREA R AT EHEE

expenses F Sz FIA 11,181 11,854

Deposits payable ENHe 9,714 8,652

Dividend payable FERTAR B 7,079 -

Payables to merchants on conventions ENREEFRIE 3,064 9,547
Deposit received in connection with the capital  #t— BB T EWENIE S

injection from a shareholder - 11,427

Payables for purchasing the Listing Business FEEBE EmEBFIE - 4,566

Payables for investment in a joint venture JERIRE —REERERIE - 2,587

Others Hit 16,044 12,199

Total #at 202,297 122,050

As at 31 December 2020 and 2019, the carrying amounts of other 2020 2019128310 » AR EpE
NRIEREEHEE - EEREAERSESHEA

AFAEAE -

payables are considered to approximate their fair values, due to their

short-term nature.
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31 CONTRACT LIABILITIES

31 BHERE

As at 31 December

M12831H
2020 2019
20205 20194F
RMB’ 000 RMB' 000
AR¥T T AREFTT
Online sales R EHE 51,042 31,261
Customer loyalty programme KPR AHMEE 21,803 -
License income BREWA 6,059 -
Wholesales Hezt 5,037 3,906
83,941 35,167

(i) During the year ended 2020, the points expire at the end of each
six months from the date on which the initial sales occur. During
the year ended 2019, all of the points expire at the end of the year

during which the initial sales occurs.

Revenue recognised in relation to contract liabilities balance at the

beginning of the year:

AR FREIE -

VA D RIEBRTERD

s -

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31ALEE

2020 2019
20204 2019%F
RMB’ 000 RMB'000
ARBT ARBEFTT
Credited to the consolidated statement of FTASRE B R EA
profit or loss and other comprehensive Z2HEWER
income 26,303 8,005

POP MART
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32 CONVERTIBLE REDEEMABLE PREFERRED

SHARES

As disclosed in Note 24, on 31 January 2020, the Company issued
4,275,028 Series A Preferred Shares, including (i) 3,664,310 shares
repurchased from existing issued ordinary shares, at a price of
USD20.4677 per share for a total consideration of USD75,000,000; and (ii)
610,718 shares issued to an investor at a price of USD20.4677 per share
for a total consideration of USD12,500,000 (equivalent to approximately
RMB86,561,000) pursuant to the shares subscription agreement entered
into by the Company (together with certain subsidiaries) and the

investor.

The key terms of the Series A Preferred Shares are summarised as follows:

(a) Dividends rights

The investor of the Series A Preferred Shares is entitled to receive
dividends, out of any assets legally available, as and if declared by
the board of directors of the Company. Such distributions shall
not be cumulative. To the extent any dividend is declared and
paid, such dividend shall be paid ratably to all shareholders on an

as-converted basis.

(b) Conversion feature

The Series A Preferred Shares shall be automatically converted
into fully-paid, non-assessable ordinary shares, based in the
then-effective applicable conversion price for such shares: (i)
immediately prior to the closing of an “IPO" or (ii) on the date
specified on the written request for such conversion from the
investors (calculated on an as converted basis) with respect to the

conversion of the Series A Preferred Shares.

“IPO" means the Company’s first underwritten public offering of
its Ordinary Shares and listing on an internationally recognized
securities exchange (for the avoidance of doubt, excluding “NEEQ”
in the PRQ).
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32 CONVERTIBLE REDEEMABLE PREFERRED
SHARES (continued)

The key terms of the Series A Preferred Shares are summarised as follows:

(continued)
(c) Redemption feature

Upon the written request of each majority holder of the Series
A Preferred Shares, the Company shall redeem all or any portion
of the Series A Preferred Shares. Upon the earlier to occur of (i)
the Company has not completed an IPO following the fifth (5th)
anniversary of the Issue Date, or (i) any material breach of any
transaction agreement by any group company or any founder
party, any holder of Series A Preferred Shares or ordinary shares
converted from Series A Preferred Shares may at any time require
the Company to redeem any or all of the then outstanding equity
securities held by such holders at the redemption price which
represent the issue price, plus all declared or accrued but unpaid
dividends and an interest at an annual compounded rate of 10%

calculating from the Issue Date to the payment date.

(d) Voting rights

Each Series A Preferred Shares has voting rights equivalents to the
number of ordinary shares into which such preferred shares could

be then convertible.

The Group monitors the Series A Preferred Shares on a fair value basis
which is in accordance with the risk management strategy and does
not bifurcate any embedded derivatives from the host instruments and

designates entire instruments as financial liabilities at FVPL.
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32 CONVERTIBLE REDEEMABLE PREFERRED
SHARES (continued)

The difference between the fair value of 3,664,310 ordinary shares and
the fair value of the re-designated 3,664,310 Series A Preferred Shares
was RMB16,910,000, recorded in profit or loss as expense to reflect the
benefit received by the respective shareholders of the re-designated

ordinary shares during the year ended 31 December 2020.

The movement of the Series A Preferred Shares during the year ended

31 December 2020 is set out as below:
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32 AR T EEE LR (&)

3,664,310/ & @R ERE(E M E 8 E 8
3,664,310 RARTIE IR N T(E 2 TR =
A ARY16,910,0007T © REE 2020512
R31BEFERESARRBRE - ARME
EFHRTEBRSREE WM FIE

AZBBERAEE2020F 12 A31BILEE
HEBEI T

RMB’ 000

ARBT T

As at 1 January 2020 720201818 -
Issuance of Series A Preferred Shares BITARTIEER 602,665
Change in fair value NEEEH) 6,260
Currency translation differences BEmE=% 18,000
Redemption of Series A Preferred Shares BEEIARTEER (626,925)
As at 31 December 2020 ®2020F12H31H -

As disclosed in Note 24, on 20 June 2020, all of the 4,275,028 Series A

Preferred Shares were converted into ordinary shares of the Company.

SRANBI R 24 FTIREE - R20209F6 H20H © &
£64,275,028 AR FIB LR EIR AR QT L
Bp -
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33 WAGES, SALARIES AND OTHER EMPLOYEE
BENEFITS

IBTE  HFEhHMEEER

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31ALEE

2020 2019
20204 20194F
RMB’ 000 RMB’000

AR®T T ARBET T

Wages and salaries TERH® 198,001 117,436
Social security costs and housing fund HERERARFEAES 31,995 27,034
Bonus fE4L 12,967 9,557
Share-based compensation expenses (Note 27) VARSAR 72 B R ) SR BN ) =2 (B9 5E27) - 1,467

242,963 155,494

(@) Pensions - defined contribution plans

The employees of the Group in the PRC, (including Hong Kong) and
Korea participate in defined contribution retirement benefit plans
organised by the relevant local governments. The Group is required to
make monthly defined contributions to these plans at rates ranging from
13% to 20% (the year ended 31 December 2019: 13% to 20%) in the PRC
and 4.50% (the year ended 31 December 2019: 4.50%) in Korea of the
employees’ basic salaries for the year, depending upon the applicable

local regulations.

The Group has no other obligations for the payment of retirement and
other post-retirement benefits of employees or retirees other than the
defined contribution payments as disclosed above.
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33 WAGES, SALARIES AND OTHER EMPLOYEE 33

(b)

BENEFITS (continued)
Five highest paid individuals

(b)

The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in the Group
for the years ended 31 December 2020 including 2 directors whose
emoluments are reflected in the analysis shown in Note 39 (2019: 2). The
emoluments payables to the remaining 3 (2019: 3) individuals during the

year ended 31 December 2020 are as follows:
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TE -HeRhHMEERA
(%)

TERSMEAL

HE2020F 124318 IEFE - AEEME
BRNAEBATHORBERE (BE2019
FI2ANALFE WB)ES - Hilex
BRAEMISE3OAT R AT - B E2020F 12 A
3TALLFE - B TFES =R (2019F : =
H)ATHBESOT

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31ALEE

2020 2019
2020 20194
RMB’ 000 RMB"000
AR®T T ARBT T
Salaries e 3,330 2,679
Bonus TEAT 383 742
Contributions relating to social insurance, R - FEAES KERETE
housing fund and retirement scheme MR 363 437
Share-based compensation expenses LARR 15 B EERE B SR EN B 2 - 133
4,076 3,991
The emoluments fell within the following bands: e BRUATEE :
Year ended 31 December
BZ12B31BLEE
2020 2019
2020 20194
Emolument bands (in HKD) B < & E (LABITTED)
HKDO to HKD1,000,000 0/ 7221,000,0007% 7T - -
HKD1,000,001 to HKD 1,500,000 1,000,001 7L £ 1,500,00078 7T 3 2
HKD1,500,001 to HKD2,000,000 1,500,001 7T 2 2,000,000/ 7T - 1
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34 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT

POP MART

OF CASH FLOWS

(@) Reconciliation of profit before income tax to net cash flows

generated from operations:

(a) BREFGHLATER B S
EREFRIER

34 REREREBRME

EEELNR

Year ended 31 December

BZ12AALEE

2020 2019
2020 20194
RMB’ 000 RMB"000
ARET ARBTT

Profit before income tax B P15 15 Al g ) 707,403 598,375
Adjustments for: BATFIEEL T
Fair value gains from financial assets Tﬁ’&?ﬁﬁ]\?ﬁ SR ELE E Y

at FVPL (Note 22) NERE (MEE22) (1,153) (1,678)
Fair value changes on convertible AT B34 AT BB BB 5L AR A (B

redeemable preferred shares (Note 32) (FF5E32) 6,260 -
Expense related to re-designation ordinary E%ﬁ?‘a’i% MR AELIRERAS

shares to preferred shares (Note 32) (Bft5E32) 16,910 -
Share-based compensation expenses VARR 1 A EEHE B SR BN Bl =2 - 1,467
Share of results of joint ventures and NMEEEhEREEATES

associates (3,873) (4,970)
Depreciation of property, plant and YIE -~ B R EITE (Misk12)

equipment (Note 12) 66,682 29,580
Amortisation of intangible assets (Note 13) M EERE (HEE13) 36,221 8,799
Loss/(gain) on disposal of property, plant and BEMXE  BEIEENEL

equipment, intangible assets BEMEE, (k) 118 (133)
Depreciation of right-of-use assets (Note 14) FREEENE (MiE14) 142,940 70,324
(Reversal of)/provision for impairment CREERE (BB, BiE

on financial assets (398) 3,086
Impairment losses on inventory (Note 20) FEREEE (M:E20) 2,095 1,710
Impairment losses on property, plant and M WEREEAREBLEEYN

equipment and intangible assets BIEEE - 2,644
Finance expense, net (Note 8) B %R X EE (PREs) 8,993 5,389
Foreign exchange gains or loss HMEE 1,270 1,226
Changes in working capital: EBEESHE
Inventories & (130,329) (68,951)
Trade receivables B 5 EWRIE (31,715) (34,063)
Other receivables H U GRIE (38,886) (31,731)
Prepayments and other current assets TERN IR KRB M Eh A A (53,742) (96,976)
Trade payables Z ZENFIE 71,610 31,950
Other payables Hith FETFRIE 50,701 62,261
Contract liabilities aHEE 48,774 25,128
Cash generated from operations RETBHEENRS 899,881 603,437
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34 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT

OF CASH FLOWS (continued)

(b) Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment:

34 1A

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

HEREBRMET &)

b) BEY% - MENRRBAENRER

Year ended 31 December

BZ12AALEE

2020 2019
20204 20194
RMB’ 000 RMB"000
AR®T R ARBET T
Net book amount (Note 12) BREDFE (3E12) 1,997 253
Loss on disposal of property, plant and BEMXE  BELEBENEE
equipment (16) (253)
1,981 -
(c) Net debt reconciliation ) EEFREHR
As at 31 December
M12A31H
2020 2019
20204 20194
RMB’ 000 RMB'000
AR®T T ARBETTT
Cash and cash equivalents HEFREEEY 5,680,235 324,614
Lease liabilities — due within 1 year FAEaE - —FUREH (144,724) (92,586)
Lease liabilities — due after 1 year MEBE - —F%&IH (147,050) (90,812)
Net cash REeFE 5,388,461 141,216
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34 NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT 34 &R E&REBRMT ()
OF CASH FLOWS (continued)
(c) Net debt reconciliation (continued) (c) B FEYER (&)
Cash and cash Lease
equivalents liabilities Net cash
REeRBELEEY HESE Re 3
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
AR®T INT-E ARETR
Net cash as at 1 January 2020 R2020F1 A1 ANBRLFHE 324,614 (183,398) 141,216
Cash flows BenE 5,356,797 147,995 5,504,792
Addition - leases liabilities En-HEEE - (256,371) (256,371)
Foreign exchange adjustments HINGE FE 2 (1,176) - (1,176)
Net cash as at 31 December 2020 2020512 A31 HWIR&FE 5,680,235 (291,774) 5,388,461
Net cash as at 1 January 2019 R2019F1 A1 EHNREFE 96,802 (75,298) 21,504
Cash flows HehE 229,038 75,773 304,811
Addition — leases liabilities #in-HEaE - (183,873) (183,873)
Foreign exchange adjustments HINGE 5 2 (1,226) - (1,226)
Net cash as at 31 December 2019 R2019F 12831 ANREFE 324,614 (183,398) 141,216
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35 COMMITMENTS

(@) Capital commitments

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

35 H&
(a) BEAEEE

As at 31 December

M12A31H
2020 2019
2020 20194
RMB’ 000 RMB' 000

AR®T T ARETT

Contractual but not provided for BRI AR

—Property, plant and equipment — % RE KRB 16,008 10,407

—Acquiring an associate — B —REE AR - 26,818
16,008 37,225

36 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Parties are considered to be related if one party has the ability, directly
or indirectly, control the other party or exercise significant influence
over the other party in making financial and operation decisions. Parties
are also considered to be related if they are subject to common control.
Members of key management and their close family member of Popmart

are also considered as related parties.

Names of the major related parties

36 B ARG

B BRNERRIEERENS -7 0 X
EERMBREERREE S —H#EE

FE NESBEREY - WAPSEIXH
REH] - RITRR AR - BBI/TEFME
EEIEEKE RETRK B I RR S @
E o

Nature of relationship

TERBLTER BERNMEE
Mr. Wang Ning Executive director of the Group
ETEELE FEERNTESR
Nanjing Pop Mart Joint venture
EERabayakiE s BELE
Pop Mart Japan Joint venture
Pop Mart Japan aEbE
Singapore Pop Joint venture
Singapore Pop BEE
How2work Limited Associate
How2work Limited Bz
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36 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

Significant transactions with related parties:

(a) Sales of goods to

£ A B

36 B ARB (&)
BINEARS

(a) SHEEmMT

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31ALEE

2020 2019
2020 % 20194

RMB’ 000 RMB' 000

AR¥T AREFT

Joint ventures B 97,008 56,504

(b) Purchase of goods from

(b) BEEmMB

Year ended 31 December

BZ12AALEE

2020 2019

2020 20194F

RMB’ 000 RMB"000

ARBT ARBTT

An associate B (b3 16,309 5,075

(c) Receive Service from

() BERBE

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31ALEE

2020 2019

20204 20194

RMB’ 000 RMB"000

AR¥T AREFT

An associate B2 7,895 5,792

P33 POP MART |  POP MART INTERNATIONAL GROUP LIMITED @i 4sEpr S EAR A &




36 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)

Significant transactions with related parties:

(d) Key management compensation

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MBRRME

36 B ARB (&)
BINEARS
(d) EIREIE A SHH

Year ended 31 December

BZ12A31ALEE

2020 2019
20204 20194
RMB' 000 RMB'000
AR¥T AREFT
Salaries and other benefits e RHAER 6,181 5,280
Contributions relating to social insurance, iR - FEAEE R
housing fund and retirement scheme RIREHEIER R 167 1,017
Bonus TE4L 839 929
Share-based compensation expenses VARR 13 3 ERE B SR BN Bl =2 - 570
7,187 7,796
(e) Significant year-end balances with related parties: (e) BBt T WEBEXRFEAER
As at 31 December
MW12A31H
2020 2019
20204 20194
RMB' 000 RMB'000
AR¥ET T AREFTT
Assets BE
Trade receivables B 5 EWRIE
Joint ventures AEE 19,288 4,752
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37 CONTINGENCY

On 28 August 2020, Beijing Pop Mart received a court summons
dated 19 August 2020 in relation to a claim brought by Golden Eagle
International Retail Group (China) Co., Ltd. (‘Golden Eagle International”)
as a shareholder on behalf of Nanjing Pop Mart at the Jiangsu Nanjing
Intermediate People’s Court against Beijing Pop Mart, alleging, among
others, that Beijing Pop Mart had breached an investment cooperation
agreement dated 29 April 2014 which was entered into among Golden
Eagle International, Mr. Wang Ning and other then shareholders of
Beijing Pop Mart. Pursuant to the claim, Golden Eagle International
claimed that (i) Beijing Pop Mart should cease to operate the claimed
stores in certain exclusive areas; and (ii) Beijing Pop Mart should return
an amount of approximately RMB117.2 million to Nanjing Pop Mart,
which represents the alleged gross profits obtained by Beijing Pop Mart
for the year ended 31 December 2019 from operating the claimed stores

in the exclusive areas.

No provision in relation to this claim has been recognised in the
consolidated financial statements, as the PRC legal adviser of the
Company advised that the claim brought by Golden Eagle International
is groundless, the likelihood that the claim will be decided in favour of
Golden Eagle International is very low, the risk exposure of the Group
from the claim is minimal and the claim will not have a material adverse
impact on the Group's operations and financial performance. The Group
plans to vehemently defend itself in the court with the assistance of the

PRC Legal adviser of the Company.

POP MARTJ POP MART INTERNATIONAL GROUP LIMITED j&ai5 5Bl = mA R A 5
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38 BALANCE SHEET AND OTHER RESERVE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

REMBHRRME

BBANFNEERERRE M

MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY wEH
Balance sheet of the Company KAREEAER
As at As at
31 December 2020 | 31 December 2019
72020F12H31H | R20195F12A31H
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000
AR¥T AR¥T T
Assets BE
Non-current assets ERBEE
Investment accounted for using FREREARNRE
the equity method 27,173 -
Investrments in subsidiaries RIE AR MIEE 6,904,266 7,381,806
Total non-current assets WERBEE 6,931,439 7,381,806
Current assets REEE
Other receivables H b U kT8 4,219 4,568
Cash and cash equivalents Re MRSZEY 4,965,721 12,302
Total current assets BREEE 4,969,940 16,870
Total assets BHERE 11,901,379 7,398,676
Equity fER
Share capital & A 923 82
Shares held for share award scheme FLAR (7 BB RT B A AR (D (16) -
Other reserves (a) HAtb & a) 11,922,641 7,381,724
(Accumulated deficit)/retained earnings (Z:tE4t),/ RE EF (29,251) 2
Total equity R 11,894,297 7,381,808
Liabilities =N
Current liabilities RBEE
Other payables E b e3R8 7,082 16,868
Total current liabilities BWREBEE 7,082 16,868
Total liabilities wmaE 7,082 16,868
Total equity and liabilities HEZREE 11,901,379 7,398,676

The balance sheet of the Company was approved by the Board of
Directors on 26 March 2021 and was signed on its behalf:

Mr. Wang Ning F 25 4

ARREERABERCEEEEN2021F3A
260 AHLEL M T EFERREFTEHRE -

Mr. Si De BB 54
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38 BALANCE SHEET AND OTHER RESERVE

BBANFNEERERRE M

MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY (continued) w28 @)
Note (a) Other reserve movement of the Company MIEE (a) 2 B Y B fh {52 8
Share Translation
premium reserves Total
R AR E EREE et
RMB’ 000 RMB’ 000 RMB’000
ARBT R AR¥T R AR¥T R
As at 1 January 2020 R2020F1 818 7,500,381 (118,657) 7,381,724
Currency translation difference B E =R - (515,355) (515,355)
Re-designation of ordinary shares to EIEE SRR A A i) fE ]

convertible redeemable preferred B RR (MF3E24(0))

shares (Note 24(c)) (499,658) - (499,658)
Issuance of ordinary shares to the then  [A1 & FF AR R 257 T L @A

shareholders (Note 24(b)) (Fi5E24(0)) 393,801 - 393,801
Conversion of convertible redeemable 15 ] SR A (B B S AR e A

preferred shares into ordinary shares LiAR (H3E24(0))

(Note 24(c)) 626,922 - 626,922
Capitalisation issue (Note 24(e)) B AR E1T (H5E24(e)) (719) - (719)
Issuance of new ordinary shares BATHTE AR (FIFE24(0)

(Note 24(f)) 4,409,110 - 4,409,110
Issuance of ordinary shares upon FRRARCAR T TP 1R BT

exercise of over-allotment option L@k (MsE24()

(Note 24(f)) 661,269 - 661,269
Share issuance costs (Note 24(f)) AR BEATRR AR (B EE24(D) (149,794) = (149,794)
Dividends declared BIRAR (384,659) - (384,659)
Balance at 31 December 2020 2020512 A31 BV &EER 12,556,653 (634,012) 11,922,641
At 9 May 2019 (date of incorporation) 201958908 (MK BHA) - - -
Currency translation difference EBHRE =5 - (118,657) (118,657)
Capital injection from the shareholders of ZANA BIIRE FE (HIFE24(a))

the Company (Note 24(a)) 173,040 - 173,040
Deemed distribution to the then BRIEDHTERKRRUEE

shareholders for purchasing of TR (MIEE26(0)

the Listing Business (Note 26(ii)) 7,327,341 - 7,327,341
Balance at 31 December 2019 2019512 31 A4S ER 7,500,381 (118,657) 7,381,724

POP MART
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I EERARER
(@) EEM%

Contributions

39 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS

(a) Directors’ remuneration

relating
to social
insurance,
housing Share-
fund and based
Director’s retirement compensation
fee Salaries Bonus scheme expenses Total
AR
FENEE UG
KBRS RERK
£ Yok e B4 RELR B H
RMB’ 000 RMB' 000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’ 000
ARETR  AR¥ETR ARETR ARETR AR%®TR AR¥T:n
Directors' remuneration during ~ BZ20205 12 A31B1LFE
the year ended 31 December MEEMSMT :
2020 is as follows:
Directors Bz
Mr. Wang Ning (i) TELE() - 887 111 124 = 1,122
Mr. Si De (i) AL ) - 884 180 124 - 1,188
Ms. Liu Ran () Flszi) - 632 90 119 - 841
Ms. Yang Tao (i) B - 614 83 119 = 816
Mr. Tu Zheng () BELEN) - - - - - -
Mr. He Yu () RSN - - - - - -
Mr. Wu Liansheng (i) SRE A S (i) 9 = = = = 9
Mr. Zhang Jianjun (iii) SREEE 75 A (i) 9 - - - = 9
Mr. Yan Jinliang (iii) PSR S (i) 9 - - - - 9
Directors' remuneration during ~ B(Z2019F 12 A31BIEFE
the year ended 31 December ~ FJEHMEMT :
2019 s as follows:
Directors Bz
Mr. Wang Ning (i) TEEE() - 838 144 159 - 1,141
Mr. Si De (il AL ) - 764 149 144 292 1,349
Ms. Liu Ran (i) Ly ea() - 586 104 136 89 915
Ms. Yang Tao (i) BEzLi - 595 104 142 - 841
Mr. Tu Zheng (i) BHLE - - - - -
Mr. He Yu () fARELN - - - - -
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39 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS

(a)

POP MART

(continued)
Directors’ remuneration (continued)

(i)  Mr. Wang Ning, Ms. Yang Tao, Ms. Liu Ran, Mr. Tu Zheng and Mr. He
Yu were appointed as directors of the Company in May 2019.

(i) Mr. Si De was appointed as director of the Company in June 2019.

(i) Mr. Wu Liansheng, Mr. Zhang Jianjun and Mr. Yan Jinliang was
appointed as director of the Company in December 2020.

No director of the waived any emoluments and no emoluments were
paid by the Group to any of the directors of the as an inducement to
join or upon joining the Group or as a compensation for loss of office as
director.

Directors’ retirement benefits

No retirement benefits were paid to or receivable by any directors in
respect of their other services in connection with the management of
the affairs of the or its subsidiaries undertaken.

Directors’ termination benefits

No payment was made to directors as compensation for the early
termination of the appointment during the year.

Consideration provided to third parties for making
available directors’ services.

No payment was made to the former employer of directors for making
available the services of them as a director of the Company.

Information about loans, quasi-loans and other dealings
in favour of directors, controlled bodies corporate by and
connected entities with such directors

There are no loans, quasi-loans and other dealings in favour of directors,
controlled bodies corporate by and connected entities with such
directors during the Track Record Period.

Directors’ material interests in transactions, arrangements
or contracts.

No significant transactions, arrangements and contracts in relation to the
Group's business to which the Group was a party and in which a director
of the Group had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

POP MART INTERNATIONAL GROUP LIMITED 2554 EIF e BA R A R
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